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Meeting of Stockholders are incorporated by refeeeinto Part 11l hereof.
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SPECIAL NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, or Annual Repodntains “forward-looking statements” that involugbstantial risks and uncertainties. In some cgsescan identify
forward-looking statements by the following wortistay,” “will,” “could,” “would,” “should,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estinate,” “predict,”
“project,” “potential,” “continue,” “ongoing” or th negative of these terms or other comparable telogy, although not all forward-looking statemecisitain these words.
These statements relate to future events or ourdidinancial performance or condition and invakw®wn and unknown risks, uncertainties and othetiofa that could cause
our actual results, levels of activity, performancechievement to differ materially from those eegsed or implied by these forward-looking stateimerhese forward-
looking statements include, but are not limitedstatements about:

"o " w

o our expectations regarding the sales and markefiogr products, including our enoxaparin product;

« our expectations regarding the integrity of ourgyghain for our products, including the risks@sated with our single source suppliers;

« our beliefs about and objectives for future opersdij

« the timing and likelihood of FDA approvals and riegary actions on our product candidates, manufamactivities and product marketing activities;

« our ability to advance product candidates in oatfpkms into successful and completed clinicaldraand our subsequent ability to successfully corsiakze our
product candidate:

« our ability to compete in the development and mimigeof our products and product candidates;
« the potential for adverse application of environtagrhealth and safety and other laws and regulatam our operations;
« our expectations for market acceptance of our medyrts and proprietary drug delivery technologies;

« the potential for our marketed products to be withah due to patient adverse events or deathsvee fail to secure FDA approval for products subjedhe
Prescription Drug Wre-Up program:

o our expectations in obtaining insurance coveragesalequate reimbursement for our products frond4party payers;

« the amount of price concessions or exclusion opbers adversely affecting our business;

« our ability to establish and maintain intellectpabperty on our products and our ability to sucfidssdefend these in cases of alleged infringement
« the implementations of our business strategieslymocandidates and technology;

« the potential for exposure to product liability iohs;

« future acquisitions or investments;

« our ability to expand internationally;

« economic and industry trends and trend analysis;

« our ability to remain in compliance with laws aredjulations that currently apply or become applieablour business both in the United States ardriationally;
and

« our financial performance expectations, including expectations regarding our revenue, cost ofmegegross profit or gross margin, operating expgniscluding
changes in research and development, sales aneétimgriand general and administrative expensespandbility to achieve and maintain future profitép.

You should read this Annual Report and the documtrat we reference elsewhere in this Annual Regmntpletely and with the understanding that ounaatesults may
differ materially from what we expect as expresseinplied by our forward-looking statements. Ighit of the significant risks and uncertainties tuiat our forward-looking
statements are subject, you should not place urediaece on or regard these statements as a repatisa or warranty by us or any other person wWeawill achieve our
objectives and plans in any specified timeframetall. We discuss many of these risks and uniogiga in greater detail in this Annual Report,tgadarly in Part I. Item 1A.
“Risk Factors.” These forward-looking statementzresent our estimates and assumptions only agafdte of this Annual Report regardless of the tifnéelivery of this
Annual Report. Except as required by law, we urakerno obligation to update or revise publicly &mward-looking statements, whether as a resuties§ information,
future events or otherwise after the date of tmadal Report.
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Item 1.Business

Overview

Amphastar Pharmaceuticals, together with its sudosés (collectively “Amphastar,” “the Company,” &/ “our,” and “us”), is a specialty pharmaceuticaimpany that
focuses primarily on developing, manufacturing, keting and selling technically-challenging geneni proprietary injectable and inhalation produstiditionally, in 2014,
we commenced sales of insulin active pharmaceudtigatdient, or insulin API, products. We currentianufacture and sell 17 products and are devejapiportfolio of 13
generic and eight proprietary injectable and intiataproduct candidates. For the years ended Deeefith 2014, 2013, and 2012, we recorded net reseai$210.5 million,
$229.7 million, and $204.3 million, respectivelyeWecorded a net loss of $10.7 million for the yeaed December 31, 2014 and recorded net inco$&10® million and
$18.1 million for the years ended December 31, 28182012, respectively.

Our largest product by net revenues is currentfxaparin sodium injection, the generic equivaldranofi S.A.’s Loveno® . Enoxaparin is a difficult to manufacture
injectable form of low molecular weight heparinttiaused as an anticoagulant and is indicatedhfdtiple indications including the prevention anelatment of deep vein
thrombosis. We commenced sales of our enoxapaouhugt in January 2012, and for the years endedrbleee31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, we recognized nehrees from the
sale of our enoxaparin product of $107.5 millioh4$.9 million, and $127.7 million, respectively. Welieve that our enoxaparin product demonstratesapabilities in
characterizing complex molecules (which is a pre¢kat involves a determination of physiochemicapgrties, biological activity, immunochemical pesfies and purity),
developing therapeutically equivalent generic versiof drugs with large, complex molecules and ingetgulatory requirements.

In addition to our currently marketed products,vewe a pipeline of 21 generic and proprietary pcodandidates in various stages of developmentiwfaiget a variety of
indications. With respect to these product canéislave have filed three abbreviated new drug asjdias, or ANDAS, one new drug application, or NQ¥d one NDA
supplement with the U.S. Food and Drug Administratior FDA.

Our product candidate, Primateéh#list HFA, an over-the-counter epinephrine inhalatwoduct, is intended to be used for the tempamigf of mild asthma symptoms. In
2013, we filed an NDA for PrimatefféMist HFA. In May 2014, we received a complete resmletter, or CRL, from the FDA, which requiredigidnal non-clinical
information, label revisions and follow-up stud{&bel comprehension, behavioral and actual usaysess consumembility to use the device correctly to support amat of
the product in the over-the-counter setting. Addisilly, the CRL noted current Good Manufacturingdices, or cGMP, deficiencies in a recent inspeaatif our API
supplier's manufacturing facility, which producgsrephrine, and indicated that our NDA could noapgeroved until these issues were resolved. Subsétpi the receipt of
the CRL, the supplier notified us that the cGMPdefcies were satisfactorily resolved and accalyinwe believe this condition for approval hastbeatisfied. We met with
the FDA in October 2014 to discuss preliminary detults and to clarify the FDA requirements fatttier studies. We are in the process of gener#tiegemaining data
required by the CRL and plan to submit an NDA anmeedt that we believe will address the FDA’s conseHpwever, there can be no guarantee that anydmesnt to our
NDA will result in timely approval of the producardidate or approval at a

Our Amphadas@ product candidate is a bovine-sourced hyaluronidgeetion. We received approval of our NDA for Ahgulasé® from the FDA in 2004, but we
discontinued the product in 2009 due to a lack Bf supply. We filed an NDA supplement in Decemb@t2to qualify our own manufactured API. There bamo assurance
that we will receive approval for this or any ofrather product candidates.
Our multiple technological capabilities enable tleeelopment of technically-challenging productse3écapabilities include characterizing complexemales, analyzing
peptides and proteins, conducting immunogenicitdisss, engineering particles and improving drugveey through sustained-release technology. Thesenblogical
capabilities have enabled us to produce bioequivalersions of complex drugs and support the d@mént and manufacture of a broad range of dosageufations,
including solutions, emulsions, suspensions anghilized products, as well as products administetadnetered dose inhalers, or MDIs, and dry povidleslers, or DPIs.
Our primary strategic focus is to develop and comuméze products with high technical barriers tarket entry. We are specifically focused on prositict:

= leverage our research and development capabil

= require raw materials or an API for which we bedieve have a competitive advantage in sourcinghggiting or manufacturing; and/

= improve upon an existing dr's formulation with respect to drug delivery, safatd/or efficacy
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Not all of our products will include all of thesbaracteristics. Moreover, we will opportunisticatlgvelop and commercialize product candidates Mikker technical barrier
to market entry if, for example, our existing sypphain and manufacturing infrastructure allowaiptirsue a specific product candidate in a conipetitnd cost-effective

manner.

To complement our internal growth and expertisehaxee made several strategic acquisitions of comepaproducts and technologies. We believe trestdtacquisitions
collectively have strengthened our core injectaid inhalation product technology infrastructurepbgviding additional manufacturing, marketing aadearch and
development capabilities including the ability tamufacture raw materials, APIs and other comporfentsur products.

Our Markets

We primarily target products with high technicatiiers to market entry, with a particular focustba injectable and inhalation markets. We alsgetthe manufacture and
sale of certain APIs.

Injectable market. Based on an IMS Health National Sales PerspectaoR, the U.S. generic injectable drug marketdh2was approximately $8.0 billion, of
which our generic development portfolio is targgtover $5.0 billion. The injectable market requingghly technical manufacturing capabilities andnpdiance
with strict cGMP requirements, which create higlrieas to market entry. Due to these high barrienmarket entry, there are a limited number of canigs witr
the technology and experience needed to manufaictieable products. There have also been a nuoftiprality issues over the past several yearstthae
disrupted the ability of certain injectable manuifaers to produce sufficient product quantity toet@arket demand. As such, the supply of injectabées been
constrained, even as demand for injectable prodwadontinued to increas

Inhalation market. Based on an IMS Health National Sales PerspectapoR, the U.S. inhalation drug market in 2014 ajpgroximately $21.9 billion, of whic
our generic development portfolio is targeting 0$8r0 billion. Inhalation drug therapy is used esigely to treat respiratory conditions such akmst and
chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. The MDhismost widely used device to deliver inhalatiogréipies. It uses pressurized gas, historically
chlorofluorocarbons, or CFCs, and more recentlyrbffdoroalkanes, or HFAs, to release its dose wherdevice is activated by the patient. The DPlctvidoes
not rely on a propellant, is also widely used. Ashe case of injectables, there are significactinizcal barriers to manufacturing inhalation pradgu@he
evolution of inhalation delivery technologies frarabulizers and CFCs to HFAs and DPIs has requirtufacturers of inhalation products to re-formutatsr
products, which in many cases may require techeiegineering capabilities, additional regulatorprwals and modified delivery devices. Additionallye
development of generic HFA and DPI products witjuige bioequivalence studies for FDA appro'

Our Strengths

We have built our company by integrating the follogvcapabilities and strengths that we believe knab to compete effectively in the pharmaceuiicdlistry:

Robust portfolio of products and product candidatdncluding our enoxaparin product, we have 17 conuméproducts and 21 product candidates at differen
stages of development. We also continue to devaloproduct candidates, which represent our Ic-term growth opportunitie:

Advanced technical capabilities and multiple delvechnologies. We have developed several advanced technical dajestthat we incorporate into the
development of our products and product candid&iekjding characterization of complex moleculesptide and protein analysis, immunogenicity studies
particle engineering and sustained-release techyolo addition, we apply these capabilities acimssinjectable and inhalation delivery technolsgi@ur
injectable delivery technologies enable us to dgvelnd manufacture generic and proprietary injéesain normal solution, lyophilized, suspensiotlyjand
emulsion forms, as well as in pre-filled syring@str inhalation technologies cover a variety of dely methods, including DPIs and HFA formulatiofisvtDls.
These technical capabilities form the foundatiandior strategy to develop products with high basrte market entry targeting a wide range of intidzes.

Vertically integrated infrastructure.We are a vertically integrated company with the destrated ability to advance a product candidaten fthe research stage
through commercialization. Our capabilities inclsii®ng research and development expertise, sagiet pharmaceutical engineering capabilities,
comprehensive manufacturing capabilities, includimgability to synthesize and manufacture our @, a strict quality assurance system, extensgellatory
and clinical experience and established marketimtydistribution relationships. We believe our wvaatiintegration allows us to achieve better opagati
efficiencies, accelerated product development atetral control over product qualit
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Experienced management team with deep scientifierése. Our management team has a successful track recprdduct development, project management,
quality assurance and sales and marketing, asawelstablished relationships with our key custonpendners and suppliers. Our research and developm
leadership has deep expertise in areas such asabeautical formulation, process developmentjivo studies, analytical chemistry, physical chemistiryg
delivery and clinical research. We believe thatsuientific and technical expertise, coupled witih management team’s experience and industry eeksttips,

will enable us to successfully expand our positigii respect to our current products and estalfaliseaningful market position for our product caatkd.

Our Strategy

Our goal is to be an industry leader in the devalept, manufacturing and marketing of technicallgitgnging injectable and inhalation pharmaceutizabucts. To achieve
this goal, we are pursuing the following key stgits:

Diversify our revenues by commercializing our pradeandidates. Assuming we are successful in developing and oioigiregulatory approvals, we plan to
commercialize our product candidates and therebgrslify our sources of revenues. We have 21 prochmdidates in various stages of development, dietul:
generic product candidates and eight proprietandyet candidates. We also expect to expand ounilteales and marketing capabilities and, in soases,
enter into strategic alliances with other pharmécalicompanies, to drive market penetration far pwduct candidate

Focus on hig-margin generic product opportunitiesWe believe that we have significant opportunitiesdrowth driven by our technical expertise in the
development of generic product candidates with téghnical barriers to market entry. We believe théhese product candidates are commercializesl trre
likely to face less competition than less techyeahallenging generic products, which may enalsiécauearn higher margins for a longer period oktiwe
believe that generic competition for these prodigtiely to be limited because of challengesiiaduct development, manufacturing or sourcing of naaterials
or APIs.

Develop proprietary products We currently have eight proprietary product canttidat various stages of development targetingadorange of indications. \
believe that proprietary products tend to face éesapetition than generic products due to markelusiity, intellectual property protection and ettbarriers to
entry. For these reasons, we believe that our f@tapy products will provide us with the opportynior higher margins and lo-term revenue growtt

Leverage our vertical-integrated infrastructure to drive operationalieféncies. We believe our vertically-integrated infrastructprevides significant benefits
including better operating efficiencies, acceladgieoduct development and internal control ovedpat quality. Our ability to manufacture our own lA ows

us to develop products that other companies majoeas on due to the uncertainty of API supplyatttition, our vertically-integrated infrastructuiegluding
our research and development capabilities, allesv® wonduct technically-challenging studies ingmuNe believe this vertically integrated-infrastrwe has
led, and will continue to lead, to a competitivetfio of products and product candidat

Target and integrate acquisitions of pharmaceutmaipanies, products and technologiéd/e have a demonstrated ability to identify, acqaind integrate
pharmaceutical companies, products and technolégiesmplement our internal product developmentbdjties. We have acquired International Medicatio
Systems, Limited, or IMS, Armstrong Pharmaceuticiis., or Armstrong, Nanjing Puyan Pharmaceufiadhnology Co., Ltd. (which we renamed Amphastar
Nanjing Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.), or ANP, and &k's AP| Manufacturing Business in Eragny-sur-Epteriee, in connection with which, we established our
French subsidiary, Amphastar France Pharmaceuti8alsS., or AFP. Products we have acquired inclDderosyn® and Epinephrine Mist, and trade names

as Primaten@ Mist. We believe that our scientific and managegigbertise and our integration experience haveorgat the quality of the product lines and
companies that we have acquired, which has hadwarikelieve will continue to have, a positive effen our results of operations. For example, ifrappl is
received from the FDA, we plan to have our acquaeldsidiary ANP provide us with access to certaim materials for the manufacture of the API for our
enoxaparin product and eventually to manufactureféiPour other products and product candida

Our Technical Capabilities

We develop, manufacture, market and sell genedopaoprietary products targeting injectable andalation markets. We also manufacture and sellimgPI.
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Injectable. Our injectable product technologies enable us t@ld@ and manufacture generic and proprietary fafdes in liquid, lyophilized, suspension and

emulsion forms, as well as pre-filled syringes. Wéwe multiple injectable facilities that includeeptc filling lines dedicated to the sterile maraitae and fill of

injectable products. Additionally, we maintain cdiapce with cGMP regulations which has enabledoushtain regulatory approvals and support commercia
supply.

Inhalation. We are focused on developing a range of generigeaoytietary inhalation products utilizing a vayietf delivery technologies. We have expertise in
formulating HFA-based MDIs as well as packagingiotialation drugs in DPIs, blister packs and ofbems for loading in a variety of inhalation dewicés

with our injectable products, we maintain compliamdth cGMP regulations, which we believe will efeabs to obtain regulatory approvals and support
commercial supply

We have advanced capabilities that enable us tesfon developing technically-challenging products.

Characterization of complex molecule€haracterization of complex molecules includestardgnation of physiochemical properties, biolog@etivity,
immunochemical properties and purity. Such chareetgon is important in the development of a gémproduct that is the same as a reference druduptp
which in turn allows the generic drug developedéononstrate such “sameness” to the FDA. Complexouté drugs typically have large molecules compased
a mixture of molecules that differ very slightlyfn one another. These slight variances make conmpédecules difficult to characterize. We have depet
analytical tools that have enabled us to charamerdmplex molecules in our products and produttliciates. We believe we have the technology toldpwe
variety of additional analytical tools that will @ole us to characterize other complex moleculesyding peptide and prote-based product:

Immunogenicity. The ability of an antigen to elicit immune respahigecalled immunogenicity. Unwanted immunogeniaithich is strongly linked with protein
drug products, occurs when a patient mounts angiredeimmune response against a drug therapy.résudt, the FDA has signaled that they may require
immunogenicity studies as part of the new pathveaybfosimilars and biogenerics, and in the pasfRb@A has required these studies in connection thigh
approval of products with complex molecules. Wengdiexpertise in immunogenicity by performing immgenicity studies in connection with the FDA
approval process for our enoxaparin product. Weebelthat our experience in conducting these difficnmunogenicity studies will be of primary impance in
our future efforts to develop complex moleculessbhilar and biogeneric product candida

Peptide and protein product development and pradact The development of peptide and protein drug pradutiizes characterization technology and
immunogenicity studies as well as recombinant DN,DNA, APl manufacturing technology. We have aigece in the use of rDNA manufacturing technol
which includes the genetic engineering of hostscédrmentation to promote cell culture growth &udation and purification of the desired proteiorfi the cell
culture. Through each step, testing is requireehigure that only the desired protein is includetthafinished product. We believe that this tecbgglwill allow
us to develop protein and peptide drug prodt

Particle engineering. Particle engineering is important in the field efponary drug delivery as there is a direct refahip between the properties of a particle
and its absorption by the lungs. We believe oueetige and technology applicable to particle engjiimg and physical chemistry allows us to engirkersize,
shape, surface smoothness and distribution ofgiestto develop inhalation products that are masgledispersed through targeted areas. We beffese
expertise will allow us to formulate difficult tdgberse inhalation produci

Sustained-releaseWe have developed technology aimed at improving dielivery through sustained-release injectablelpcts. The purpose of our sustained-
release technology is to create products that redess dosing frequency and that we believe aainéh the fluctuations of drug concentrations ipadient’s
blood stream that otherwise require more frequesirg). We plan to use our sustai-release technology to develop both generic andriatapy products
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Business Segmer

Our performance will be assessed and resourcedeavillocated based on the following two reportaleigments: (1) finished pharmaceutical products(2hective
pharmaceutical ingredients, or API products. Tihisfied pharmaceutical products segment currendyufactures, markets and distributes enoxaparirtr@yn®, naloxone
lidocaine jelly, as well as, various other critieald non-critical care drugs. The API segmentanily manufactures and distributes recombinant luimsulin and porcine
insulin. Information reported herein is consisteith how it is reviewed and evaluated by our clipérating decision maker. Factors used to ideotifysegments include
markets, customers and products.

For more information regarding our segments, seet'lP— Item 8. Financial Statements and SuppleargrData — Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateéme Segment
Information."
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Finished Pharmaceutical Product Segment

Our Marketed Products
We currently manufacture and sell 15 products infmished pharmaceutical product segment . Thiefiohg is a description of products in our existipgrtfolio.

Enoxaparin
Enoxaparin is a difficult to manufacture injectafilem of low molecular weight heparin that is usedan anticoagulant which is indicated for multipl@ications, including
the prevention and treatment of deep vein throngb&sioxaparin is difficult to produce in part besathe API is not easily obtained or manufactuvéd.manufacture the Al
for our enoxaparin product and perform all subsatoenufacturing of the finished product in-houa& believe that it will be difficult for other corapies to obtain or
manufacture the API and prove “sameness.” In J3n2@t2, we commenced sales of our enoxaparin ptoBocthe years ended December 31, 2014, 20132@h2), we
recorded net revenues from enoxaparin of $107.5omjil$145.9 million, and $127.7 million, respeety.

Other Marketed Products
We have 14 other products that we currently maRéier marketed products include Cortro8ycosyntropin for injection), a lyophilized powdésat is indicated for use as a
diagnostic agent in the screening of patients adtfenocortical insufficiency, lidocaine jelly, el anesthetic product used primarily for urologmacedures and our
portfolio of emergency syringe products, which u# critical care drugs, such as atropine, cal@hharide, dextrose, epinephrine, lidocaine, nalexand sodium
bicarbonate, which are provided in pre-filled sges and are designed for emergency use in hospitaigs. We also manufacture and sell phytonadiggetion for newborn
use, lidocaine topical solution for use as a leresthetic, morphine, epinephrine in vial form arldrazepam injection. For the years ended DeceBthe2014, 2013, and
2012, we recorded net revenues from these othetateat products of $103.0 million, $83.8 millionda$i76.6 million, respectively.

Our Product Candidates
We seek to develop product candidates with highrtieal barriers to market entry that leverage eahnical capabilities and competitive advantages.af¢ focused on both
generics and proprietary product candidates inrfjeetable and inhalable markets. The product @atds in our pipeline are in various stages of ldgweent, with a number
of these candidates still in early stages of dgwalkent. We currently have 21 product candidatesiimpipeline, including 13 generic product candidagad eight proprietary
product candidates.
The development, regulatory approval for and coneiaérzation of our product candidates are subjectumerous risks. See “Risk Factors” for additian&drmation.

Generic Product Candidates
We generally employ a strategy of developing gengmoduct candidates that possess a combinatitactafrs that present technical barriers, includiificult formulations,
complex characterizations, difficult manufacturmegjuirements and/or limited availability of raw mdals that we believe will make these product adetes less susceptible
to competition and pricing pressure. We currentlyen13 generic product candidates at various dpredat stages that leverage our various technigedhbties, including:

= injectable technologies, which include various ity methods and sizes of -filled syringes, vials in solution, jelly, suspemsiand lyophilized forms

= inhalation technologies, which include MDls, namsatl DPIs; ani

= sophisticated analytical technologies, whichudel characterization and immunogenicity studies@mnplex molecules, particle engineering, sustaietehse
technology and peptide, protein and DNA analy
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The following table summarizes our current portiadf 13 generic product candidates in development.

Applied Technical Capability

Delivery Number of Therapeutic Particle Peptide and
Technology Candidates Area Characterizatior Immunogenicity Engineering Sustaine-Releas¢ Protein Technolog
Injectable 5 Endocrinology v v v v
Injectable 1 Hematology v
n Reproductive v v
Injectable 1 System
Inhalation 6 Respiratory 4 4

Our generic product candidates are at various stafydevelopment, ranging from early formulationrkvto bioequivalence studies or the filing of an BA. Of these product
candidates, five are in early-stage developmeuwr poi bioequivalence studies.

Proprietary Product Candidates

Our integrated technical skills and expertise piewva strong basis for the development of propsiedang candidates. These skills include new chelneictity assessment,
synthesis technology, formulation development, ati@rization analysis and immunogenicity studiesprg others.

With respect to our proprietary pipeline strategg,currently have eight proprietary drug candidategarious development stages that leverage aiousatechnical
capabilities. The following table summarizes owypretary product candidates for which NDAs haverbfiled with the FDA.

Applied Technical Capability

Delivery Therapeutic Particle Peptide and
Technology Candidates Indication Characterizatior Immunogenicity Engineering Sustaine-Releas¢ Protein Technolog

Inhalation analge':nf M Asthma v

Injectable Amphadase® Anesthetic Adjuvar v v

Primatenée® Mist HFA

Primatené® Mist HFA, an over-the-counter epinephrine inhalagiwoduct candidate, is intended to be used fotetmporary relief of mild symptoms of intermitteagthma.
We developed PrimateffaMist HFA to replace the over-the-counter CFC foratigin of our Primaten® Mist product which was withdrawn for environmenthsons under
the Montreal Protocol. We acquired the exclusigts to the trademark, domain name, website ancedticrmarketing, distribution and selling righttated to Primaten@
Mist, and the associated CFC inventory, from Wy@tmsumer Healthcare Division in 2008 for $33.1 imill At the time of the transaction the Environna¢frotection
Agency was reviewing a possible ban on all CFC fdated products. In our first full year of salestteé CFC formulation of PrimateffeMist, we generated cash flows from
sales of the product in excess of the purchase prite filed an investigational new drug applicationIND, for Primaten® Mist HFA for mild symptoms of intermittent
asthma in October 2009.

We filed an NDA for Primaten® Mist HFA in 2013. In February 2014, the FDA helgbent meeting of the Nonprescription Drugs Advis@pmmittee and its Pulmonary
Allergy Drugs Advisory Committee, which we referae the Committee, to discuss the NDA for Primafelkst HFA. The Committee voted 14 to 10 that theadatthe ND/A
supported efficacy, but voted 17 to 7 that safety hot been established for the intended over-tluerter use. The Committee also voted 18 to 6 treaptoduct did not have a
favorable risk-benefit profile for the intended otke-counter use, and individual Committee mempeosided recommendations for resolving their conseOn May 22,
2014, we received a CRL from the FDA, which reqdiiaelditional non-clinical information, label rewasis and follow-up studies (label comprehensionabimal and actual
use) to assess consumers’ ability to use the dewicectly to support approval of the product ia tver-the-counter setting. Additionally, in the [Cfr Primatene® Mist
HFA, the FDA noted cGMP deficiencies in a recespiection of our API supplier's manufacturing fagiliwhich produces epinephrine, and indicated dtNDA could not
be approved until these issues were resolved. §ubseto the receipt of the CRL, the supplier medifus that the cGMP deficiencies were satisfagtoesolved and
accordingly, we believe this condition for approliak been satisfied. We met with the FDA in Oct&84 to discuss preliminary data results andddfglthe FDA
requirements for further studies. We are in theess of generating the remaining data requireth®CRL and plan to submit an NDA amendment thabeleve will addres
the FDA’s concerns. However, there can be no gueesthat any amendment to our NDA will result meily approval of the product candidate or appravaill.




Table of Contents
Amphadas® (Hyaluronidase Injection)

Amphadas®is a bovine-sourced hyaluronidase injection. Ofbenulations of hyaluronidase injection includerdiée and Hylenex which are marketed by Bausch &h.om
and Halozyme, respectively. We received our NDArapal for Amphadas@in 2004, but we discontinued the product in 2008 ttua lack of API supply. We filed an IND in
February 2004 for Amphada8as an adjuvant in subcutaneous fluid administradtorachieving hydration, to increase absorptiod dispersion of other injected drugs, an
subcutaneous urography for improving absorptioradfopaque agents. We reactivated this IND in ApBiL2 to allow studies of the new API, which is®supplied by us.
We filed an NDA supplement in December 2013 to ifipalich API. In April 2014, our China facility veasubject to an inspection by the FDA. The inspectesulted in
multiple observations on Form 483, an FDA form drick deficiencies are noted after an FDA inspectitie believe we have addressed the FDA’s conceroatiinitial
response in May 2014 and with data provided in Bet®014. We are currently awaiting approval fréve EDA.

Other Proprietary Product Candidates

In addition to Primaten®Mist HFA and Amphadas®, we have six other proprietary product candidatetevelopment, which include two new chemical tyrdirug
candidates. These proprietary product candidatgsttindications including diabetes, asthma, aaticgants, osteoporosis and Alzheimer’s diseasesél heoduct candidates
incorporate a wide variety of our technical captibsg, such as particle engineering, sustainedaseléechnology and peptide and protein analysisitilice our inhalation and
injectable delivery technologies.

APl Segment

We began to manufacture and sell two products reawant human insulin, or RHI, APl and porcine insWPIl as a result of our acquisition of Merck Sha& Dohme’s, or
Merck’s, API manufacturing business in Eragny-spteE France, or the Merck API Transaction, in Agfll4. In July 2014, we entered into a supply ages# with
MannKind Corporation, or MannKind to supply thentwiRHI for use in their product Afrez£a and in January 2015 we entered to a supply optipaement to supply
additional quantities, as needed.

Acquisition of Merc’'s APl Manufacturing Business
On April 30, 2014, we completed our acquisitiortie Merck AP| Transaction, which manufactures padnsulin APl and recombinant human insulin AFHeTpurchase

price of the transaction totaled €24.8 million$84.4 million on April 30, 2014, subject to certaimstomary post-closing adjustments and currenchange fluctuations. The
terms of the purchase include multiple payments &uer years as follows:

u.S.
Euros Dollars
(in thousands)
At Closing, April 2014 € 1325: $ 18,35.
December 201 4,89¢ 5,98¢
December 201 3,18¢ 3,87¢
December 201 3,18¢€ 3,87:
December 2017 50C 607

€ 25020 $ 32,69

In order to facilitate the acquisition, we estalidid a subsidiary in France, AFP. We will continlue ¢urrent site manufacturing activities, whichsishof the manufacturing
porcine insulin APl and recombinant human insulidl AAs part of the transaction, we have entereavarious additional agreements, including varisuigply agreements, as
well as the assignment and licensing of patenteuwthiich Merck was operating at this facility. ladition, certain existing customer agreements len assigned to AFP.

Supply Agreement with MannKind Corporation

On July 31, 2014, we entered into a supply agreémith MannKind, pursuant to which we will manufar for and supply to MannKind certain quantiti€sexombinant
human insulin, or RHI, for use in MannKind’s prodédrezza® . Under the terms of the supply agreement, weheiltesponsible for manufacturing the RHI in accnoda
with MannKind'’s specifications and agreed-upon gyatandards. MannKind has agreed to purchaseaminimum quantities of RHI under the supply @gnent of an
aggregate amount of approximately €120.1 milliangmproximately $146.0 million, in calendar yea@4 2 through 2019. MannKind paid a non-refundabderneation fee to
us in the amount of €11.0 million, or approximat#fi4.0 million. Under the agreement, the non-reéloie reservation fee is considered as partial payifioe the purchase
commitment quantity for 2015. We classified the amtaas deferred revenue.
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Unless earlier terminated, the term of the supghgement expires on December 31, 2019 and cambweel for additional, successive two-year termswgmonths’
written notice given prior to the end of the initierm or any additional two-year term. MannKimitlave each have customary termination rights, gholyitermination for
material breach that is not cured within a spedifite frame or in the event of liquidation, bankiayp or insolvency of the other party. In additiddannKind may terminate
the supply agreement upon two years’ prior writtetice to us without cause or upon 30 days pridttew notice to us if a controlling regulatory aotiy withdraws approval
for Afrezza®; provided, however, in the event of a terminagpaomsuant to either of these scenarios, the pravisid the supply agreement require MannKind tothayfull
amount of all unpaid purchase commitments due theemitial term within 60 calendar days of theeetive date of such termination.

In January 2015, we entered into a supply optiaeement with MannKind, pursuant to which MannKinitl Wave the option to purchase RHI, for use in MEmd’s product
Afrezza®, in addition to the amounts specified in the RO¢ 4 supply agreement. Under the agreement, Marhlas the option to purchase additional RHI inndée years
2016 through 2019. In the event MannKind electsto@xercise its minimum annual purchase optiorafty year, MannKind shall pay us a capacity cdatieh fee.

Research and Development

We have approximately 217 employees dedicatedstareh and development with expertise in areas asipharmaceutical formulation, process developntexitity studies
analytical, synthetic and physical chemistry, ddejvery, device development, equipment and enginggclinical research statistical analysis, €ar focus on developing
products with high barriers to market entry reguigesignificant investment in research and devetpinincluding clinical development. In particuldeveloping proprietary
products that are reformulations of existing prefanily compounds often requires clinical trials &ingregulatory approval, and we have a team desticat designing and
managing clinical trials. We have successfully ctetga several clinical trials for some of our protdoandidates and are in the process of planningal trials for other
product candidates under development.

We have made, and will continue to make, substantiastments in research and development. Researtiievelopment costs for the years ended Decedibh@014, 2013
and 2012 were $28.4 million, $33.0 million, and $3million, respectively, which represent 14%, 14f6 15% of our net revenues for that period, respey.

Backlog

A significant portion of our customer shipmentsiy fiscal year relate to orders received and gupp that fiscal year, resulting in low productkiag relative to total
shipments. Backlog is not material and not a megninindicator in any given period of our ability &chieve any particular level of overall revenuéimancial performance.

Manufacturing and Facilities

Our manufacturing facilities are located in Ran€hwamonga and South El Monte, California; Cantoassachusetts; Eragny-sur-Epte, France; and Nafiniga. We own
or lease a total of 60 buildings at six locatiomshie U.S., France and China, that comprise 1.4ibmsquare feet of manufacturing, research ane:ligment, distribution,
packaging, laboratory, office and warehouse space facilities are regularly inspected by the FD¥cbnnection with our product approvals, and wéelelthat all of our
facilities are being operated in material complemdth the FDA’'s cGMP regulations.

We are currently expanding our facility in Nanjiri¢hina and we expect that the investment in expandur facility in China will require a total of up approximately
$15.0 million. We currently have contractual comments with third parties obligating us to undertétkis investment.

We acquired Merck’s APl manufacturing business iaggy-sur-Epte, France in April 2014, which mantiaes porcine insulin APl and RHI API, and we exgeccontinue
the current site activities.

We believe that our current manufacturing capasigdequate for the near term. We have in thegggsoached capacity at one of our facilities largel a result of the FDA’

request that we reintroduce certain previouslyatisoued products to help cope with a nation-widertage of these products. We believe that thesaaily issues have been
ameliorated as a result of certain other manufacsure-entering the market and increasing the mtaztuof the products that were subject to the tslyar.
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Raw Material and Other Supplie

We depend on suppliers for raw materials, APIs@her components that are subject to stringent F&yirements. In some cases, we obtain raw magedamponents or
API used in certain of our products from singlerses. Currently we obtain the starting materiaparen USP, for our enoxaparin product, epinephfimeur Primaten® Mist
HFA product candidate and API for certain of ourestmarketed products from single sources. If weedrnce difficulties acquiring sufficient quarei of required materials
or products from our existing suppliers, or if auppliers are found to be non-compliant with theAFRDquality system regulation, or QSR, cGMPs orestapplicable laws or
regulations, we would be required to find altev@tsuppliers. Obtaining the required regulatoryrapals to use alternative suppliers may be a lgngttd uncertain process
during which we could lose sales. If our primarpgiiers become unable or unwilling to perform, veelld experience protracted delays or interruptiartee supply of
materials which would ultimately delay our manutaetof products for commercial sale, which couldenally and adversely affect our development paogs, commercial
activities, operating results and financial coratiti

If our suppliers encounter problems during manufiact), establishing additional or replacement sigpplfor these materials may take a substantiabgef time, as suppliers
must be approved by the FDA. Further, a signifigaottion of our raw materials may be available dniyn foreign sources, which are subject to thespeisks of doing
business abroad. For example, heparin USP is dinngt material for the production of the API inr@noxaparin product. We have established a sughain for heparin that
originates in China and have implemented validé¢etinology processes designed to screen and teshing starting material, which includes methodsently required by
the FDA. However, the FDA has required companigoirting heparin to test imported heparin using Bjpescreening methods to detect certain contantsiand it has
increased its scrutiny of Chinese facilities thetduce heparin for the U.S. market. For exampléugust 2008, the FDA inspected two facilities ihita belonging to
suppliers in our heparin supply chain and issuexhing letters, one of which needed to be resoled precondition to approving the ANDA for our eaparin product
candidate in September 2011. If the facility owbgdur ANP subsidiary is qualified by the FDA, wlampto have ANP provide us with starting materfalsthe manufacture
of API for enoxaparin. We also plan to have oursstilary eventually manufacture APIs for not onlyoraparin, but also our other products and prodactiiclates.

Sales and Marketing

Our products are primarily marketed and sold toftats, long-term care facilities, alternate catess clinics and doctors’ offices. Most of theaeifities are members of one
or more group purchasing organizations, which riagmotollective purchasing agreements on behatlieif members. These facilities purchase prodictaigh specialty
distributors and wholesalers. We have relationshils the major group purchasing organizationsim t).S. We also have relationships with major scdistributors,
wholesalers and retailers who distribute pharmacaiytroducts nationwide.

The following table provides information regardithg percentage of our net revenues that is defread each of our major customers and partners:

% of Net Revenues

Year Ended
December 31
2014 2013 2012
Actavis, Inc. 30% 35% 35%
AmerisourceBergen Corporatit 15% 15% 14%
Cardinal Health, Inc 14% 13% 13%
McKesson Corporatio 22% 26% 27%

Our marketing department is responsible for esthlilg and maintaining contracts and relationshijpls the group purchasing organizations, distribsitoetailers, wholesalers
and, occasionally, directly to hospitals or longiecare facilities. One or more of our proprietargduct candidates may require deployment of asdatee either directly or
through a strategic partner.

Under an agreement with Actavis we are paid a fo@st per unit of our enoxaparin product sold téa&is and also share in the gross profits from Wistasales of the produ
in the U.S. retail pharmacy market. We may enttr &imilar agreements with distributors or stratggartners in the future.

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, at®| 2@ generated 4%, 1% and 1% of our total revemspectively, from customers located outsidéneflinited States.

Other financial information about our segment aadggaphic areas is incorporated herein by referembiote 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financtaté&nents included
elsewhere in this report.
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Competition

The majority of our marketed products are genemadpcts. We face and will face significant competitfor our products and product candidates fromrptaceutical
companies that focus on the generic injectableigmalation markets such as Hospira, Inc., SageatrRaceduticals, Inc., Akorn, Inc., Sandoz Inc., NMylac. and Teva
Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd. Competition in teeeric pharmaceutical industry has increased atupess of branded products have entered the bssiyesreating generic
drug subsidiaries, purchasing generic drug comganielicensing their products to generic manufagiprior to patent expiration and/or as theieptt expire. Therefore, o
competitors also include the innovator companiesusfgeneric drug products. For example, enoxapsmiarrently marketed by Sanofi S.A., or Sanofider the brand name
Lovenox®. Sanofi also markets their authorized generic aparin product through their subsidiary, WinthrSandoz also markets a generic version of enoxapeeira
Pharmaceuticals Industries Ltd. has received apgpfoom the FDA of its ANDA for its generic enoxapaproduct, and Hospira has filed an ANDA with thBA for its
generic version of enoxaparin. The presence okthasrent and prospective competitive products hase an adverse effect on our market share, revamiligross profit
from our enoxaparin product.

Similarly, we will face significant competition faur proprietary product candidates. Our competit@ry depending upon product categories, and nvéhch product
category, upon dosage strengths and drug-deliyetesis. Based on total assets, annual revenuasamet capitalization, we are smaller than mangwfnational and
international competitors with respect to both generic and proprietary products and product categl Many of our competitors have been in busifegss longer period of
time, have a greater number of products on the etahd have greater financial and other resout@@swe do. It is also possible that developmentsurycompetitors will
make our generic or proprietary products and prodasdidates noncompetitive or obsolete.

For pharmaceutical companies, the most importamipatitive factors are scope of product line, apiiit timely develop new products and relationshijts group purchasing
organizations, retailers, wholesalers and custonSaies of generic pharmaceutical products teridllimy a pattern based on regulatory and competitactors. As patents for
brand-name products and related exclusivity peréogtre, the first generic pharmaceutical manufeetto receive regulatory approval for generic i@rs of products is
typically able to achieve significant market peattm and higher margins. As competing generic rfenturers receive regulatory approval on the sarodyzts, market size,
revenue and gross profit typically decline. Theelesf market share and price will be affected, whidll in turn affect the revenue and gross prafitibutable to a particular
generic pharmaceutical product. This impact is radiyrrelated to the number of competitors in thatduct's market and the timing of that product'gukatory approval. We
must develop and introduce new products in a timely cost-effective manner and identify producthwignificant barriers to market entry in ordegtow our business.

Government Regulation and Price Constraints
In the United State
General

Pharmaceutical companies and their prescriptiondbaad generic pharmaceutical products are sutgjepttensive pre- and post-market regulation byRDB& under the
Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FFDCA,Rbblic Health Service Act of 1944, or PHSA, angulations implementing those statutes, with regartthe testing,
manufacturing, safety, efficacy, labeling, storageord-keeping, advertising and promotion of spigdducts, and by comparable agencies and lawséigfo countries. For
many drugs (drugs falling within the definition‘@few drug”in the FFDCA), FDA approval is required before fiteduct can be marketed in the U.S. All applicagifor FDA
approval must contain, among other things, comprgilie and scientifically reliable information refeg to pharmaceutical formulation, stability, maactiring, processing,
packaging, labeling and quality control. These iaibns must also contain data and informatioateal to safety, effectiveness, bioavailability andfioequivalence.

In addition, many of our activities are subjecttte jurisdiction of other federal regulatory andogoement departments and agencies, such as thertbremt of Health and
Human Services, or HHS, Office of the Inspector &ah or OIG, the Federal Trade Commission (whisb &as the authority to regulate the advertisingposumer
healthcare products, including OTC drugs), the Dpent of Justice, the Drug Enforcement Administrator DEA, the Veterans Administration, the Cestior Medicare
and Medicaid Services and the Securities and Exggh@ommission, or SEC. Individual states, actimgubh their attorneys general, have become actiweedl, seeking to
regulate the marketing of prescription drugs ursiate consumer protection and false advertising.law

FDA Approval and Regulatory Considerations

Prescription generic and branded pharmaceuticalymts are subject to extensive regulation by thé EbBder the FFDCA and PHSA and regulations impletingrthose
statutes, with regard to the testing, manufactysadety, efficacy, labeling, storage, record-kegpadvertising and promotion of such products, regdilation by other state,
federal and foreign agencies under the laws tteat émforce. For many drugs (drugs falling withie tfefinition of “new drug” in the FFDCA), includintge drugs in our
current drug portfolio, FDA approval is requireddre marketing in the U.S. Applications for FDA drapproval must generally contain, among othemgthimformation
relating to pharmaceutical formulation, stabilityanufacturing, processing, packaging, labelinglityueontrol and either safety and effectivenesbioequivalence. There are
two drug approval processes under the FFDCA — aDAMNpproval process for generic drugs and an NDgrayel process for new drugs that cannot be appgrave
ANDAs. For drugs that are “biological products” hiit the meaning of the PHSA, there are two diffeegpproval processes — a biological license appdinaor BLA,
approval process for original biological produatsl @ biosimilar application approval process fasbmilar products that are approved based on #imiarity to biologicals
that were previously approved in BLAs.
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The ANDA Approval Process

Our generic drug product candidates cannot be Iyfuarketed unless we obtain FDA approval. ThediRuice Competition and Patent Term RestorationoAd984,
commonly known as “the Hatch-Waxman Act,” estal#i$tabbreviated FDA approval procedures for drugsadhe shown to be bioequivalent to drugs previoapproved by
the FDA through its NDA process, which are commaefigrred to as the “innovator” or “reference” dsug\pproval to market and distribute these bioeajeint drugs is
obtained by filing an ANDA with the FDA. An ANDA ia comprehensive submission that contains, amdrey things, data and information pertaining toAliRd, drug
product formulation, specifications, stability, &recal methods, manufacturing process validatiatad quality control procedures and bioequivaleRagher than
demonstrating safety and effectiveness, an ANDAieg@pt must demonstrate that its product is bioeajeint to an approved reference drug. In certaira8ons, an applicant
may submit an ANDA for a product with a strengttdosage form that differs from a reference drugeagon FDA approval of an ANDA Suitability PetitioThe FDA will
approve an ANDA Suitability Petition if it finds @ the product does not raise questions of safedyefficacy requiring new clinical data. ANDAs geally cannot be
submitted for products that are not bioequivalerthe referenced drug or that are labeled for ahesds not approved for the reference drug. Agpits seeking to market st
products can submit an NDA under Section 505(l)t2he FFDCA with supportive data from clinicalas.

Upon approval of an NDA or ANDA, the FDA lists tpheoduct in a publication entitled “Approved DrugBucts with Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluationhiol is
commonly known as the “Orange Bookd'the case of an NDA, the FDA also lists patedesitified by the NDA applicant as claiming the dargan approved method of us
the drug. Any applicant who files an ANDA must dgrto the FDA with regard to each relevant patiat (1) no patent information has been submitbettié FDA; (2) the
patent has expired; (3) the listed patent has xyited, but will expire on a particular date anghgval is sought after patent expiration; or (4 gatent is invalid or will not t
infringed upon by the manufacture, use or saldefdrug product for which the ANDA is submitted.iF tast certification is known as a Paragraph IXtifieation. A notice of
the Paragraph IV certification must be provide@ash owner of the patent that is the subject otérgfication and to the holder of the approvedANd which the ANDA
refers. If the NDA holder submits the patent infatian to FDA prior to submission of the ANDA an@&tNDA holder or patent owner(s) sues the ANDA agapit for
infringement within 45 days of its receipt of thertification notice, the FDA is prevented from agying that ANDA until the earlier of 30 months fraime receipt of the
notice of the Paragraph IV certification, the eafion of the patent or such shorter or longer pkai® may be ordered by a court. This prohibitiogeiserally referred to as the
30-month stay. An ANDA applicant that is sued fofringement may file a counterclaim to challenge likting of the patent or information submitted=iDA about the patent.

Generally, if an ANDA applicant (1) files a subdiatly complete ANDA with a Paragraph IV certifioat on the first day that any ANDA applicant filas application with
such a certification based on the same referenag atid (2) provides appropriate notice to the N#d&r, and all patent owner(s) for a particularer@product, the
applicant may be awarded a delay in the approvattedr subsequently filed ANDAs with Paragraph Brtfications based on the same reference drug Statutory delay is
commonly referred to as 180-day exclusivity. A sahsally complete ANDA is one that contains ak tinformation required by the statute and the FD&tgulations,
including the results of any required bioequivakestudies. The FDA may refuse to accept the fiihgn ANDA that is not substantially complete oryntketermine during
substantive review of the ANDA that additional infation, such as an additional bioequivalence stisdyequired to support approval. Such a detertiinanay affect an
applicant’s first to file status and eligibilityfd80-day exclusivity. The MMA provides that theOt8ay exclusivity delay ends 180 days after th& fiommercial marketing of
the ANDA product. This exclusivity may be forfeitedder a number of different circumstances, inelgd{1) failure to market within certain prescribgetiods of time
following certain events related to submissionhef &pplication, approval of the application, caletisions and settlements and patent withdrawaia the Orange Book;
(2) an amendment or withdrawal of the ParagraphéXification or certifications upon which the exsivity was based; (3) failure to obtain tentatygproval within certain
prescribed time periods (30, 36, or 40 months aftiémission of the ANDA); (4) an agreement with H2A holder, patent owner or another ANDA applictrt is
determined by a court or the FTC to violate pravisi of antitrust laws; (5) withdrawal of the AND#x; (6) expiration of patent or patents upon whigblesivity is based.

The 180-day exclusivity provisions described abareee passed in the Medicare Prescription Drug Iwvgmmeent and Modernization Act of 2003, or the MMAdalo not
apply where the first ANDA with a Paragraph IV d@geation submitted for the reference drug wasditeefore December 8, 2003. In this circumstaneepte-MMA
exclusivity provisions apply. Under these provisipthe 180-day exclusivity delay ends 180 days #ifiefirst commercial marketing of the ANDA prodae a court decision
holding the patent invalid, unenforceable or nétimged, whichever comes first. In addition, untie preMMA exclusivity provisions, exclusivity is awardesgparately to tt
first applicant or applicants submitting an ANDAtkwia paragraph IV certification for each patersuing in the possibility that different ANDA apgénts will hold different
exclusivities on different patents, resulting ituations in which an applicant that holds an exeltyson one patent is subject to another applisaexclusivity on a different
patent. The FDA has addressed these situationgghrpolicies involving exclusivity sharing. The g A exclusivity provisions do not provide for exdivity forfeiture.
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ANDA approvals can be delayed by exclusivities aledrto the holder of the NDA for the reference diige FFDCA provides five-year exclusivity to thesf applicant to
gain approval of an NDA for a new chemical entdy NCE, meaning that the FDA has not previouslyrapgd any other drug containing the same activeetyioT his
exclusivity generally prohibits the submission of @NDA for any drug product containing the samewectnoiety during the fiverear exclusivity period. However, submiss
of an ANDA with a Paragraph IV certification is patted after four years, and if a patent infringetnlawsuit is brought within 45 days after suchtiéieation, FDA approval
of the ANDA is delayed until 7.5 years after the B@pproval date. The FFDCA also provides three-ggalusivity for the approval of new and supplena¢NDAs for
product changes that require new clinical invesitigs (other than bioavailability studies) that eepnducted or sponsored by the applicant. Theseges include, among
other things, new indications, dosage forms, roafeglministration or strengths of an existing daungl new uses.

ANDA approvals can also be delayed by orphan dwxafusivity, pediatric exclusivity and exclusivitgif certain new antibiotic drugs. The FDA may gramthan drug
designation to a drug intended to treat a rareagis@r condition, which is generally a diseaseoadition that affects fewer than 200,000 individuial the U.S. or more than
200,000 individuals in the U.S. and for which thizr@o reasonable expectation that the cost ofldpiregy and making available in the U.S. a drugthis type of disease or
condition will be recovered from sales in the U@.that drug. Seven-year orphan drug exclusistgvailable to a product that has orphan drug desimn and that receives
the first FDA approval for the indication for whithe drug has such designation. Orphan drug exdéfygirevents approval of another application foe same drug, for the
same orphan indication, for a period of seven yeagardless of whether the application is a fWiANor an ANDA, except in limited circumstances, B&s a showing of
clinical superiority to the product with orphan kigivity. Pediatric exclusivity, if granted, provad an additional six months to an existing excltsivr statutory delay in
approval resulting from a patent certification. §hix-month exclusivity, which runs from the endbttfier exclusivity protection or patent delay, nb&ygranted based on the
voluntary completion of a pediatric study in acarde with an FDA-issued written request for suskudy. The FFDCA also provides exclusivity for egmtantibiotic drugs
for serious or life-threatening infections that Fldésignates as “qualified infectious disease prtadu€his exclusivity extends other exclusivities the same drug by five
years, but does not extend patent-related delagpproval.

The NDA Approval Process
The NDA approval process is generally far more dwetireg than the ANDA process, depending on whetherpplicant is submitting a “full NDA” containiral of the data
and information required for approval of a new dong “Section 505(b)(2) NDA” which is a more limé submission that is generally utilized for magiifions to previously
approved products.

The “Full NDA”
The approval process for a full NDA generally inxes:

= completion of preclinical laboratory and animattiteg in compliance with the FC's good laboratory practice, or GLP, regulatic

= submission to the FDA of an investigational newgdapplication, or IND, for human clinical testjnghich must satisfy the FDA and become effectigfote
human clinical trials may begil

= performance of adequate and \-controlled human clinical trials to establish ttitcacy of the proposed drug product for each ideshuse

satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-approvalpgection of the facility or facilities at which tipeoduct is produced to assess compliance witlrBw’'s cGMP
regulations; an

= submission to and approval by the FDA of an NI
Before human clinical trials can begin on a newgdthe results of preclinical tests, together withnufacturing information and analytical data, mhessubmitted to the FDA
as part of an IND and the FDA must permit the IObecome effective. Each clinical trial under aIMust be reviewed and approved by an independstitutional
Review Board, or IRB. Human clinical trials are iygdly conducted in three sequential phases thatowarlap. These phases generally include:

= Phase 1, during which the drug is introduced irgalthy human subjects or, on occasion, patientssatasted for safety, stability, dose tolerance mretabolism
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Phase 2, during which the drug is introduced @ltimited patient population to determine thecefliy of the product in specific targeted indicasioio determine
dosage tolerance and optimal dosage and to idepdsgible adverse effects and safety risks;

Phase 3, during which the clinical trial is exged to a larger and more diverse patient grougagigphically dispersed clinical trial sites totfier evaluate the
drug and ultimately to demonstrate effectiven

The IND sponsor, the FDA or the IRB may suspentirécal trial at any time for various reasons, inding failure to follow appropriate ethical trialgtocols, failure to
provide adequate protections for trial participaorts: belief that the subjects are being exposesh tonacceptable health risk.

The results of preclinical animal studies and hurianical studies, together with other detailed)(einformation relating to pharmaceutical formidat stability,
manufacturing, processing, packaging, labelinglityueontrol) are submitted to the FDA in the NDA.

The Section 505(b)(2) NDA

For modifications to products previously approvegdtie FDA, an applicant may file an NDA under Setb05(b)(2) of the FFDCA. This section permits filiag of an NDA
where some or all of the data required for approeates from studies not conducted by or for thdiegmt and for which the applicant has not obtaiaedht of reference.
Under this section, an applicant may rely on therayal of another NDA or on studies published ie $eientific literature. The applicant may be regdito conduct additional
studies or provide additional information to fullgmonstrate the safety and effectiveness of itsifination to the approved product.

Where a Section 505(b)(2) applicant relies on th&’B approval of another NDA, the applicant is reegd to submit the same types of patent certificetias are required for
an ANDA. As in the case of an ANDA, a Paragraptcévtification challenging one or more of the pasdidted for the reference drug will require notioghe patent owner(s)
and NDA holder and will permit a patent infringerhenit that may result in a 3@onth stay in the approval of the Section 505(bINRA. The approval of a Section 505(b)
NDA may also be delayed by the NCE, tt-year, orphan drug, pediatric and new antibioticlesivities that are applicable to ANDAs as disagsabove.

The Biosimilar Application Approval Process

The BPCIA, passed by Congress in 2010, amendelHI8A to create an abbreviated approval pathwafoftow-on biologics. This approval pathway is aadile for
“biosimilar” products, which are products that aighly similar to biologics that have been approire8LAs under the PHSA notwithstanding minor diffaces in clinically
inactive components. A biosimilar application meshtain information demonstrating (1) biosimilaritythe reference product, (2) sameness of stredgage form, route of
administration and mechanism(s) of action withréference product (where known), (3) approval efrference product for the indication(s) propdsedhe biosimilar
product and (4) appropriate manufacturing facgitiEDA will approve the application based on aifigdof biosimilarity or interchangeability with threference product. A
finding of biosimilarity must be based on (1) a aerstration that the products are “highly similadtwithstanding minor differences in clinically irta@ components,

(2) animal studies, including an assessment otityxiand (3) a clinical study or studies (incluglian assessment of immunogenicity and pharmacasnet
pharmacodynamics) sufficient to show the safetyitpand potency of the proposed product for onenore “appropriate” conditions of use for whichelisure is sought and
for which the reference product is licensed, unfeB# waives a specific requirement. The definitafrfbiosimilar” requires that there be no clinigatheaningful differences
between the biosimilar and reference product watfard to safety, purity and potency.

An applicant with a pending or approved biosiméaplication may seek an FDA determination thapfteduct is interchangeable with the reference diugddition to
demonstrating biosimilarity to the reference prddtite biosimilar applicant must demonstrate ttsaproduct can be expected to yield the same alinégsult as the reference
product in any given patient. If the biosimilar guzt may be administered more than once to a pgatfeapplicant must demonstrate that the rigkeims of safety or
diminished efficacy of alternating or switching Wween the biosimilar and reference products is neatgr than the risk of continued administratiothef reference product.
The PHSA provides that a determination of intergjeatility means that the biosimilar product maybbstituted for the reference product without titerivention of the
health care provider who prescribed the referemodyzt. The first biosimilar determined to be icteangeable with a particular reference producafor condition of use is
protected by an exclusivity that delays an FDA dateation of interchangeability with regard to asther biosimilar application. The exclusivity detahe subsequent
interchangeability determination until the eartir (1) one year after the first commercial mankgtof the first interchangeable product; (2) 18 therafter resolution of a
patent infringement suit based on a final courisien regarding all of the patents in the litigatior dismissal of the litigation with or withoutgjudice; (3) 42 months after
approval of the first interchangeable biosimilaslogical product, if an expedited patent action wasmenced against the applicant under section)8&)Lé&nd the litigation i
still pending; or (4) 18 months after approvallué first interchangeable product if the referencalpct sponsor did not sue the biosimilar applidantnfringement under the
patent resolution provisions of the PHSA.
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The PHSA provides a number of exclusivity protewsidor reference products that may delay submissnzhapproval of biosimilar applications. The PH$#ays submission
of a biosimilar application until four years aftée date on which the reference product was fizehked and delays final approval of a biosimifgplization until twelve years
after the first licensure of the reference prodiibe first-licensure requirement precludes an #&fdid period of exclusivity for a supplement to tivéginal application for the
reference product. It also precludes exclusivitydio entirely new BLA in certain circumstances. @awnBLA submitted by a sponsor or manufacturer pfeviously approved
biologic would not be protected by exclusivity {&) a non-structural change that results in a malication, route of administration, dosing scheddtesage form, delivery
system, delivery device or strength or (2) a stmadtchange that does not result in a change etysgsurity or potency. As in the case of NDAs apyed under the FFDCA,
BLAs may be entitled to orphan exclusivity and emljatric exclusivity.

The BPCIA amended the definition of biological puatito include proteins (other than synthetic pelytides). Applications for biological products, lumting proteins, must
now be approved under the PHSA rather than unéefFDCA. The BPCIA provides a grandfather exceptirbiologics falling within a product class fohieh FDA has
approved an application under the FFDCA. Appliaadifor approval of these types of proteins mayuisrstted under the FFDCA until March 23, 2020 uslttere is a
biological product licensed under the PHSA thatld®erve as a reference product for a biosimilglieation.

Under the PHSA, patents are not listed in the CeaBigok and companies submitting biosimilar appiiat are not required to submit patent certifiaaidPatent disputes are
resolved outside of the FDA regulatory process. Bibsimilar applicant must share the contentsobibsimilar application and information on its raéacturing processes
with counsel for the company holding the BLA foetreference drug. The biosimilar applicant and BioAder must exchange information about relevargmatand seek
agreement on patents to be litigated under an éegklitigation procedure.
The BLA Approval Process
The BLA approval process is similar to the “Full NDapproval process and generally involves:

= completion of preclinical laboratory and animattieg in compliance with the FC's GLP regulations

= submission to the FDA of an IND for human clinitasgting, which must satisfy FDA and become effectiefore human clinical trials may beg

= performance of adequate and \-controlled human clinical trials to establish tticacy of the proposed drug product for each ideshuse

= satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-approvalgection of the facility or facilities at which tipeoduct is produced to assess compliance witlfrB®’'s cGMP
regulations; an

= submission to and approval by the FDA of a Bl
FDA Action on an Application for Approv

If applicable statutory or regulatory requiremegts not satisfied, the FDA may deny approval oN&#A, ANDA, BLA, or biosimilar application, or the[PA may require
additional data or information. After approval bétapplication, the FDA may suspend or withdrawapproval based on various criteria, including mefermation related to
safety or effectiveness or failure to comply wittepapproval requirements. In addition, the FDA rimagome instances require post-marketing studiespproved products
and may take actions to limit marketing of the pratcbased on the results of those studies.

The new drug and biological product approval preessnay take years, and the time may vary subsigriiased upon the type of application and the tyomplexity and
novelty of the product or disease. Government @@ may delay or prevent marketing of potentralducts for a considerable period of time and ineposstly procedures
upon a manufacturer’s activities. Success in estege clinical trials does not assure succesgen $téage clinical trials. Data obtained from dadiactivities are not always
conclusive and may be subject to varying interpi@ta that could delay, limit or prevent regulatapproval. Even if a product receives regulatomyrapal, later discovery of
previously unknown problems with a product may heisurestrictions on the product or complete witldal of the product from the market.
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Manufacturing (cGMP) Requiremer

We and our contract manufacturers and other suppie required to comply with applicable FDA mamtifiring requirements contained in the FDA’s cGM&ulations.
These cGMP regulations require among other thiggality control and quality assurance as well ascitrresponding maintenance of records and docatiemt The
manufacturing facilities for our products must me@&MP requirements to the satisfaction of the FI2fobe FDA will approve our products and we mustttare to meet
these requirements after our products are apprdVedand our third-party manufacturers and othepbers are subject to periodic inspections of fties by the FDA and
other authorities to assess our compliance withiegige regulations.

Other Regulatory Requirements

Maintaining substantial compliance with appropriféeral, state and local statutes and regulatieqsires the expenditure of substantial time andricial resources. Drug
manufacturers are required to register their eistaiolents with the FDA and certain state agenciéer/Aapproval, the FDA and these state agenciedumirperiodic
unannounced inspections to ensure continued congglieith ongoing regulatory requirements.

In addition, after approval, some types of chartigebe approved product, such as adding new inditsitmanufacturing changes and additional labedlagns, are subject to
further FDA review and approval. The FDA may requpost-approval testing and surveillance progranmmdnitor safety and effectiveness of approved petsithat have
been commercialized. Any drug products manufactoredistributed pursuant to FDA approvals are sttttje continuing regulation by the FDA, including:

= recorc-keeping requirement

= reporting of adverse experiences with the d

= providing the FDA with updated safety and efficacfprmation;
= reporting on advertisements and promotional lalge

= drug sampling and distribution requirements;

= complying with electronic record and signature ieguents

In addition, the FDA strictly regulates labelinglvartising, promotion and other types of informatan products that are placed on the market. Tler@umerous regulations
and policies that govern various means for dissatirig information to health-care professionalswe$i as consumers, including industry sponsoreergific and educational
activities, information provided to the media antbrmation provided over the Internet. Drugs mayhbemoted only for the approved indications andénordance with the
provisions of the approved label.

FDA Enforcement Authorit

The FDA has very broad enforcement authority aeddiiure to comply with applicable regulatory r@g@ments can result in administrative or judic@ahstions being impos
on us or on the manufacturers and distributorsuofapproved products, including warning letterfiysals of government contracts, clinical holdsjlgenalties, injunctions
(which may in some circumstances involve restitutiisgorgement or profits, recalls and/or totapartial suspension of production or distributisgizure of products,
withdrawal of approvals, refusal to approve pendipglications and criminal prosecution of the comypand company officials that may result in finesl éncarceration. FD:
has authority to inspect manufacturing facilitissagell as other facilities in which drug producte held, packaged or stored, to determine compiavith cGMP and other
requirements under the FDCA. The FDA and other eigsractively enforce the laws and regulations ibithg the promotion of offabel uses, and a company that is foun
have improperly promoted off-label uses may beestttip significant liability. In addition, even aftregulatory approval is obtained, later discowsrgreviously unknown
problems with a product may result in restrictiomsthe product or even complete withdrawal of tredpct from the market.

We are also subject to various laws and regulatiegarding laboratory practices, the experimergelaf animals and the use and disposal of hazatqustentially
hazardous substances in connection with our rdselreach of these areas, as above, the FDA loasl begulatory and enforcement powers, includiegathility to levy fines
and civil penalties, suspend or delay issuance@pfavals, seize or recall products and withdrawreygls, any one or more of which could have a nedtgradverse effect on
us.
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On February 27 through March 3, 2014, our facilitfRancho Cucamonga, CA was subject to an inspebiiahe FDA under the Bioresearch Monitoring Paogy or
BIMO. The inspection covered a clinical trial fame of our pipeline products to establish that GGtdical Practices were followed during the exémubf the trial. The
inspection did not result in any observations omi483.

On March 31, 2014 through April 4, 2014, our fagiln Nanjing, China was subject to an inspectigriie FDA. The inspection resulted in multiple atvs¢ions on Form 48:
We responded to those observations on April 25429 viding our corrective action plan as well agrective actions already implemented. We beliénag tve have address
all of the observations and the final follow uppesse to the FDA was submitted with data suppoxtimngactions in October 2014.

On March 31, 2014 through April 3, 2014, our fayilh Canton, MA was subject to a preapproval imsipe by the FDA relating to our NDA for Primatefilist HFA. The
inspection did not result in any observations om#d483.

From July 9, 2014 through August 8, 2014, our fgcih Rancho Cucamonga, CA was subject to an ictspe by the FDA. The inspection included a revigweurrent Good
Manufacturing Practices, preapproval inspectionsvfi® ANDAs currently being reviewed by the FDA daa review of post-market adverse drug events.ifi$gections
resulted in multiple observations on Form 483. \Wa&ponded to those observations on September 3, A believe that our responses to the Form 483suaifiisfy the FDA
and that no significant further actions will be essary.

From August 27, 2014 through September 12, 201#4famility in South El Monte, CA was subject to arent Good Manufacturing Practices inspectionigyEDA. The
inspections resulted in multiple observations omFd483. We responded to those observations on @c®t2014. We believe that our responses to the B83 will satisfy
the FDA and that no significant further actionsl\wi necessary.

Foreign Regulatory Requiremer

Outside the U.S., our ability to market a prodsatontingent upon receiving marketing authorizaffom the appropriate regulatory authorities. Thguirements governing
marketing authorization, pricing and reimbursememy widely from country to country. At presentré@n marketing authorizations are applied for aational level,
although within the European Union registrationgedures are available to companies wishing to narkeoduct in more than one European Union merstage. The
regulatory authority generally will grant marketiagthorization if it is satisfied that we have meted it with adequate evidence of safety, qualitgt efficacy.

Prescription Drug Wrap-Up

When Congress passed the FFDCA in 1938, it reqtiivaéd'new drugs” be approved based on their safat$962, Congress amended the FFDCA to requaesponsors
demonstrate that new drugs are effective, as wedbée, in order to receive FDA approval. We r&dghese provisions as the “1962 Amendmentsg 1962 Amendments a
required the FDA to conduct a retrospective evanatf the efficacy of the drug products that tli@AFapproved between 1938 and 1962 on the basiafefysalone. The FD.
contracted with the National Academy of Scienceitiat! Research Council, or the NAS/NRC, to makénéral evaluation of the efficacy of many of thedeug products. Tr
FDA'’s administrative implementation of the NAS/NR€ports was called the Drug Efficacy Study Impletagan, or the DESI.

Drugs that were not subject to applications appidwetween 1938 and 1962 were not subject to DE&we For a period of time, the FDA did not chatierthe marketing of
these drugs without approval. In 1984, howeverrrguuby serious adverse reactions to one of thexbupts and concerns expressed by Congress, FDértooi an
assessment of the products under an initiative knasvthe “Prescription Drug Wrap-Up.” Most of thelsegs contain active ingredients that were firatkated prior to the
enactment of the FFDCA. Several of our marketedrphaeutical products fall within this category.

The FDA has asserted that all drugs subject tétlescription Drug Wrap-Up are on the market illggahless they fall within two “grandfather” excépts to the new drug
definition. The first is a provision in the new drdefinition exempting drugs that were on the mapki®r to the passage of the FFDCA and that cartteé same
representations concerning the conditions of uskegsdid prior to passage of the FFDCA. The 1962cAdments also exempt drugs that were not new gmigysto the
passage of the 1962 Amendments and that have riiee @amposition and labeling as they had prior éopissage of the 1962 Amendments. The FDA andotlméschave
interpreted these two exceptions very narrowly.réfare, the FDA could commence enforcement actiang time regarding any or all of our unapproveespription
products.

The FDA has adopted a risk-based enforcement ptiatyprioritizes enforcement of new drug requiratedor these and other unapproved drugs that gefedy concerns,

lack evidence of efficacy, prevent patients fromspiing effective therapies, are marketed fraudiyentolate other provisions of the FFDCA, suchc&MP requirements, or
directly compete with approved drugs. The FDA Imadated that approval of an NDA for one drug withiclass of drugs marketed without FDA approvay tigger agency
enforcement of the new drug requirements. Onc& B issues an approved NDA for one of the drug potsl at issue or completes the efficacy revievttat drug product,

it may require other manufacturers to also obtajpraval for that same drug in order to continuekating it in the U.S. While the FDA generally prdes sponsors a one-year
grace period, the agency is not statutorily reguicedo so.

Fraud and Abuse Laws

Because of the significant federal funding involwed/edicare and Medicaid, Congress and the states enacted, and actively enforce, a number of taveliminate fraud
and abuse in federal health care programs. Ounéssiis subject to compliance with these laws.

Federal False Claims A«

Another development affecting the health care itglus the increased use of the federal False Glakat, and in particular, actions brought pursuarthe False Claims Act's
“whistleblower” or “qui tam” provisions. The Fal§daims Act imposes liability on any person or gnthiat, among other things, knowingly presentgarses to be presented,
a false or fraudulent claim for payment by a fetleealth care program. The qui tam provisions effdalse Claims Act allow a private individual tangr actions on behalf of
the federal government alleging that the defentlastsubmitted a false claim to the federal goventrard to share in any monetary recovery. In regeats, the number of
suits brought against health care providers bygpeivndividuals has increased dramatically. In taidj various states have enacted false claims éaatogous to the False
Claims Act, and many of these state laws apply wheclaim is submitted to any third-party payer aotimerely a federal or other governmental hezdite program.
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When an entity is determined to have violated thlsé-Claims Act, it may be required to pay up ted¢htimes the actual damages sustained by the oeet, plus civil
penalties of between $5,500 and $11,000 for eggrate instance of a false claim. There are matsngial bases for liability under the False Claifws. Liability arises,
primarily, when an entity knowingly submits, or sas another to submit, a false claim for reimbues@rto the federal government. The federal goventrhas used the False
Claims Act to assert liability on the basis of iegdate care, kickbacks and other improper referaald improper use of Medicare numbers when degpilie provider of
services, in addition to the more predictable atems of misrepresentations with respect to tieices rendered. In addition, the federal governnhes prosecuted compar
under the False Claims Act in connection withlafiel promotion of products. Our current and futacévities relating to the reporting of wholesateestimated retail prices
our products, the reporting of discount and rebEtgrmation and other information affecting federstate and third-party reimbursement of our présiuend the sale and
marketing of our products may be subject to scyutinder these laws. While we are unaware of angeatimatters, we are unable to predict whether Wée subject to
actions under the False Claims Act or a similatestawv, or the impact of such actions. However,dbsts of defending such claims, as well as angtgars imposed, could
significantly affect our financial performance.

The Sunshine Act

The Physician Payment Sunshine Act, or the Sunshitewhich was enacted as part of the AffordabdeeCAct, requires all pharmaceutical manufactutfess participate in
Medicare, Medicaid or the ChildrenHealth Insurance Program to report annually é6Sacretary of the Department of Health and Hunemi&s payments or other transt
of value made by that entity, or by a third pagyd&rected by that entity, to physicians and teagospitals or to third parties on behalf of phigis or teaching hospitals.
The payments required to be reported include tiseaomeals provided to a physician, travel reinsleanents and other transfers of value provided @paontracted
services, including speaker programs, advisorydmamonsultation services and clinical trial segsicThe final rule implementing the Sunshine Aquiges data collection on
payments to begin on August 1, 2013. We have tirfilelg our first annual report, comprised of datdlected from August 1, 2013 to December 31, 20dt8ch was due
March 31, 2014. The statute requires the federatigonent to make reported information availabléh®public. Failure to comply with the reportingjoirements can result
significant civil monetary penalties ranging fror,&00 to $10,000 for each payment or other trareffealue that is not reported (up to a maximumamerual report of
$150,000) and from $10,000 to $100,000 for eactwimg failure to report (up to a maximum per anmegdort of $1.0 million). Additionally, there areiminal penalties if an
entity intentionally makes false statements in siegorts. We are subject to the Sunshine Act aadnflormation we disclose may lead to greater styutvhich may result in
modifications to established practices and additi@osts. Additionally, similar reporting requirente have also been enacted on the state level dcails and an increasing
number of countries worldwide either have adoptedre considering adopting similar laws requiriransparency of interactions with health care pgitesls.

Environmental Considerations

We are subject to federal, state and local enviental laws and regulations, both U.S. and foreigeiuding those promulgated by the Occupationaéfeaéind Health
Administration, the Environmental Protection Agenthye Department of Health and Human Services laad\ir Quality Management District, which goverrtigities and
operations that may have adverse environmentadtsffeich as discharges to air, soil and water efisas handling and disposal practices for solid azardous wastes.
Because we own and operate real property, theseifapose strict liability for the costs of cleaning, and for damages resulting from, sites of pp#is, disposals or other
releases of hazardous substances and materiake Tdves and regulations may also require us tdqraye investigation and remediation of environta¢nontamination at
properties operated by us and at off-site locatishere we have arranged for the disposal of hazardobstances. If it is determined that our opamator facilities are not in
compliance with current environmental laws, we ddeg subject to fines and penalties, the amounti¢h could be material.

The costs of complying with various applicable eammental requirements, as they now exist or asimagitered in the future, could adversely affestfmmancial condition
and results of operations. For example, as a refelivironmental concerns about the use of CR@&sFDA issued a final rule on January 16, 2009 tbadired the phase-out
of the CFC version of our Primatefidist product by December 31, 2011. This phase aused us to halt sales of the CFC version of ound®ene® Mist product
subsequent to December 31, 2011 and write offroeeritory for the product, which had an adversecefie our financial results.

Prior to the Merck API Transaction, Merck notified of several items it had identified as part ®oiivn internal auditing that relate to potentiahatienvironmental issues.
Merck identified certain issues that did not méeirtinternal policies and procedures but did riolate any French environmental law or regulatidferck has agreed to pay
for the remediation costs up to a certain dollaoam, after which we will be responsible for anyliidnal costs; however, we expect that remediatiosts will remain below
that threshold.
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We have made and will continue to make expendittor&®mply with current and future U.S. and fore@nvironmental laws and regulations. We anticiplad¢ we will incur
additional capital and operating costs in the feitior comply with existing environmental laws angvirequirements arising from new or amended statnesegulations. We
cannot accurately predict the impact and costsfthiate regulations will impose on our business.

Other Regulations

We also must comply with data protection and daiteapy requirements. Compliance with these lawiesand regulations regarding privacy, security @rdection of
employee data could result in higher compliancetantdnology costs for us, as well as significané$, penalties and damage to our global reputatidrour brand as a result
of non-compliance.

Intellectual Property

Our success depends on our ability to operate witiméringing the patents and proprietary rightstofd parties. However, we cannot determine wéhtainty whether patents
or patent applications of other parties will hauaaterially adverse effect on our ability to malkse, or sell any products. A number of pharmacaltiompanies,
biotechnology companies, universities and reseastitutions may have filed patent applicationsrary have been granted patents that cover aspeats,adr our licensors’
products, product candidates, or other technologies

We primarily rely on trade secrets, unpatented petgry know-how and continuing technological inatien to protect our products and technologieseesfly where we do
not believe patent protection is appropriate oamtable. Although in some cases we seek patentgiioh to preserve our competitive position, ourent patent portfolio
does not cover the majority of our existing produantd product candidates. We own several U.S.@eéjh patents covering processes and equipmedtingbe manufactur
of a few of our products. The expiration dateshefse patents range from 2020 to 2027.

In addition, we own a United States patent coveRrignateneé® Mist HFA: United States Patent Number 8,367,734her*734 patent,which was issued on February 5, 2(
and expires in January 2026. Additionally, we he&eeral patent applications that are currently penoh the U.S. and other countries, including @hibut which have noty
issued as patents. Accordingly, other than the y&é&nt covering PrimateffeMist HFA, none of our significant products or praticandidates are covered by any United
States or foreign patents related to formulatiansoonpositions. Indeed, many of our products amdipct candidates are generic products, and therefay not be eligible fc
patent protection. For example, our enoxaparin yebis a generic product, and as such, it is neé by any United States or foreign patents. Qiheur products,

including Amphadas@&, are based on compounds for which any applicadienps have expired, or which were not patentefirhphastar in the first instance because they are
older compounds. As for the remainder of our prodaadidates that are not intended to be genevidyats, these are early stage product candidatesntly under
development, for which we intend to seek to obpaitent rights or rely on trade secret protectian {bb any case, are not currently covered by aniddrStates or foreign
patents). In addition, with respect to such prodactdidates, we may seek patent rights for vagpmtential technology platforms (or rely on tradersé protection), which

could apply across multiple product candidates éwatin, such potential technology platforms cufyeaute not covered by any United States or forgigtents).

We may not be able to obtain patent or other foofrizrotection for inventions or other intellectyaibperty developed by our officers, employees,amstltants because we
might not have been the first to file or to invém: patentable technology or others may have intigrgly developed similar or alternative technologie also own several
trademarks registered with the USPTO and one tradenegistered with the Canadian Intellectual Prgp@ffice.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary mfation through the use of confidentiality and riiselosure agreements, unauthorized parties may asipects of our
products or obtain and use information that we nméga proprietary. Other parties may also indepetfigldevelop knowhow or obtain unauthorized access to our technetc

Intellectual property protection is highly uncentaind involves complex legal and factual questi@ns. patents and those for which we have or witise rights may be
challenged, invalidated, infringed or circumventadd the rights granted in those patents may rosigee proprietary protection or competitive advaetsito us. We and our
licensors may not be able to develop patentabldymts. Even if a patent application is filed, samnall of the patent claims may not be allowed,ghtent itself may not isst
or in the event of issuance, the issued claims maaye sufficient to protect the technology owngdblicensed to us.

Third-party patent applications and patents coettlice the coverage of the patents licensed, ontagtbe licensed to, or owned by us. If patentsainimg competitive or

conflicting claims are issued to third parties, way be enjoined from the commercialization of piddwr be required to obtain licenses to thesenpste to develop or obta
alternative technology. In addition, other partiesy duplicate, design around or independently agwsimilar or alternative technologies to ourshtmse of our licensors.
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Litigation may be necessary to enforce patenteidsu licensed to us or to determine the scopalidity of another party’s proprietary rights. USPTnterference
proceedings may be necessary if we and another ppatit claim to have invented the same subjectendfven if we ultimately prevail, we could incwbstantial costs and
our management’s attention would be diverted if:

= litigation is required to defend against patentssbrought by third partie:

= we participate in patent suits brought againshitiated by our licensor:

= we initiate suits against third parties who areinging on our patents;

= we participate in an interference or other simid&PTO proceedin¢
However, even if we pursue litigation or other actto protect our intellectual property rights, may not prevail in any of these actions or procegsli
Employees
As of December 31, 2014, we had a total of 1,3@litifne employees.
Corporate Information
We incorporated in California under the name AmpdvaBharmaceuticals, Inc. in 1996 and merged olifo@&a corporation into Amphastar Pharmaceutichls., a newly
formed Delaware corporation, in 2004. Our corpoddfiees are located at 11570"&treet, Rancho Cucamonga, CA 91730. Our telephomber is (909) 980-9484. Our
Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports om#10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendsntenthose reports filed or furnished pursuanteoti®n 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asragied, are available free of charge as soon asnahbly practicable after we electronically file thevith, or furnish them

to, the SEC. You can access our filings with th€ 3l visiting_ www.amphastar.comThe information that is contained on, or carabeessed through our website is not
incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10aidd the inclusion of our website address is artivetextual reference only.

We use our website as a channel of distributionnfigrortant company information. Important inforneej including press releases, analyst presentatioddinancial
information regarding us, as well as corporate gaaece information, is routinely posted and actdssin the “Investors” section of the website, whig accessible by
clicking on the tab labeled “Investors” on our wighfiome page. Information on or that can be aetegough our website is not part of this AnnuepBrt on Form 10-K,
and the inclusion of our website address is artivetextual reference only.
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Item 1A.Risk Factors.

Investing in our common stock involves a high degferisk. You should carefully consider the rigksl uncertainties described below, together wittofthe othel
information contained in this Annual Report, indhglour consolidated financial statements and thlated notes thereto. Our future operating resoitsy vary substantially
from anticipated results due to a number of riskd ancertainties, many of which are beyond our @nThe risks and uncertainties described beloe aot the only ones v
face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we anaware of, or that we currently believe are material, may also become important factors th&efus. The followin
discussion highlights some of these risks and uaicgies and the possible impact of these riskfuture results of operations. If any of the follagirisks occur, our business,
financial condition or results of operations colld materially and adversely affected. In that caélse market value of our common stock could dedirestantially and yo
could lose part or all of your investment.

Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry

Our enoxaparin product represents a significant fiimn of our net revenues. If the sales volume oiiging of this product continues to decline, or iferare unable to satisfy
market demand for this product, it could have a redtl adverse effect on our business, financial tam and results of operations.

Sales from our enoxaparin product, which is ouydat selling product, represented 51%, 64%, and &38ar total net revenues for the years ended ibee 31, 2014, 2013,
and 2012, respectively. We are currently experindieclining revenue from enoxaparin and some pbther existing products and anticipate that wg oj@erate at a loss in
the near term while continuing to invest in devalgmew products. If the sales volume or pricingnbxaparin continues to decline, or if we are imabsatisfy market
demand for this product, our business, financialitm and results of operations could be matsriafid adversely affected, and the market valusioEommon stock could
decline. For example, due to intense pricing coitipetin the pharmaceutical industry, we have eigrered significant declines in the per unit pricamg gross margins
attributable to our enoxaparin product since itaowercial launch, even during periods where we liaeeased market share and net revenues. Our eswixggpoduct could
be rendered obsolete or negatively impacted by nousefactors, many of which are beyond our contnaluding:

» decreasing average sales prices;

» development by others of new pharmaceuticadpcts that are more effective than ours;

* entrance of new competitors into our markets;

* loss of key relationships with suppliers, grquurchasing organizations or end-user customers;

* manufacturing or supply interruptions;

« changes in the prescribing practices of pligsi;

« changes in third-party reimbursement practices

» product liability claims; and

» product recalls or safety alerts.
Any factor adversely affecting the sale of enoxaparay cause our revenues to decline, and we mayenable to achieve and maintain profitability.
Our success depends on our ability to develop andtmuire and commercialize additional pharmaceulgroducts.
Our financial results depend upon our ability toncoercialize additional generic and proprietary pheceutical products that address unmet medicalspeee accepted by
patients and physicians and are reimbursed by pagemmercialization requires that we successhnly cost-effectively develop, test and manufacturetherwise acquire
both generic and proprietary products. All of otmgucts must receive regulatory approval and maeed €ontinue to comply with) regulatory and safggndards. If health or
safety concerns arise with respect to a producthag be forced to withdraw it from the market. Egample, as a result of environmental concerns theeuse of
chlorofluorocarbons, or CFCs, the U.S. Food andyDxdministration, or FDA, issued a final rule omdary 16, 2009 that required the phase-out of fh€ @rmulation of
our Primaten® Mist product by December 31, 2011. As a resulgrifer to resume selling Primatehi#list we have developed a formulation of the prodbat will use
hydrofluoroalkane, or HFA, as the propellant, arelave now seeking FDA approval for the modifiedduat. There can be no guarantee that our investimeasearch and
development activities will result in FDA approwal produce a commercially viable new product. ®eerisk factor entitled “The FDA approval processiieconsuming an

complicated, and we may not obtain the FDA approequired for a product within the timeline we desbr at all. Additionally, we may lose FDA appaband/or our
products may become subject to foreign regulations.
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The development and commercialization processicpdatly with respect to our proprietary produdsstime-consuming, costly and involves a high degrebusiness risk.
Our products currently under development, if anémfully developed and tested, may not perform eexpect. Necessary regulatory approvals may nobtsned in a
timely manner, if at all, and we may not be ablettoduce and market such products successfullyeofitably. For example, we filed an abbreviatedvrdrug application, or
ANDA, for our enoxaparin product in March 2003, RA approval was not granted until September 2lid to delays caused largely by our inclusion mythy litigation
with Sanofi S.A., or Sanofi, the FD&'requirement that we perform immunogenicity steidied the receipt of an FDA Warning Letter by thppier of the starting material 1
our enoxaparin product, who also became the subfeart FDA Import Alert. Following FDA approval, weecame involved in litigation with Momenta Pharmiaticals, Inc.
and Sandoz, Inc., which further delayed the comraklaunch of our enoxaparin product until Janu2®y2. Delays in any part of the process, or oubilitg to obtain
regulatory approval of our products, could adverséiect our operating results by restricting olaggng our introduction of new products, which abehuse the market value
of our products to decline. To the extent that wgead significant resources on research and dewednpefforts and are not able, ultimately, to idtroe successful new
products as a result of those efforts, our busjrfesmncial position and results of operations rhaymaterially and adversely affected, and the ntardeie of our common
stock could decline.

Our ability to introduce new generic products alepends upon our success in challenging patertsrighd by third parties or in developing non-infjing products. Due to
the emergence and development of competing prodwetstime, our overall profitability depends omang other things, our ability to introduce newdarots in a timely
manner, to continue to manufacture products cdsttfely and to manage the life cycle of our prodportfolio. If we are unable to costfectively maintain an adequate flc
of successful generic and proprietary productsrevd indications and/or delivery methods for exigtmoducts sufficient to cover our substantial aeslke and development
costs and the decline in sales of older produetsdither become subject to generic competitiomrerdisplaced by competing products or theragiéscould have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial conditioresults of operations.

Our success depends on the integrity of our supghigin, including multiple single source supplierthe disruption of which could negatively impact obusiness.

Some of our products are the result of complex rfanturing processes, and some require highly sfiseibraw materials. Because our business requairesourcing in some
instances, we are subject to inherent uncertairgiated to product safety, availability and setyuror some of our key raw materials, componentsactive pharmaceutical
ingredient, or API, used in certain of our produets have only a single, external source of supghyl alternate sources of supply may not be reasiédylable. For example,
we purchase heparin USP as the starting materialrézlucing our enoxaparin product exclusively frarsingle source supplier and, in 2009, this seppéceived a Warning
Letter from the FDA and was the subject of an FEpbrt Alert. The resulting shortage of heparin U88ulted in significant delays to the FDA apprgwaicess for our
enoxaparin product. There are no guarantees oplisupill not receive Warning Letters in the fuéuor that we will be able to replace this singlerse supplier with an
alternate supplier on a commercially reasonabletiamely basis, or at all, to prevent a shortagbegarin USP. Additionally, in 2013 our single saustipplier of epinephrine
API for our Primaten® Mist HFA product candidate received a warning tefitem the FDA, which our supplier has since adskees In the future, it is possible that our
suppliers will receive warning letters from the FRAd be unsuccessful in their efforts to addressstbues raised in such warning letters on a tifba$ys, or at all, which
would result in delays in commercialization andfanufacturing of our products or product candidafd=DA approval for such products or product calates is received.
Furthermore, we may be unable to replace such muppith an alternate supplier on a commerciallgs@nable and timely basis, or at all.

If we fail to maintain relationships with our cuntesuppliers, we may not be able to complete dgveémt, commercialization or marketing of our praguahich would have
a material and adverse effect on our businessd¥garty suppliers may not perform as agreed or teayinate their agreements with us. For examplealse these third
parties provide materials to a number of other pla@eutical companies, they may experience capawitgtraints or choose to prioritize one or morthefr other customers
over us. Any significant problem that our supplierperience could delay or interrupt our supplynatterials until the supplier cures the problemmtilwe locate, negotiate
for, validate and receive FDA approval for an altgive source of supply, if one is available. la ttear term, we do not anticipate that the FDA aplprove alternative sourc
to back up our primary suppliers. Therefore, if ptimary suppliers become unable or unwilling tonmfacture or deliver materials, we could experiemc#racted delays or
interruptions in the supply of materials. This wdultimately delay our manufacture of productsdommercial sale, which could materially and advgraéfect our
development programs, commercial activities, ofregatesults and financial condition.

Additionally, any failure by us to forecast demdad or to maintain an adequate supply of, the naaterial and finished product could result in aeiiruption in the supply of
certain products and a decline in sales of thadycb

We face significant competition in the pharmaceuwiandustry with respect to both our proprietary drgeneric drugs, which may result in others devehgpor
commercializing products before or more successfulan we do, which could significantly limit ourrgwth and materially and adversely affect our finaial results.

Our business operates in the pharmaceutical indushich is an industry characterized by intens@getition. Many of our competitors have longer apieig histories and
greater financial, research and development, makend other resources than we do. Consequendigyraf our competitors may be able to develop petsiand/or
processes competitive with, or superior to, our oWe are concentrating the majority of our eff@tsl resources on developing product candidatésgingjlour proprietary
technologies. The commercial success of produiising such technologies will depend, in largetpan the intensity of competition, labeling claiagsproved by the FDA fi
our products compared to claims approved for coitiypeproducts and the relative timing and sequdnceommercial launch of new products by other panies that
compete with our new products. If alternative teslbgies or other therapeutic approaches are adg@ptedto our new product approvals, then the mifteeour new products
may be substantially decreased, thus reducinglalityeto generate future profits.
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This intensely competitive environment require®agoing, extensive search for technological inniovatand the ability to market products effectivéheluding the ability tc
communicate the effectiveness, safety and valwipproducts to healthcare professionals in pripaéetice, group practices and managed care orfgoms. Our competitors
vary depending upon product categories, and withith product category, upon dosage strengths amddrpg-delivery systems. Based on total assetsjamevenues and
market capitalization, we are smaller than mangwfnational and international competitors withpexst to both our generic and proprietary pharmacaiytroducts and
product candidates. Many of our competitors hawenhe business for a longer period of time tharhase a greater number of products on the marlkehawue greater
financial and other resources than we do. Furthegnrecent trends in this industry are toward ferrtimarket consolidation of large drug companies insmaller number of
very large entities, further concentrating finahdiechnical and market strength and increasingpeditive pressure in the industry. If we directbngpete with them for the
same markets and/or products, their financial gtitenould prevent us from capturing a profitablarghof those markets. Smaller companies may atseefo be significant
competitors, particularly through collaborativesamgements with large and established companiespéssible that developments by our competitotismake our products «
technologies noncompetitive or obsolete.

If we fail to obtain exclusive marketing rights foour generic pharmaceutical products or fail to irtduce these generic products on a timely basis, myvenues, gros
margin and operating results may decline significéy

The Hatch-Waxman amendments to the Federal Foady,nd Cosmetic Act, or FFDCA, provide for a pdriad 180 days of generic marketing exclusivity &y applicant
that is first-to-file an ANDA containing a certifition of invalidity, non-infringement or unenfordsiity related to a patent listed with respecthe torresponding brand drug,
which we refer to as a Paragraph IV certificatibhe holder of an approved ANDA containing a Parpigi/ certification that is successful in challemgithe applicable brar
drug patent(s) is often able to price the appliea@neric drug to yield relatively high gross masgiluring this 180-day marketing exclusivity periédNDAs that contain
Paragraph IV certifications challenging patentsvéeer, generally become the subject of patentlitiy that can be both lengthy and costly. Thermisertainty that we will
prevail in any such litigation, that we will be tfiest-to-file and granted the 180-day marketinglesivity period or, if we are granted the 188y marketing exclusivity perio
that we will not forfeit such period. Even where are awarded marketing exclusivity, we may be neglio share our exclusivity period with other ANBAplicants who
submit Paragraph 1V certifications. In additionabd companies often authorize a generic versidheo€orresponding brand drug to be sold duringpariod of marketing
exclusivity that is awarded, which reduces grossgima during the marketing exclusivity period. Bdasompanies may also reduce the price of theirdpraduct to compete
directly with generics entering the market, whighikarly would have the effect of reducing grossrgias. Furthermore, timely commencement of litigatby the patent
owner imposes an automatic stay of ANDA approvath®/FDA for 30 months, unless the case is dedid¢ite ANDA applicant’s favor during that periodnglly, if the
court’s decision is adverse to the ANDA applicahé ANDA approval will be delayed until the chalgsd patent expires, and the applicant will not tzted the 180-day
marketing exclusivity.

Accordingly, our revenues and future profitabilitye dependent, in large part, upon our abilityherability of our development partners to file ANBDWith the FDA timely
and effectively or to enter into contractual radaghips with other parties that have obtained ntangexclusivity. We may not be able to develop anttbduce successful
products in the future within the time constrainésessary to be successful. If we or our developpenners are unable to continue to timely andatifely file ANDAs with
the FDA or to partner with other parties that hala&ained marketing exclusivity, our revenues, groasgin and operating results may decline signitiiga and our prospects
and business may be materially adversely affected.

Our generic products face, and our generic prodeeindidates will face, additional competitive presssi that are specific to the generic pharmaceutiaadustry.

With respect to our generic pharmaceutical busimesgnues and gross profit derived from the safleeneric pharmaceutical products tend to follopattern based on
certain regulatory and competitive factors. As petend exclusivities protecting a brand name proéxpire, the first manufacturer to receive retpripapproval for a genel
version of the product is generally able to achigigaificant market penetration. Therefore, outighbio increase or maintain revenues and profiigbin our generics busine
is largely dependent on our success in challengatgnts and developing non-infringing formulatiefigroprietary products. As competing manufactureceive regulatory
approvals on generic products or as brand manufastiaunch generic versions of their products \{fbich no separate regulatory approval is requjnedirket share, revent
and gross profit typically decline, often signifittey and rapidly. Accordingly, the level of marls#are, revenue and gross profit attributable tartiqular generic product
normally is related to the number of competitorshiat product’'s market and the timing of that pretthiregulatory approval and launch, in relatiocémnpeting approvals and
launches. For example, with respect to our enoxaaoduct, Sandoz also markets the generic verdi@moxaparin, Teva Pharmaceutical Industries had. received
approval from the FDA of its ANDA for its generia@<aparin product and Hospira, Inc. has filed arDfNwith the FDA for approval of its generic versicrhe presence of
these current and prospective competitive produetg have an adverse effect on our market sharenuevand gross profit from our enoxaparin prodsictce the commercial
launch of our enoxaparin product, we have expeedmignificant declines in the per unit pricing @mdss margins attributable to this product, evewa have increased
market share and net revenues. Consequently, weaontnue to develop and introduce new genericdpets in a timely and cost-effective manner to namour revenues
and gross margins. We may have fewer opporturtiti¢sunch significant generic products in the fatuas the number and size of proprietary prodbetsare subject to pate
challenges is expected to decrease in the nextadexears compared to historical levels. Additibynahs new competitors enter the market, there beayncreased pricing
pressure on certain products, which may resulbwel gross margins. In addition to our enoxaparadpct, we have experienced significant pricingsptee on many of our
other products, including Cortros$n and we expect this trend to continue in the fitur
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Competition in the generic drug industry has atsmeased due to the proliferation of authorizedegerpharmaceutical products. “Authorized genera® generic
pharmaceutical products that are introduced bydcampanies, either directly or through partneang@ngements with other generic companies. Authdr@generics are
equivalent to the brand companies’ brand name diugsare sold at relatively lower prices thanthend name drugs. An authorized generic producbeamarketed during
the 180-day exclusivity granted to the first matifiser or manufacturers to submit an ANDA with ad@gaph 1V certification for a generic version bétbrand product. The
sale of authorized generics adversely impacts ket share of a generic product that has beenegtdr80-day exclusivity. For example, with resgeadur enoxaparin
product, Sanofi currently markets an authorizedegerenoxaparin product through its subsidiary, #iop. This is a significant source of competitfonus because brand
companies do not face any regulatory barrierstroducing authorized generics of their productd@ese authorized generics may be sold during azlugixity periods, if
any, they can materially decrease the profitsweatould otherwise receive as an exclusive marlatargeneric alternative. Such actions have tfecebf reducing the
potential market share and profitability of our gea products and may inhibit us from developind arroducing generic pharmaceutical products gpoading to certain
brand name drugs.

Such competition can also result from the entrgeferic versions of another product in the samefiwitic class as one of our drugs, or in anotbempeting therapeutic
class, or from the compulsory licensing of our pratd by governments, or from a general weakenirgteflectual property laws in certain countriesward the world.

If the market for a reference brand product, sucls &ovenox®, significantly declines, sales or potential salesafr generic and biosimilar products and productrdidate:
may suffer and our business would be materially iagped.

Proprietary products face competition on numeroost as technological advances are made or nedugi®are introduced. As new products are apprthetccompete with
the reference proprietary product to our generxxipcts and generic or biosimilar product candidatesh as LovendX, which is the reference brand product for our
enoxaparin product, sales of the reference brandusts may be significantly and adversely impaeted may render the reference brand product obsdfeseldition, brand
companies may pursue life cycle management stestegat also impact our generic products.
If the market for a reference brand product is iot@d, we in turn may lose significant market sharearket potential for our generic or biosimilaogucts and product
candidates, and the value for our generic or bi@impipeline could be negatively impacted. As sulg our business, including our financial resaltsl our ability to fund
future discovery and development programs, wouffesu
Health care providers may not be receptive to owogucts, particularly those that incorporate our pprietary drug delivery platforms
The commercial success of our products will dep@mdcceptance by health care providers and othatstich products are clinically effective, affdstdaand safe. Our
products utilizing our proprietary drug delivergimologies may not be accepted by health care geoviand others. Factors that may materially affesrket acceptance of
our products include but are not limited to:

» the relative therapeutic advantages and desatdges of our products compared to competitiveymts;

» the relative timing of commercial launch ofrquoducts compared to competitive products;

» the relative safety and efficacy of our produtompared to competitive products;

» the product labeling approved by the FDA far products and for competing products;

« the willingness of third party payers to reime for our prescription products;

» the willingness of pharmacy chains to stockmew products; and

« the willingness of consumers to pay for owdurcts.
Our products, if successfully developed and comiallydaunched, will compete with both currently rkated products and new products launched in thedby other
companies. Health care providers may not acceptilire some of our products. Physicians and ogfiescribers may not be inclined to prescribe oasgription products
unless our products demonstrate commercially viablentages over other products currently markfetethe same indications. Pharmacy chains may eatibing to stock

certain of our new products, and pharmacists mayetmmmend such products to consumers. Furthesucoers may not be willing to purchase some ofoooducts. If our
products do not achieve market acceptance, we miglyenable to generate significant revenues orrbeqarofitable.
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If we are unable to maintain our group purchasingganization relationships, our revenues could dewiand future profitability could be jeopardize

Many of the existing and potential customers far products have combined to form group purchashggmizations in an effort to lower costs. Groupghasing organizatiot
negotiate pricing arrangements with medical suppnufacturers and distributors, and these negdtjaiees are made available to a group purchasiganizations affiliatec
hospitals and other members. Group purchasing @aons provide endsers access to a broad range of pharmaceuticigofrom multiple suppliers at competitive pri
and, in certain cases, exercise considerable imfliever the drug purchasing decisions of suchuseds. Hospitals and other end-users contractthéiyroup purchasing
organization of their choice for their purchasiregds. We currently derive, and expect to continugetive, our revenue from end-user customersatteatnembers of group
purchasing organizations. Maintaining our strorigtienships with these group purchasing organiratioill require us to continue to be a reliableigy, offer a broad
product line, remain price competitive, comply WiRBA regulations and provide high-quality produ&ihough our group purchasing organization pricaggeements are
typically multi-year in duration, most of them mlag terminated by either party with 60 or 90 dayatice. The group purchasing organizations with Wwhie have
relationships may have relationships with manufiactithat sell competing products, and such grauphasing organizations may earn higher margins titese competing
products or combinations of competing products ay refer products other than ours for other resisiénve are unable to maintain our group purch@gsirganization
relationships, sales of our products and revenutlatecline.

Although we reported net income for fiscal 2013 afisical 2012, we incurred losses for fiscal 20:

We recorded a net loss of $10.7 million for thery@aded December 31, 2014, compared with net inazfr}¢ 1.9 million and $18.1 million for the yeansded December 31,
2013 and 2012, respectively. This loss resultencgally from a decrease in profit sharing revenuieder our profit sharing agreement with Actavis,.) or Actavis, under
which Actavis markets and distributes our enoxapproduct to the retail market in the U.S. We magtmue to incur operating and net losses and negeash flow from
operations. Our business may generate operatisgdde the extent Actavis reports decreased peofils on their determined sales volumes and prtqahiing for
enoxaparin, if we are unable to maintain and exgandelationships with group purchasing organ@agior if we do not successfully commercialize praduct candidates
and generate sufficient revenues to support o@l lefvoperating expenses. Because of the numeiskssand uncertainties associated with our profiring agreement, our
commercialization efforts and future product depefent, we are unable to predict whether we wilabke to achieve and maintain profitability.

Consolidation in the health care industry could ldao demands for price concessions or for the exitun of some suppliers from certain of our marketshich could have
an adverse effect on our business, financial comalit or results of operations.

Because health care costs have risen significamiiyyerous initiatives and reforms by legislaturegulators and third-party payers to curb theséinsseases have resulted in
a trend in the health care industry to consoligateluct suppliers and purchasers. As the healthindustry consolidates, competition among supplieprovide products to
purchasers has become more intense. This in twnesalted and will likely continue to result iregter pricing pressures and the exclusion of ecestappliers from important
market segments as group purchasing organizatimh$asge single accounts continue to use their etgrawer to influence product pricing and purchgslrcisions. As the
U.S. payer market concentrates further and as droigs become available in generic form, biopharmtical companies may face greater pricing pressore private third-
party payers, who will continue to drive more oéithpatients to use lower cost generic alternatiVés drive towards generic alternatives couldeadely affect sales of our
proprietary products and increase competition angergeric manufacturers.

Sales of our products may be adversely affectedhgycontinuing consolidation of our customer bas

A significant proportion of our sales are madediatively few U.S. wholesalers and group purchasirganizations. These customers are continuingnéiergo significant
consolidation. Sales to three of these customerthéyears ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2&8d(#ctively, accounted for approximately 519%8654nd 53% of our
total net revenues, respectively. Such consoliddtas provided and may continue to provide therh adtditional purchasing leverage, and consequemly increase the
pricing pressures that we face. Additionally, theeegence of large buying groups representing inége retail pharmacies, and the prevalence ahdemée of managed c:
organizations and similar institutions, enable ¢hgeoups to extract price discounts on our products

Moreover, we are exposed to a concentration ofitcrist as a result of this concentration among@wstomers. If one or more of our major customgpegenced financial
difficulties, the effect on us would be substanftidiis could have a material adverse effect onboisiness, financial condition and results of openst

Our net sales and quarterly growth comparisons sy be affected by fluctuations in the buying gas$ of retail chains, major distributors and otinede buyers, whether
resulting from seasonality, pricing, wholesaleribgydecisions or other factors. In addition, beesaisignificant portion of our U.S. revenues s\t from relatively few
customers, any financial difficulties experiencedabsingle customer, or any delay in receiving payts from a single customer, could have a matadeérse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of openast

If our business partners do not fulfill their obligtions with respect to our distribution or collabation agreements our revenues and our business suiltfer.
Pursuant to certain distribution or collaboratigmeements, the success of some of our product®dugt candidates also depends on the success obllaboration with our
business partners, who are responsible for ceatgiects of researching, developing, marketingribligtng or commercializing our products or prodoahdidates. If such an

agreement were to be terminated in accordanceititarms, including due to a party’s failure tafpem its obligations or responsibilities under tigreement, revenues could
be delayed or diminished from these products amadexenues and/or profit share for these produmtitdcbe adversely impacted.
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For example, we have a profit sharing agreemerit Aitavis to market and distribute our enoxapardpct to the retail market in the U.S. If Actafads to commit
sufficient resources to market and distribute aodpcts to the retail market, our profit sharingerue from retail sales of enoxaparin could be iItyémpacted.

The revenues we earn and report from our profit shrey agreement with Actavis are subject to their rkating, pricing and reporting practices.

Under the terms of our profit sharing agreementa®is markets and distributes our enoxaparin protuthe retail market in the U.S., we share inghafits from these
activities as reported to us by Actavis. Accordynghe amounts of profit sharing revenues we rezmgeach period are subject to Actavis’ marketpriging and reporting
practices. To the extent Actavis reports varyingfiptevels on their determined sales volumes amdipct pricing, our profit sharing revenue fromaiksales of enoxaparin,
financial position, results of operations and ctslvs could be materially impacted.

We depend upon our key personnel, the loss of whoamld adversely affect our operations. If we fad attract and retain the talent required for our Isiness, our business
could be materially harmed.

We depend to a significant degree on our key manageemployees, including our Chief Executive Gffiand Chief Science Officer, Jack Y. Zhang; CRipkrating Officer
and Chief Scientist, Mary Z. Luo; President, JaBoShandell; Chief Financial Officer and Senior &eresident, William J. Peters; and Corporate BkesWice President of
Operations and President, International Medicaligstems, Ltd., Marilyn J. Purchase. The loss ofises from any of these persons may significanélag or prevent the
achievement of our product development or businbgsctives. Our officers all serve “at will” and we they can terminate their employment with uarat time. We do not
carry key man life insurance on any key person@ieimpetition among pharmaceutical companies forifigellemployees is intense, and the ability toeattiand retain
qualified individuals is critical to our successeWave experienced attrition among our executifieess in the past, although we do not believe thatdepartures of executi
officers have had a materially adverse effect anbmsiness. However, any future loss of key membgaair organization, or any inability to contintgeattract high-quality
employees, may delay or prevent the achievememtagdr business objectives. Our productivity mayabeersely affected if we do not integrate or ti@im new employees
quickly and effectively.

Competition for highly-skilled personnel is ofterténse, especially in Southern California, wherehae a substantial presence and need for heilied personnel. We me
not be successful in attracting, integrating oairehg qualified personnel to fulfill our current future needs. Also, to the extent we hire persbfrom competitors, we may
be subject to allegations that we have impropaslicised, or that they have divulged proprietaryotiner confidential information, or that their faememployers own their
inventions or work product.

Because a portion of our future manufacturing is pected to take place in China, a significant disttign in the construction or operation of our manuturing facility in
China or political unrest in China could materiallyand adversely affect our business, financial cotidin and results of operations.

We intend to invest in the expansion of our manuifdeg facility in China. Any disruption in consttion of the facility or the inability of our maragturing facility in China
to produce adequate quantities of raw materiafsRis to meet our needs, whether as a result ofigalalisaster or other causes, could impair oilitabo operate our
business. Furthermore, since this facility is ledain China, we are exposed to the possibilityrofipct supply disruption and increased costs iretrent of changes in the
policies of the Chinese government, political uhmrunstable economic conditions in China. Theéomatization or other expropriation of private eptéses by the Chinese
government could result in the total loss of oweistment in China. Any of these matters could nigtgrand adversely affect our business and resifltperations. These
interruptions or failures could also impede comnaization of our product candidates and impair coimpetitive position.

We are exposed to risks related to our internatiboaerations and failure to manage these risks megversely affect our operating results and finant@ondition.
We have operations both inside and outside the EbBexample, we have suppliers in Asia and Eurapd,we own manufacturing facilities in Nanjing,i@hand Eragny-sur-
Epte, France. As a result, a significant portiomaf operations are conducted by and/or rely oitiesibutside the markets in which our productssaid, and, accordingly, we
import a substantial number of products into suetnk@ts. We may, therefore, be denied access toustiomers or suppliers or denied the ability te ghibducts from any of
our sites as a result of a closing of the bordéteecountries in which we sell our products,romihich our operations are located, due to econdegslative, political and
military conditions in such countries.
International operations are subject to a numbetiér inherent risks, and our future results cdngdchdversely affected by a number of factorsputioly:
* requirements or preferences for domestic producsslations, which could reduce demand for our pois}

« differing existing or future regulatory and certdition requirement:
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¢ management communication and integration probl@®slting from cultural and geographic dispers
« greater difficulty in collecting accounts receivalaind longer collection perioc
« difficulties in enforcing contract:
« difficulties and costs of staffing and managing -U.S. operations
« the uncertainty of protection for intellectual pesty rights in some countrie
« tariffs and trade barriers, export regulations atieér regulatory and contractual limitations on ability to sell our products

« greater risk of a failure of foreign employees tanply with both U.S. and foreign laws, includingpext and antitrust regulations, the U.S. Foreigmr@ut Practice
Act and any trade regulations ensuring fair tradetices;

« uneven electricity supply that can negatively intpaanufacturing

» heightened risk of unfair or corrupt business pecastin certain geographies and of improper orduent sales arrangements that may impact finamegllts an
result in restatements of, or irregularities inaficial statement

» potentially adverse tax consequences, includingipteland possibly overlapping tax structures;
« political and economic instability, political unteand terrorism

In addition, the expansion of our existing intefoaal operations, including our facility expansioriNanjing, China, and entry into additional intational markets, including
our recent acquisition of a manufacturing businedsragny-sur-Epte, France, have required andaaifitinue to require significant management attengiod financial
resources. These and other factors could harmhilitydo gain future revenues and, consequentlgterially impact our business, operations resultsfanancial condition.

The Chinese government may exert substantial infice over the manner in which we conduct our busieeperations in China.

The Chinese government has exercised, and continweercise, substantial control over virtuallggysector of the Chinese economy through regulaticd state ownershi
Our ability to conduct our proposed manufacturipgrations in China may be harmed by changes Iavts and regulations, including those relatingataation, import and
export tariffs, environmental regulations, land tgéats, property ownership and other matters. \&leebe that our operations in China are in matex@hpliance with all
applicable legal and regulatory requirements. Haxgthe central or local governments of the judgdns in which we operate may impose new, strig¢gulations or
interpretations of existing regulations that woréduire additional expenditures and efforts onparn to ensure our compliance with such regulatmristerpretations.
Accordingly, government actions in the future, irdihg any decision not to continue to support reeeanomic reforms and to return to a more centg@iinned economy or
regional or local variations in the implementatafreconomic policies, could have a significant effen economic conditions in China or particulagioas thereof and could
require us to divest ourselves of any interesthvea thold in Chinese properties or entities, inalgdiur Chinese operating subsidiary, AmphastariNgifharmaceuticals Co.,
Ltd., or ANP.

The Chinese legal system can be uncertain and cdindt the legal protections available to us.

Unlike common law systems, such as the United St#te Chinese legal system is based on writténtetaand decided legal cases have little precedenaiue. Our Chinese
operating subsidiary, ANP, is subject to laws agglitations applicable to foreign investment in @himgeneral and laws and regulations applicabfer&ign invested
enterprises in particular. ANP is also subjectiod and regulations governing the formation andioohof domestic Chinese companies. Relevant Céilzegs, regulations
and legal requirements may change frequently, lagid interpretation and enforcement involve undeti@s. For example, we may have to resort to adsimative and court
proceedings to enforce the legal protections utaleor contract. However, since Chinese administeaand court authorities have significant disanetin interpreting and
implementing statutory and contract terms, it maynore difficult to evaluate the outcome of adntiaisve and court proceedings and our level of legatection in China
compared to other legal systems. Such uncertajmtielsiding the inability to enforce our contraetsd intellectual property rights, could materialyd adversely affect our
business and operations. In addition, confidemyiglfotections in China may not be as effectivénabe U.S. or other countries. Accordingly, futadevelopments in the
Chinese legal system, including the promulgatione# laws, changes to existing laws or the integpi@n or enforcement thereof, or the preemptiolooél requirements by
national laws, could limit the legal protectionsadable to us.

We could be materially and adversely affected tylations of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Aanhd similar worldwide anti-bribery laws.

The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similarldwide anti-bribery laws generally prohibit coampes and their intermediaries from making imprgggrments to non-
U.S. officials for the purpose of obtaining or ietag business. Our policies mandate complianch thiese anti-bribery laws, which often carry subti&h penalties. We are
currently expanding our operation abroad, includirganding our facilities in China, a country whitds experienced governmental and private sectanpton to some
degree, and in certain circumstances, strict canpé with anti-bribery laws may conflict with céntéocal customs and practices. Our internal cdmtadicies and procedures
may not always protect us from reckless or othapjmopriate acts committed by our affiliates, ergpls or agents. Violations of these laws, or atlega of such violations,
could have a material adverse effect on our busjriggncial position and results of operations eadld cause the market value of our common stocietline.
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Movements in foreign currency exchange rates cohlave a material adverse effect on our businessafinial position and results of operations and cowtduse the marke
value of our common stock to decline.

A portion of our revenues, indebtedness and othbilities and our costs are denominated in foregrrencies, including the Chinese Yuan and theBive report our
financial results in U.S. dollars. Our results peaations and, in some cases, cash flows may ifuthee be adversely affected by certain moveminéxchange rates. From
time to time, we may implement currency hedgesiaeel to reduce our exposure to changes in foraigercy exchange rates. However, our hedging giegenay not be
successful, and any of our unhedged foreign exahamgosures will continue to be subject to market@iations. These risks could cause a materisdaaveffect on our
business, financial position and results of operatiand could cause the market value of our constamk to decline.

We may be exposed to product liability claims andynmot be able to obtain or maintain adequate pratiliability insurance.

Our business exposes us to potential product iligbitks, which are inherent in the testing, mamtdiring, marketing and sale of pharmaceutical petsl Product liability
claims might be made by patients, health care geysior others who sell or consume our productssé&ltlaims may be made even with respect to thoskigts that possess
regulatory approval for commercial sale.

Our reputation is the foundation of our relatiopshivith physicians, patients, group purchasing mizgdgions and other customers. If we are unabffeztively manage real
perceived issues that could negatively impact sesrits toward us, our business could suffer. Ouloacusrs may have a number of concerns about theysafeur products
whether or not such concerns have a basis in ggnacaepted science or peer-reviewed scientifseagch. These concerns may be increased by negatilieity, even if the
publicity is inaccurate. Any negative publicity, ather accurate or inaccurate, about the efficaafty or side effects of our products or produ¢egaries, whether involving
us, a competitor or a reference drug, could mdtgrieduce market acceptance of our products, caossumers to seek alternatives to our producss|tran product
withdrawals and cause our stock price to decliregative publicity could also result in an increasathber of product liability claims, whether or rtbése claims have a basis
in scientific fact.

We currently maintain a $10.0 million product lidlyiinsurance policy, which covers Amphastar, n&ional Medication Systems, Ltd., or IMS, and Aragptar France
Pharmaceuticals S.A.S., or AFP products, but csurznce coverage may not reimburse us or may nauffieient to reimburse us for all expenses osésswe may suffer
from any product liability claims. Moreover, insace coverage is becoming increasingly expensiveiarte future, we may not be able to maintairurasce coverage at a
reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts to pratscgainst losses. Large judgments have been edvardlass action lawsuits based on drug prodhetshad unanticipated
side effects. A successful product liability clagmseries of claims brought against us could causetock price to fall and, if judgments exceediogurance coverage, could
decrease our cash and adversely affect our business

If serious adverse events or deaths are identifiethting to any of our products once they are oretmarket, we may be required to withdraw our protkifrom the market
which would hinder or preclude our ability to genate revenues.

We are required to report to relevant regulatotpatities adverse events or deaths associatedowitproduct candidates or approved products. Baseslich events,
regulatory authorities may withdraw their approvafisuch products or take enforcement actions. Vi lbe required to reformulate our products, andmay have to rece
the affected products from the market and may eailile to reintroduce them into the market. Furttoee, our reputation in the marketplace may suHfet we may become
the target of lawsuits, including class actionsgssiAny of these events could harm or prevent s#l¢ise affected products and could have a matadeérse effect upon our
business and financial condition.

Any acquisitions of technologies, products and messes may be difficult to integrate, could advéysafect our relationships with key customers and/could result in
significant charges to earnings

We plan to regularly review potential acquisitiafgechnologies, products and businesses complemetat our business. Acquisitions typically enta#ny risks and could
result in difficulties in integrating operationsrgonnel, technologies and products. If we areahtet to successfully integrate our acquisitionsyweég not obtain the
advantages and synergies that the acquisitions inenmeded to create, which may have a material méveffect on our business, results of operatifimsncial condition and
cash flows, our ability to develop and introducevieroducts and the market price of our stock. ldiah, in connection with acquisitions, we coulkperience disruption in
our business, technology and information systemnstoener or employee base, including diversion ofiag@ment’s attention from our continuing operatidreere is also a
risk that key employees of companies that we aequikey employees necessary to successfully coaiatiee technologies and products that we acquiig seek
employment elsewhere, including with our compesitéturthermore, there may be overlap between agduygts or customers and the companies that we ractpait may
create conflicts in relationships or other committsedetrimental to the integrated businesses. larmgeunable to successfully integrate technologiexjucts, businesses or
personnel that we acquire, we could incur signiftaepairment charges or other adverse financiakequences.

Identifying, executing and realizing attractiveurgis on acquisitions is highly competitive and itves a high degree of uncertainty. We expect t@enter competition for
potential target businesses from both strategicfiaadgicial buyers. Some of these competitors mawéleestablished and have extensive experienaeimtifying and
consummating business combinations. Some of th@spetitors may possess greater technical, humaothed resources than us, and our financial regsuray be
relatively limited when contrasted with those of campetitors. We may lose acquisition opportusitfeve do not match our competitors’ pricing, terand structure criteria
for such acquisitions. If we are forced to matabsthcriteria to make acquisitions, we may not lhe &bachieve acceptable returns on our acquisitaymay bear substantial
risk of capital loss. In addition, target companiegy not be willing to sell assets at valuationschlare attractive to us. Furthermore, the termsunfexisting or future
indebtedness may hinder or prevent us from malkdiitianal acquisitions of technologies, productbosinesses. Because of these factors, we mayeraiilb to consummate
an acquisition on attractive terms, if at all.
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We intend to conduct an extensive due diligencestigation for any business we consider acquitimgnsive due diligence is often time consuming expkensive due to the
operations, finance and legal professionals who beainvolved in the due diligence process. Evemegfconduct extensive due diligence on a targetniessi which we acquire,
we may not identify all material issues that arespnt inside a particular target business. If ardiligence fails to discover or identify mateiigdues relating to a target
business, industry or the environment in whichtérget business operates, we may be forced tovatr-down or write-off assets, restructure thgéd business’s operations
or incur impairment or other charges that couldltdéa losses to us.

Charges to earnings resulting from acquisitions ddihave a material adverse effect on our busind@sancial position and results of operations and gl cause the
market value of our common stock to decline.

Under U.S. generally accepted accounting princjme$SAAP, business combination accounting starsjaxe recognize the identifiable assets acquiteliabilities assume
and any non-controlling interests in acquired congmgenerally at their acquisition date fair valaed, in each case, separately from goodwill. @dbds of the acquisition
date is measured as the excess amount of consiteti@nsferred, which is also generally measutddiavalue, and the net of the acquisition dateants of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. Qumates of fair value are based upon assumptiolisvieel to be reasonable but which are inherentheuain. After we
complete an acquisition, the following factors abresult in material charges and adversely affacoperating results and may adversely affect ashdlows:

. costs incurred to combine the operations of congsamie acquire, such as transitional employee ergeamsd employee retention, redeployment or relon

expenses

. impairment of goodwill or intangible assets, inéhglacquired i-process research and developm

. amortization of intangible assets acquir

. a reduction in the useful lives of intangible assatquired

. identification of or changes to assumed contingjabtlities, including, but not limited to, contiegt purchase price consideration, income tax cgatinies an

other nonincome tax contingencies, after our final deterrigraof the amounts for these contingencies orctireclusion of the measurement period (gene
up to one year from the acquisition date), whicheomes first

. charges to our operating results to eliminate gedaplicative pr-acquisition activities, to restructure our openasi@r to reduce our cost structu
. charges to our operating results resulting fromeesgs incurred to effect the acquisition;
. changes to contingent consideration liabilities|uding accretion and fair value adjustme

A significant portion of these adjustments couldalseounted for as expenses that will decreaseaitincome and earnings per share for the perioddioh those costs are
incurred. Such charges could cause a material selwdfect on our business, financial position arsiliits of operations and could cause the markaewafithe common stock
to decline.

The Affordable Care Act and certain new legislati@md regulatory proposals may increase our costgompliance and negatively impact our profitabiliver time.

In March 2010, President Barack Obama signed tkierR@rotection and Affordable Care Act, as ameolethe Health Care and Education AffordabilitycBeciliation Act,
which we refer to collectively as the Affordabler€act. The Affordable Care Act makes extensiventfes to the delivery of health care in the U.S.akfeect that the rebat
discounts, taxes and other costs resulting fromAfferdable Care Act over time will have a negateféect on our expenses and profitability in theufa. Furthermore, the
Independent Payment Advisory Board created by tifierdable Care Act to reduce the per capita ratgroWwth in Medicare spending could potentially imccess to certain
treatments or mandate price controls for our prteliMoreover, expanded government investigativeaity and increased disclosure obligations mayease the cost of
compliance with new regulations and programs.

Congress has also proposed a number of legislaiiatives, including possible repeal of the Affiable Care Act. At this time, it remains unclearetiter there will be any

changes made to the Affordable Care Act, whetheettain provisions or its entirety. In additionnge details regarding the implementation of theoAfable Care Act are yet
to be determined, and, at this time, the full effeat the Affordable Care Act would have on ousibess remains unclear.
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In addition, other legislative changes have beep@sed and adopted since the Affordable Care Astemacted. For example, on August 2, 2011, thede@missigned into lav
the Budget Control Act of 2011, which, among oftiéngs, created the Joint Select Committee on ReRieduction to recommend proposals in spendingatains to
Congress. As a result of the failure of the Jorle&t Committee to propose, and of Congress totedeficit reduction measures of at least $1.8drilfor the years 2013
through 2021, the Budget Control Act provides fotoanatic cuts to be made to most federal governmpeagrams, which, with respect to Medicare, woulclude aggregate
reductions to Medicare payments to providers ofoup% per fiscal year, starting in 2013. Pursuarthe American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, whichsrenacted by
Congress on January 1, 2013, the imposition oktla@somatic cuts began April 1, 2013. In addititve, new law, among other things, reduces Medicgratient payment
amounts to hospitals and increases the statutmipétions for recovering overpayments from threauns to five years. The full impact on our busingfshis new law,
assuming it is implemented, is uncertain. Nor idéar whether other legislative changes will bepadd or how such changes would affect the demamnadur products.

In addition, there have been a number of otheslative and regulatory proposals aimed at chantfiagppharmaceutical industry. In particular, Califiarhas enacted
legislation that requires development of an elegtrpedigree to track and trace each prescriptiag dt the saleable unit level through the distidousystem. California’s
electronic pedigree requirement is scheduled te &dfect in January 2015. Compliance with Califarand future federal or state electronic pedigegeirements may incree
our operational expenses and impose significaniradirative burdens. As a result of these and otieev proposals, we may determine to change ouecumanner of
operation, provide additional benefits or changeamntract arrangements, any of which could haneaterial adverse effect on our business, finarmmabition and results of
operations.

President Barack Obama also signed into law thel Boo Drug Administration Safety and Innovation Aldte new law and related agreements make sevgréficant
changes to the FFDCA and FDA's processes for ramngwarketing applications that could have a sigaift impact on the pharmaceutical industry, intilgdamong other
things, the following:

. reauthorizes the Prescription Drug User Fee Aciclvincreases the amount of associated user fedsfa certain types of applications, increasesetkpecte
time frame for FDA review of new drug applications,NDAS;

. permanently reauthorizes and makes some revismtiset Best Pharmaceuticals for Children Act andRkeiatric Research Equity Act, which provide
pediatric exclusivity and mandated pediatric agresss for certain types of applications, respebtiv

. revises certain standards and requirements for IfBpections of manufacturing facilities and the artption of drug products from foreign countri

. creates incentives for the development of certatibatic drug products

. modifies the standards for accelerated approveédiin new medical treatmen

. expands the reporting requirements for potentidlaotual drug shortage

. requires the FDA to issue a report on, among dtfiegs, ensuring the safety of prescription drugg have the potential for abu:

. requires the FDA to hold a public meeting regardhmgpotential rescheduling of drug products catg hydrocodone, which was held in October 2012}
. requires electronic submission of certain markeéipglications following the issuance of final FDégulations
The full impact on our business of the new lawsrisertain; however, we anticipate that it will hareadverse effect on our results of operations.

Additionally, we encounter similar regulatory argjislative issues in most other countries. In theogean Union, or EU, and some other internatiomealkets, the governme
provides health care at low cost to consumers egdlates pharmaceutical prices, patient eligibdityeimbursement levels to control costs for theegnment-sponsored
health care system. This international system icemegulations may lead to inconsistent prices.

If significant additional reforms are made to th&Uhealth care system, or to the health caremgstd other markets in which we operate, thoserme$ccould have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial postiod results of operations and could cause the maakee of our common stock to decline.

Global macroeconomic conditions may negatively atfes and may magnify certain risks that affect obusiness.

Our business is sensitive to general economic ¢iongj both inside and outside the U.S. Slower gll@zonomic growth, credit market crises, high lewé unemployment,
reduced levels of capital expenditures, governrdefitit reduction, sequestration and other austenigasures and other challenges affecting the bésimmomy adversely
affect us and our distributors, customers and seispllt is uncertain how long these effects valtl or whether economic and financial trends wailisen or improve. Such
uncertain economic times may have a material adweffect on our revenues, results of operationgnitial condition and, if circumstances worsen,ahility to raise capital
at reasonable rates. If slower growth in the glasanomy or in any of the markets we serve con$ifiaea significant period, if there is significateterioration in the global
economy or such markets or if improvements in flob@ economy don'’t benefit the markets we serve bhaisiness and financial statements could be adhleaffected.
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Additionally, as a result of the current or a fetglobal economic downturn, our third-party payees delay or be unable to satisfy their reimbursgrbligations. Sales of
our principal products are dependent, in parthenavailability and extent of reimbursement froindtparty payers, including government programshsag Medicare and
Medicaid and private payer healthcare and insurpnograms. A reduction in the availability or extefireimbursement from government and/or privatggs healthcare
programs could have a material adverse effect esales of our products, our business and redutisesations.

Current economic conditions may adversely affeetahility of our distributors, customers, suppliansl service providers to obtain the liquidity riegd to pay for our
products, or otherwise to buy necessary inventonaw materials, and to perform their obligatiomsler agreements with us, which could disrupt o@ratons, and could
negatively impact our business and cash flow. Alftowe make efforts to monitor these third partfesincial condition and their liquidity, our alijlito do so is limited, and
some of them may become unable to pay their Inils imely manner, or may even become insolvenighwvbould negatively impact our business and resafloperations.
These risks may be elevated with respect to oeraations with third parties with substantial operas in countries where current economic condgiare the most severe,
particularly where such third parties are themseksposed to sovereign risk from business interastiirectly with fiscally-challenged governmeny@es.

At the same time, significant changes and volgtilitthe financial markets, in the consumer andriess environment, in the competitive landscapeimuide global political
and security landscape make it increasingly diffifar us to predict our revenues and earnings théofuture. As a result, any revenue or earninggdamnce or outlook which
we have given or might give may be overtaken bynesseor may otherwise turn out to be inaccuratautih we endeavor to give reasonable estimateswfuevenues and
earnings at the time we give such guidance, basebem-current conditions, there is a significask that such guidance or outlook will turn outt, or to have been,
incorrect.

Significant balances of intangible assets, includjgoodwill, are subject to impairment testing andaynresult in impairment charges, which may matetiahnd adversel
affect our results of operations and financial coitin.

A significant amount of our total assets is relatedoodwill and intangible assets. As of Decen8ier2014 the value of our goodwill and intangibésets net of accumulated
amortization was $42.6 million. Goodwill and otletangible assets are tested for impairment anpudien events occur or circumstances change thad potentially reduc
the fair value of the reporting unit or intangilalgset. Impairment testing compares the fair valukeeoreporting unit or intangible asset to itsrgarg amount. For example, for
the year ended December 31, 2012 we had an impaticharge of $2.1 million primarily related to eguient for a production project that was suspendeg.future goodwil
or other intangible asset impairment, if any, wdoddrecorded in operating income and could havatmal adverse effect on our results of operatansfinancial condition.

Our outstanding loan agreements contain restrictigevenants that may limit our operating flexibility

Our loan agreements are collateralized by subsigndill of our presently existing and subsequeatiguired personal property assets, and subjdoteestain affirmative and
negative covenants, including limitations on ouitighto transfer or dispose of assets, merge witlacquire other companies, make investments, pégethds, incur
additional indebtedness and liens and conductdcimns with affiliates. We are also subject td@ercovenants that require us to maintain cefftaamcial ratios and are
required under certain conditions to make mandgtoepayments of outstanding principal. As a restithese covenants and ratios, we have certaitaiifons on the manner
in which we can conduct our business, and we mag$teicted from engaging in favorable businesiitiets or financing future operations or capiteleds until our current
debt obligations are paid in full or we obtain temsent of our lenders, which we may not be abtbtain. We may not be able to generate suffiagtash flow or revenue to
meet the financial covenants or pay the principal iaterest on our debt. In addition, upon the omnce of an event of default, our lenders, amahgrahings, can declare .
indebtedness due and payable immediately, whicHdremlversely impact our liquidity and reduce thaikability of our cash flows to fund working caditeeeds, capital
expenditures and other general corporate purpésesvent of default includes our failure to pay @myount due and payable under the loan agreentkatsccurrence of a
material adverse change in our business as definbé loan agreements, our breach of any covanghe loan agreements, subject to a grace pemisdme cases, or an
involuntary insolvency proceeding. Additionallyleander could exercise its lien on substantiallyoélbur assets and our future working capital, @aings or equity financing
may not be available to repay or refinance any sledh.

As a public company, we are obligated to develog amintain adequate internal controls and be abta an annual basis, to provide an assertion ashe effectiveness ¢
such controls. Failure to maintain adequate interhaontrols or to implement new or improved contraieuld have a material adverse effect on our busiagfinancial
position and results of operations and could cauke market value of our common stock to declil

Ensuring that we have adequate internal financidlaccounting controls and procedures in placéaowe can produce accurate financial statemenéstionely basis is a
costly and time-consuming effort. Our internal cohover financial reporting is designed to proviéasonable assurance regarding the reliabilifinahcial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements in accordanite @AAP. We are in the very early stages of thstiyoand challenging process of compiling the sysgad processing
documentation necessary to perform the evaluat@ded to comply with Section 404 of the SarbanegyOXct of 2002. We may not be able to completeexaluation,
testing and any required remediation in a timeghfan. During the evaluation and testing procdsseiidentify one or more material weaknesses inimternal control over
financial reporting, we will be unable to assesrttbur internal controls are effective.
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If we are unable to assert that our internal cdrtver financial reporting is effective, we coulzke investor confidence in the accuracy and compésts of our financial
reports, which would cause the price of our commstmek to decline, and we may be subject to invastg or sanctions by the Securities and Exchargrerfiission, or SEC.

We are required to disclose changes made in oemmiak control and procedures on a quarterly bafsever, our independent registered public accagrfirm will not be
required to report on the effectiveness of ourrimaécontrol over financial reporting pursuant &c8on 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act until therlaethe year following our
first annual report required to be filed with the@ or the date we are no longer an “emerging drmetpany” as defined in the JOBS Act if we takeaadage of the
exemptions contained in the JOBS Act. At such timg,independent registered public accounting finay issue a report that is adverse in the evésnniot satisfied with the
level at which our controls are documented, desigimeoperating. Our remediation efforts may nottdé@ais to avoid a material weakness in the future.

Additionally, to comply with the requirements ofibg a public company, we may need to undertakeouaractions, such as implementing new internalroand procedure
and hiring accounting or internal audit staff, whimay adversely affect our operating results amanftial condition.

There are inherent uncertainties involved in estitea, judgments and assumptions used in the preparabf financial statements in accordance with GAARny future
changes in estimates, judgments and assumptionglumenecessary revisions to prior estimates, judgtseor assumptions or changes in accounting standsucould lead t
a restatement or revision to previously consolidafeancial statements, which could have a materaverse effect on our business, financial positiand results of
operations and could cause the market value of @@mmon stock to decline.

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith GAAP requires management to make estimatesassumptions that affect the amounts reportéticonsolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes. We daisestimates on historical experience and oiowsiother assumptions that we believe to be redderunder the
circumstances, as discussed in greater detaikiséhtion titled “Management’s Discussion and Asialyf Financial Condition and Results of Operatiahe results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the @gagryalues of assets and liabilities that are patlily apparent from other sources. Our operagsglts may be adversely
affected if our assumptions change or if actualuitstances differ from those in our assumptionschivbould cause our operating results to fall betbevexpectations of
securities analysts and investors, resulting irdide in our stock price. Significant assumptians estimates used in preparing our consolidateahéial statements include
those related to revenue recognition, provisionstbolesaler chargebacks, accruals for productmstwaluation of inventory, impairment of intangibland long-lived assets,
accounting for income taxes and share-based corafiensFurthermore, although we have recorded vesdor litigation related contingencies based stimeates of probable
future costs, such litigation related contingenciesld result in substantial further costs. Alsaoy aew or revised accounting standards may reguijgstments to previously
issued financial statements. Any such changes aesldt in corresponding changes to the amounliglafities, revenues, expenses and income. Any shanges could have
a material adverse effect on our business, finapoisition and results of operations and could eghs market value of our common stock to decline.

Changes in financial accounting standards or presttan have a significant effect on our reporésdlts and may even affect our reporting of tratisas completed before
the change is effective. New accounting pronouncesnand varying interpretations of accounting prorc@ments have occurred and may occur in the futiranges to
existing rules or the questioning of current preedimay adversely affect our business and finanesailts.

Changes in income tax laws, tax rulings and otherctors may have a significantly adverse impact arr effective tax rate and tax expense, which coblave a material
adverse effect on our business, financial positiand results of operations and could cause the mankalue of our common stock to decline.

Potential changes to income tax laws in the U.@ude measures which would defer the deductiontefést expense related to deferred income; deterthe foreign tax
credit on a pooling basis; tax currently excessrret associated with transfers of intangibles affshand limit earnings stripping by expatriateditezs. In addition, proposals
were made to encourage manufacturing in the Lh8lyding reduced rates of tax and increased deshgtielated to manufacturing. We cannot determinetier these
proposals will be modified or enacted, whether pireposals unknown at this time will be made @r é¢ixtent to which the corporate tax rate mightdskiced and ameliorate
the adverse impact of some of these proposalsalfted, and depending on its precise terms, sgi$iddon could materially increase our overalkeeffve income tax rate and
income tax expense. This could have a materialragdweffect on our business, financial position gesiilts of operations and could cause the markeéaf our common
stock to decline.

In addition to income taxes in the U.S. we are scttjo income taxes in many foreign jurisdictioBgnificant judgment is required in determining etarldwide provision for
income taxes. In the ordinary course of businémsetare many transactions and calculations wheraltimate tax determination is uncertain. Thalfgletermination of any
tax audits or related litigation could be mateyiaifferent from our historical income tax provis®and accruals.

Additionally, increases in our effective tax rateaaresult of a change in the mix of earnings imtdes with differing statutory tax rates, changesur overall profitability,
changes in the valuation of deferred tax assetdialnidities, the results of audits and the exartioraof previously filed tax returns by various itag authorities and continuing
assessments of our tax exposures could impactruiabilities and affect our income tax expenskicl could have a material adverse effect on osimass, financial
position and results of operations and could c#usenarket value of our common stock to decline.
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Counterfeit versions of our products could harm opatients and reputation.

Our industry has been increasingly challenged bytiinerability of distribution channels to illegadunterfeiting and the presence of counterfeitipots in a growing number
of markets and over the Internet. Counterfeit potslare frequently unsafe or ineffective, and capdtentially life-threatening. To distributors guatients, counterfeit
products may be visually indistinguishable from #iuthentic version. Reports of adverse reactiom®tmterfeit drugs or increased levels of counitnfi could materially
affect patient confidence in the authentic prodant harm the business of companies such as odditignally, it is possible that adverse eventssesliby unsafe counterfeit
products would mistakenly be attributed to the anttt product. If a product of ours was the subjdatounterfeits, we could incur substantial refiateal and financial harm
in the longer term.

Our business and operations would suffer in the avef system failures.

Despite the implementation of security measuresjrdarnal computer systems are vulnerable to danfiamgn computer viruses, unauthorized access, aladigasters,
terrorism, war and telecommunication and electfiaédires. Any system failure, accident or secubitgach that causes interruptions in our operationdd result in a material
disruption of our product development programs. &@mple, the loss of clinical trial data from cdeted clinical trials could result in delays in oegulatory approval effor
and significantly increase our costs to recovareproduce the data. To the extent that any dissopif security breach results in a loss or damageit data or applications, or
inappropriate disclosure of confidential or profarg information, we may incur liability and therflaer development of our product candidates magdbayed.

In addition, we rely on complex information techmgy systems, including Internet-based systemsyppart our supply chain processes as well as iatenmd external
communications. The size and complexity of ouresyst make them potentially vulnerable to breakdominterruption, whether due to computer virusestber causes that
may result in the loss of key information or thepairment of production and other supply chain psses. Such disruptions and breaches of security edwersely affect our
business.

We or the third parties upon whom we depend mayabeersely affected by earthquakes or other natudedasters and our business continuity and disas&tovery plans
may not adequately protect us from a serious disast

The facilities we use for our headquarters, lalmyaand research and development activities a@dakin earthquake-prone areas of California. Aifigant percentage of the
facilities we use for our manufacturing, packagwgrehousing, distribution and administration affiare also located in these areas. Earthquakekesrnatural disasters
could severely disrupt our operations, and haveterial adverse effect on our business, resultgpefations, financial condition and prospects.riatural disaster, power
outage or other event occurred that preventedams €rsing all or a significant portion of our fatiéis, that damaged critical infrastructure, sucbasmanufacturing facilities,
or that otherwise disrupted operations, it may iffecdlt or, in certain cases, impossible for usctintinue our business for a substantial perioihoé. The disaster recovery
and business continuity plans we have in placeeatisr are limited and are unlikely to prove adequatthe event of a serious disaster or similanew&/’e may incur
substantial expenses as a result of the limitedreatf our disaster recovery and business congimpléns.

Risks Relating to Regulatory Matters

The FDA approval process is time-consuming and cditgtted, and we may not obtain the FDA approval tegd for a product within the timeline we desirer at all.
Additionally, we may lose FDA approval and/or ourquucts may become subject to foreign regulatio

The development, testing, manufacturing, markegimd sale of generic and proprietary pharmaceyticalucts and biological products are subject temsitie federal, state
and local regulation in the U.S. and other coustr&atisfaction of all regulatory requirements, ahhtiypically takes years for drugs that have t@pgroved in ANDAs, NDAs
biological license applications, or BLAS, or biodan applications is dependent upon the type, cexipt and novelty of the product candidate and meguthe expenditure of
substantial resources for research (including fjoation of suppliers and their supplied materiativelopment, in vitro and in vivo (including ndinical and clinical trials)
studies, manufacturing process development and esoiahscale up. All of our products are subjeatampliance with the FFDCA and/or the Public He&#rvice Act, or
PHSA, and with the FDA’s implementing regulatioRailure to adhere to applicable statutory or refgmarequirements by us or our business partnerddvoave a material
adverse effect on our operations and financial itimmd In addition, in the event we are successfudeveloping product candidates for distributionl @ale in other countries,
we would become subject to regulation in such atemtSuch foreign regulations and product approaglirements are expected to be time consumingapensive as well.
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We may encounter delays or agency rejections daniygstage of the regulatory review and approvetess based upon a variety of factors, includirthaut limitation the
failure to provide clinical data demonstrating cdiapce with the FDA'’s requirements for safety, efity and quality. Those requirements may become stongent prior to
submission of our applications for approval or dgrihe review of our applications due to changdahénaw or changes in FDA policy or the adoptiomew regulations.
After submission of an application, the FDA mayussf to file the application, deny approval of tpelecation or require additional testing or dataeTFDA can convene an
Advisory Committee to assist the FDA in examinipgagific issues related to the application. In Fabyl2014, the FDA held a joint meeting of its Nagguription Drugs
Advisory Committee and its Pulmonary Allergy Drufgdvisory Committee, which we refer to as the Conteeit to discuss the NDA for Primatehblist HFA. The
Committee voted 14 to 10 that the data in the NDpp®rted efficacy, but voted 17 to 7 that safetyf hat been established for the intended over-theves use. The
Committee also voted 18 to 6 that the product didhave a favorable risk-benefit profile for théeinded over-the-counter use, and individual Conemithembers provided
recommendations for resolving their concerns. Altgtothe FDA is not required to follow the recommatimhs of its advisory committees, it usually dd@s.May 22, 2014,
we received a CRL from the FDA, which requires &iddal non-clinical information, label revisionsdafollow-up studies (label comprehension, behaviara actual use) to
assess consumers’ ability to use the device céyrecsupport approval of the product in the ovee-tounter setting. Additionally, in the CRL foriRatene® Mist HFA, the
FDA noted current Good Manufacturing Practices;®MP, deficiencies in a recent inspection of out lpplier's manufacturing facility, which produceginephrine, and
indicated that our NDA could not be approved uthiise issues were resolved. Subsequent to th@tret¢éhe CRL, the supplier notified us that theMi&deficiencies were
satisfactorily resolved and accordingly, we beliéhie condition for approval has been satisfied. mé with the FDA in October 2014 to discuss préiany data results and
to clarify the FDA requirements for further studi¥ge are in the process of generating the remaidatig required by the CRL and plan to submit an Nibdendment that we
believe will address the FDA’s concerns. Howeueeré can be no guarantee that any amendment td@&mwill result in timely approval of the product epproval at all.

Under various user fee enactments, the FDA has dthethto timelines for its review of NDAs, ANDAs LB\s and biosimilar applications. However, the FDAilselines
described in its guidance on these statutes ariblideeand subject to changes based on workload#ret potential review issues that may delay th&'EDeview of an
application. Further, the terms of approval of applications may be more restrictive than our etgteans and could affect the marketability of omgucts.

The FDA also has the authority to revoke or susgagpdovals of previously approved products for eats debar companies and individuals from paritig in the approval
process for ANDAS, to request recalls of allegedblative products, to seize allegedly violativegucts, to obtain injunctions that may, among othegs, close
manufacturing plants that are not operating in confty with cGMP and stop shipments of potentiaiiglative products and to prosecute companies adiiduals for
violations of the FFDCA. In the event that the FExkes any such action relating to our productsrodipct candidates, such actions would have a raagadiverse effect on ¢
operations and financial condition.

Clinical failure can occur at any stage of clinicalevelopment. The results of earlier clinical triabre not necessarily predictive of future resudtisd any product candidate
we advance through clinical trials may not have faable results in later clinical trials or receiveegulatory approval.

Clinical failure can occur at any stage of our iciith development. Clinical trials may produce negabr inconclusive results, and we may decideegulators may require us,
to conduct additional clinical trials or preclinicdudies. In addition, data obtained from trialsl &tudies are susceptible to varying interpretatiand regulators may not
interpret our data as favorably as we do, which oelgy, limit or prevent regulatory approval. Sies@ preclinical studies and early clinical tridses not ensure that
subsequent clinical trials will generate the samsimilar results or otherwise provide adequate datdemonstrate the efficacy and safety of a prbdandidate. A number of
companies in the pharmaceutical industry, includimase with greater resources and experience thamawe suffered significant setbacks in PhasenRal trials, even after
seeing promising results in earlier clinical trials

In addition, the design of a clinical trial can el@hine whether its results will support approvahgfroduct and flaws in the design of a cliniciltmay not become apparent
until the clinical trial is well-advanced. Furthetfinical trials of potential products often revéfat it is not practical or feasible to continuevdlopment efforts. If any of our
product candidates are found to be unsafe or Iffiiaey, we will not be able to obtain regulatonypeoval for them and our business would be harmed.

In some instances, there can be significant vditiain safety and/or efficacy results between eliént trials of the same product candidate dueitoanous factors, including
changes in trial protocols, differences in composibf the patient populations, adherence to trendpregimen and other trial protocols and the odtgropout among clinical
trial participants. Our clinical trials may not denstrate consistent or adequate efficacy and safaiptain regulatory approval to market our pradiandidates. If we are
unable to bring any of our current or future pradtandidates to market, or to acquire any marketezljiously approved products, our ability to ceslang-term stockholder
value will be limited.

If clinical studies for our product candidates anensuccessful or significantly delayed, we will beable to meet our anticipated development and conuiadization
timelines, which would have an adverse impact oursimess.

Some of our new drug candidates must be approvBiDifss based on clinical studies demonstrating gedatl/or effectiveness. For these types of studiesely on our
investigational teams, who mainly are medical etgpenrking in multicenter hospitals, to execute sturdy protocols with our product candidates. Assult, we have less
control over our development program than if weenterperform the studies entirely on our own. Tiuigdtties may not perform their responsibilitiesading to our
anticipated schedule. Delays in our developmengnaras could significantly increase our product dgweent costs and delay product commercialization.
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The commencement of clinical trials on our prodtantdidates may be delayed for several reasonsding but not limited to delays in demonstratinéfisient pre-clinical
safety required to obtain regulatory clearanceotmmence a clinical trial, reaching agreements aeiable terms with prospective contract researghrizations, clinical
trial sites and licensees, manufacturing and guabsurance release of a sufficient supply of dyerbcandidate for use in our clinical trials, gslén recruiting sufficient
subjects for a clinical trial and/or obtaining ihstional review board approval to conduct a clalitrial at a prospective clinical site. Once aicil trial has begun, it may be
delayed, suspended or terminated by us or by regylauthorities for a variety of reasons, inclugimithout limitation ongoing discussions with regtary authorities
regarding the scope or design of our clinical ¢rial determination by us or regulatory authoritied continuing a trial presents an unreasonaldéithesk to participants,
failure to conduct clinical trials in accordancelwiegulatory requirements, lower than anticipatstuitment or retention rate of patients in claitrials, inspection of the
clinical trial operations or trial sites by regwat authorities, the imposition of a clinical hdig the FDA, lack of adequate funding to continuricél trials and/or negative or
unanticipated results of clinical trials.

Patient enrollment, a significant factor in theeinequired to complete a clinical study, is affddby many factors, including the size and naturthefstudy subject populatio
the proximity of patients to clinical sites, theg@ility criteria for the study, the design of teknical study, competing clinical studies andhidians’ and patients’ perceptions
as to the potential advantages of the drug beindjed in relation to available alternatives, inéhgdwithout limitation therapies being investigatedother companies. Furth
completion of a clinical study and/or the resulta elinical study may be adversely affected byuf@ to retain subjects who enroll in a study bithdraw due to, among other
things, adverse side effects, lack of efficacy,iowement in condition before treatment has beenpbeted or for personal issues or who fail to retiamor complete post-
treatment follow-up.

Changes in governmental regulations and guidariaéng to clinical studies may occur and we maydeeamend study protocols to reflect these charigi@tocol
amendments may require us to resubmit protocdlsstdutional review boards for reexamination onegotiate terms with contract research organizatéord study sites and
investigators, all of which may adversely impae tosts or timing of or our ability to successfudtymplete a trial.

Clinical trials required by the FDA for approval @dir products may not produce the results we neeablve forward in product development or to sulwnivbtain approval of
an NDA. Success in pre-clinical testing and eahgge clinical trials does not assure that late ghhsical trials will be successful. Even if thesults of any future Phase 3
clinical trials are positive, we may have to comsubstantial time and additional resources to confiluther pre-clinical and clinical studies befeve can submit NDAs or
obtain FDA approval for our product candidates.

Clinical trials are expensive and at times difftdol design and implement, in part because theguabgect to rigorous regulatory requirements. Fenmth participating subjects
or patients in clinical studies suffer drug-relagetverse reactions during the course of such toalg we or the FDA believes that participatinatipnts are being exposed to
unacceptable health risks, we may suspend thealitrials. Failure can occur at any stage of tiadst and we could encounter problems that woaldgse us to abandon
clinical trials and/or require additional clinicstudies relating to a product candidate.

Even if our clinical trials and laboratory testingre completed as planned, their results may faijpi@vide support for approval of our products orrftabel claims that will
make our products commercially viable.

Positive results in nonclinical testing and eatiyage clinical studies do not ensure that late pbiaseal studies will be successful or that ounguct candidates will be
approved by the FDA. To obtain FDA approval of puwprietary product candidates, we must demonstinateigh nonclinical testing and clinical studikatteach product is
safe and effective for each proposed indicatiomtHeu, clinical study results frequently are susitdp to varying interpretations. Medical professads, investors and/or
regulatory authorities may analyze or weigh studtadiifferently than we do. In addition, determithe value of clinical data typically requires Bpgtion of assumptions
and extrapolations to raw data. Alternative methogies may lead to differing conclusions, includinigh respect to the safety or efficacy of our prodcandidates.

In addition, if we license to third parties rigtsdevelop our product candidates in other geodcagteas or for other indications, we may havetkahicontrol over nonclinical
testing or clinical studies that may be conductgduxh third-party licensees in those territoriefoo those indications. If data from third-pargsting identifies a safety or
efficacy concern, such data could adversely affector another licensee’s development of such produ

There is significant risk that our products cowdd fo show anticipated results in nonclinical iegtand/or clinical studies and, as a result, wg elact to discontinue the
development of a product for a particular indicatir altogether. A failure to obtain requisite risgory approvals or to obtain approvals of the scamuested may delay or
preclude us from marketing our products or limé& tommercial use of the products, and would havaterial adverse effect on our business, finam@adition and results ¢
operations.

The novel use of HFA for any of our product canditiss, or any of our other product candidates requigi novel particle engineering, may not receive réaory approval,
and without regulatory approval we will not be abie market our product candidates.

We are engaging in particle engineering for cerpaogduct candidates, including and especially #eaf HFA for our PrimaterféMist HFA product candidate. With respect
to Primaten& Mist HFA, we have chosen to develop a formulatibthe product candidate that will use HFAs as gphant because of an FDA-mandated phase-out gfsdru
utilizing CFCs as propellants. Although HFAs haeeih used in other settings, using HFAs as a piengéh an epinephrine inhalation product is a nasg, and there is no
guarantee that we will obtain regulatory approvalupon commercialization, market acceptance af phoduct. In addition to Primatefidlist HFA, we are similarly engagil
in particle engineering for additional product calades and, similarly, there is no guarantee tretwill obtain regulatory approval or, upon commalieation, market
acceptance of these products.
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The development of a product candidate and is®lasng to its approval and marketing are subjeebttensive regulations by the FDA in the U.S. egglilatory authorities
other countries, with regulations differing fromueary to country. We are not permitted to marketpnoduct candidates in the U.S. until we recejperaval of an NDA from
the FDA. NDA approvals may require extensive precél and clinical data and supporting informatiorestablish the product candidate’s safety anetéffeness for each
desired indication. NDAs must include significamformation regarding the chemistry, manufacturind eontrols for the product. Obtaining approvadnfNDA is a lengthy,
expensive and uncertain process, and we may nadiessful in obtaining approval. If we submit abA\to the FDA, the FDA must decide whether to at@epeject the
submission for filing. Any submissions may not loeepted for filing and review by the FDA. Even ipaduct is approved, the FDA may limit the indioas for which the
product may be marketed, require extensive warnimghe product labeling or require additional exgiee and time-consuming post-approval clinicalrior reporting as
conditions of approval. Regulators of other cowstrnd jurisdictions have their own proceduresfgroval of product candidates with which we mashply prior to
marketing in those countries or jurisdictions. Qtiteg regulatory approval for marketing of a proticandidate in one country does not necessarilyrerthat we will be able
to obtain regulatory approval in any other country.

In addition, delays in approvals or rejections @frketing applications in the U.S. or other coustrigay be based upon many factors, including regylaequests for
additional analyses, reports, data, preclinicalissiand clinical trials, regulatory questions relgey different interpretations of data and resudts®anges in regulatory policy
during the period of product development and thergence of new information regarding our producididates or other products. Also, regulatory aparéer any of our
product candidates may be withdrawn.

We also have plans to develop synthetic APIs. Ggioing trials and studies may not be successfrégulators may not agree with our conclusions miggrthe preclinical
studies and clinical trials we have conducted te da approve the use of such synthetic APIs.

If we are unable to obtain approval from the FDAotirer regulatory agencies for our product canéslat synthetic APIs, we will not be able to markath product
candidates and our ability to achieve profitabifitgy be materially impaired.

The commercial success of our NDA product candidatell depend in significant measure on the labéhitns that the FDA approves for such products.

The scientific foundation of our NDA products wik based on our various proprietary technologiestlam commercial success of these product candigétiedepend in
significant measure upon our ability to obtain FBgproval of labeling describing such products’ extpd features or benefits. Failure to achieve Fppraval of product
labeling containing adequate information on featumebenefits will prevent or substantially limitroadvertising and promotion of such features geotto differentiate our
proprietary technologies from those products thratay exist in the market. This failure would havmaterial adverse impact on our business.

Our ANDA products are also subject to FDA appradaheir labeling.

Even if we are able to obtain regulatory approvakfour generic products, state pharmacy boards tate agencies may conclude that our products aré sigbstitutable a
the pharmacy level for the reference listed dru§our generic products are not substitutable at thearmacy level for their reference listed drughjg could materially
reduce sales of our products and our business waosliffer.

Although the FDA may determine that a generic pobditherapeutically equivalent to a brand prodanat indicate this therapeutic equivalence by gliog it with an “A”
rating in the FDA's Orange Book, this designatismoét binding on state pharmacy boards or stateciege As a result, in states that do not deenpmduct candidates
substitutable at the pharmacy level, physicians besequired to specifically prescribe our produca generic product alternative in order for otgduct to be dispensed.
Should this occur with respect to one of our genproduct candidates, it could materially redudessin those states, which would substantially haumbusiness.

Our investments in biosimilar products may not rdsin products that are approved by the FDA or ottfereign regulatory authorities and, even if appved by such
authorities, may not result in commercially succéssproducts.

We plan to build on our existing platforms to prodibiosimilar products in the future. In 2010, Casy amended the PHSA to create an abbreviatedagpathway for
follow-on biologics. This approval pathway is aedile for “biosimilar” products, which are produtitsit are highly similar to previously approved bigits notwithstanding
minor differences in inactive components. The pssder bringing a biosimilar product to market rcartain and may be drawn out for an extended gerfidcime. The FDA
has not yet promulgated regulations governingghi€ess and only one biosimilar application has\®gproved to date. Approval of biosimilar applicas may be delayed
by exclusivity on the BLA for the reference prodémt up to twelve years. Biosimilar applicants ateo subjected to a patent resolution processatifiaiequire biosimilar
applicants to share the contents of their appboatind information concerning its manufacturinggesses with counsel for the company holding the BirAhe reference
drug and to engage in a patent litigation prockeasdould delay or prevent the commercial launch pfoduct for many years.
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Biosimilar products are not presumed to be suliatite for the reference drug under the BiologidseP€ompetition and Innovation Act, or BPCIA. Biwslar applicants mus
seek a separate FDA determination that they atertthangeable” with the reference drug, meaningttiey can be expected to produce the same clirgsalt in any given
patient without an increase in risk due to switghfiom the brand product. The statutory standasdsiétermining biosimilarity and interchangeabikiye broad and uncertain,
and the FDA has broad discretion to determine #tara and extent of product characterization, riniwall testing and clinical testing on a productfmpduct basis.

Products approved based on biosimilarity withouFBx determination of interchangeability may notdudbstitutable at the retail pharmacy level. Sotates have passed
laws limiting pharmacy substitution to biosimilaoducts that the FDA has determined to be intergbahle, as well as restrictions on the substitutiointerchangeable
biosimilar products. These restrictions includepamother things, requirements for informing thégya and the prescribing physician of the substituor proposed
substitution, authority for the prescribing phyaitiand the patient to preclude substitution andrdi®eping requirements. There is no certainty dtiar states will not
impose similar restrictions or that states will mpose further restrictions or preclude substituf interchangeable biosimilar products entirely.

Our competitive advantage in this area will depenaur success in demonstrating to the FDA thatqrta technology provides a level of scientific assce that facilitates
determinations of interchangeability, reduces thedifor expensive clinical or other testing andesithe scientific quality requirements for our petitors to demonstrate that
their products are highly similar to a brand prad@ur ability to succeed will depend in part o ability to invest in new programs and developadata timeframe that
enables the FDA to consider our approach as the B&ins to implement the new law. BLA holders wiivelop strategies and precedents for delayinmpeding approvals
of biosimilar products and determinations of intenegeability. For example, the lengthy 12-year @sieity protection provides the BLA holder for theference drug with an
opportunity to develop and replace its originalduret with a modified product that may avoid a detieation of interchangeability and that may quafify an additional 12-
year marketing exclusivity period, reducing thegmital opportunity for substitution at the retdilggmacy level for interchangeable biosimilars. Aznlol and biosimilar
companies gain greater understanding of and experiith the new regulatory pathway, we expece®rsew and unexpected company strategies, FDAidesiand court
decisions that will pose unexpected challengeswiibprevent, delay or make more difficult biosian approvals. As an example, there is a currgrlyding Citizen Petition
filed with the FDA that argues that approving adbiailar that relies on a reference product appraweder a BLA submitted prior to passage of the BP@obuld constitute a
taking under the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Caustin that requires just compensation. The CitiRetition requests that the FDA not accept fongifile, approve, discu:
or otherwise take any action with regard to anyestigational new drug application or BLA for a puatifor which the reference product BLA was subeditprior to passage
of the BPCIA. Should this petition be granted, éheould be far fewer approved biologics that caddve as reference products for biosimilar appbaat which could have
significant adverse impact on our business.

In addition, the BPCIA was passed as part of tHferéiable Care Act and there have been ongoinglgis proposals to repeal the Affordable Care Adhe Affordable
Care Act is amended or is repealed with respetttddiosimilar approval pathway, our opportunitydgvelop biosimilars (including interchangeabledyjics) could be
materially impaired and our business could be naltgiand adversely affected.

Some of our products are used with drug deliverycmmpanion diagnostic devices which have their omgulatory, manufacturing, reimbursement and othesks.

Some of our products or product candidates mayskd in combination with a drug delivery device,isas an injector or other delivery system. Our pomdandidates
intended for use with such devices, or expandeidations that we may seek for our products usel sith devices, may not be approved or may beantiety delayed in
receiving approval if the devices do not gain andiaintain their own regulatory approvals or cleaes. Where approval of the drug product and desiseught under a
single application, the increased complexity of inew process may delay approval. In additiomeof these drug delivery devices are provideditgls source unaffiliate
third-party companies. We are dependent on thaisiest cooperation and effort of those third-padynpanies both to supply the devices and, in sorsesc#o conduct the
studies required for approval or other regulatdea@nce of the devices. We are also dependeiiitose third-party companies continuing to maintaichsapprovals or
clearances once they have been received. Failutgrdfparty companies to supply the devices, treasfully complete studies on the devices in altirmanner, or to obtain
or maintain required approvals or clearances ofithéces could result in increased developmensgdstiays in or failure to obtain regulatory apgicand delays in product
candidates reaching the market or in gaining apglrorclearance for expanded labels for new indhoat We filed a Field Alert Report for enoxaparnniune 2013, as
required by the FDA for certain quality issues watfety implications, because the product did neg¢nfunctionality criteria. The needle-shieldingnponent was breaking
during shipping, preventing correct administratidrihe medication. While the specific issues raldtethis Field Alert Report were resolved, we neaperience similar issues
in the future. In addition, loss of regulatory apyal or clearance of a device that is used withpsaduct may result in the removal of our produonf the market.

The drug delivery devices used with our productsaso subject to many of the same reimbursemshis &ind challenges to which our products are sulfjeeduction in the

availability of, or the coverage and/or reimbursatrfer, drug delivery devices used with our produmuld have a material adverse effect on our prosles, business and
results of operations.
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If pharmaceutical companies are successful in limnig the use of generics through their legislativesgulatory and/or other efforts, our sales of gemeproducts may
suffer.

Many pharmaceutical companies producing proprieangs have increasingly used state and federsld¢ige and regulatory means to delay, impedeamatevent generic
competition. These efforts have included but atdinoted to the following:

. making changes to the formulation of theirduet and arguing that potential generic competitoust demonstrate bioequivalence and/or compaathise-
resistance to the reformulated brand prod

. pursuing new patents for existing products whicly i@ granted immediately prior to the expiratioreaflier patents, which could extend patent praiador
additional years or otherwise delay the launcheofagics;

. selling the brand product as an authorized geneiticer by the brand company directly, through ffifiete or by a marketing partne

. using the FD/'s Citizen Petition process to request amendmer&®#o standards or otherwise delay generic drug @ams;

. challenging FDA denials of Citizen Petitions in coand seeking injunctive relief to reverse appt@faeneric drug application

. seeking changes to standards in the U.S. Pharmiaddptional Formulary, which are compendial drugnstards that are recognized by industry and, ine

instances, are enforceable under the FFD

. attempting to use the legislative and regulatoocpss to have drugs reclassified or reschedulebdebPEA,

. using the Iegislative anq 'regulatory process testmtdards and requirements for abuse deterremufations that are patented or that will othervirapede o
prevent generic competitio

. seeking special pate-term extensions through amendments tc-related federal legislatiol

. engaging in initiatives to enact state legislatiost would restrict the substitution of certain gea drugs, including products that we are develgy

. entering into agreements with pharmacy benefit gameent companies that block the dispensing of gepevducts

. seeking patents on methods of manufacturing ceftRirn

. settling patent lawsuits with generic companiea manner that leaves the patent as an obstac@fooval of other compan’ generic drugs

. settling patent litigation with generic companiesimanner that avoids forfeiture of or otherwisgtgcts or extends the exclusivity peri

. providing medical education or other infornoatito physicians, thirgiarty payers and federal and state regulatorstdékas the position that certain gen

products are inappropriate for approval or for stigon after approval

. seeking state law restrictions on the substituibgeneric and biosimilar products at the pharmlaggl without the instruction or permission of aypitian
and

. seeking federal or state regulatory restndion the use of the same rmeprietary name as the reference brand produca foiosimilar or interchangeal
biologic.

If pharmaceutical companies or other third partiessuccessful in limiting the use of generic paisithrough these or other means, our sales ofiggmeducts may decline.
If we experience a material decline in generic paidales, our results of operations, financialdition and cash flows will suffer.

In the event that we are successful in bringing apsoducts to market, our revenues may be adverséfigcted if we fail to obtain insurance coverage adequate
reimbursement for our products from third-party peys and administrators.

Our ability to successfully commercialize our protumay depend in part on the availability of reimgement for and insurance coverage of our presmiproducts from
government health administration authorities, gevaealth insurers and other third-party payersaaministrators, including Medicaid and Medicarbir@-party payers and
administrators, including state Medicaid programd Bledicare, have been recently challenging theeprcharged for pharmaceutical products. Governarhbther third-
party payers increasingly are limiting both coveragd the level of reimbursement for new drugstdrparty insurance coverage may not be availabpatients for some of
our products candidates. The continuing effortgafernment and third-party payers to contain oucedhe costs of health care may limit our comna¢portunity. If
government and other third-party payers do notipeadequate coverage and reimbursement for certaiar products, health care providers may nosqnibe them or
patients may ask their health care providers tegiilee competing products with more favorable reirsbment.
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Managed care organizations and other private insdirequently adopt their own payment or reimbursetmeductions. Consolidation among managed cg@naations has
increased the negotiating power of these entiBesate third-party payers, as well as governmentseasingly employ formularies to control cosysnegotiating discounted
prices in exchange for formulary inclusion. Whitese approaches generally favor generic produetstoands, generic competition is stronger. Oustend products and our
product candidates include proprietary productsgerteric products. Failure to obtain timely or agse pricing or formulary placement for our produat obtaining such
pricing or placement at unfavorable pricing coulldersely impact revenue. In addition to formulaey to-pay differentials, private health insurasoenpanies and self-
insured employers have been raising co-paymentsregjfrom beneficiaries, particularly for propaey pharmaceuticals and biotechnology productyaigihealth insurance
companies also are increasingly imposing utilizatitanagement tools, such as requiring prior authtian for a proprietary product if a generic protis available or
requiring the patient to first fail on one or mareneric products before permitting access to arfatapy medicine. We do not currently have any ngadacare organization
agreements and do not intend to have managed igaripation agreements in the future.

We must manufacture our product at our facilitiea iconformity with cGMP regulations; failure to maitain compliance with cGMP regulations may preventaelay the
manufacture or marketing of our products or producandidates and may prevent us from gaining apprbefour products.

All of our products and product candidates for unselinical studies must be manufactured, packatgdstled and stored in accordance with cGMP. Forpproved product
modifications, enhancements, or changes in manufagt processes and sites may require supplemebt&lapproval, which may be subject to a lengthyliapion proces
or which we may be unable to obtain.

All facilities of Amphastar and our subsidiarieg geriodically subject to inspection by the FDA artller governmental entities, and operations atetlfiecilities could be
interrupted or halted if the FDA or another goveemtal entity deems such inspections as unsatisfadtoaddition, our secondary heparin supplie€hina has yet to be
inspected by the FDA. Products manufactured infaciflities must be made in a manner consistent e@MP or similar standards in each territory in @fhwe manufacture.
Compliance with such standards requires substajanditures of time, money and effort in suclaares production and quality control to ensuretédhnical compliance.
Failure to comply with cGMP or with other statefederal requirements may result in unanticipatedmlance expenditures, total or partial suspensigoroduction or
distribution, suspension of review of applicatisbdmitted for approval of our product candidatesntnation of ongoing research, disqualificatiordafa derived from studi
on our products and/or enforcement actions suchal or seizure of products, injunctions, civéinalties and criminal prosecutions of the compard/@mpany officials.
Any suspension of production or distribution worddjuire us to engage contract manufacturing orgéioizs to manufacture our products or to accepats in marketing ot
products. Any contract manufacturing organizatianemgage will require time to learn our methodprofiuction and to scale up to full production of ptoducts. Any delay
caused by the transfer of manufacturing to a cohtrexnufacturing organization may have a matedakese effect on our results of operations. Addaity, any contract
manufacturing organization that we engage will bigiect to the same cGMP regulations as us, andadiye on their part to comply with FDA or othesygernmental
regulations will result in similar consequences.

Our operations are subject to environmental, healthd safety and other laws and regulations, with iafn compliance is costly and which exposes us togiges for non-
compliance.

Our business, products and product candidatesujecs to federal, state and local laws and reguratrelating to the protection of the environmeatiural resources and
worker health and safety and the use, managenterdge and disposal of hazardous substances, aedtether regulated materials. Because we own pexhte real
property, various environmental laws also may ingplgability on us for the costs of cleaning up aesponding to hazardous substances that may hawerbéleased on our
property, including releases unknown to us. Thes&renmental laws and regulations also could rexjus to pay for environmental remediation and resp@osts at third-
party locations where we dispose of or recycle ftmss substances. The costs of complying with theseus environmental requirements, as they nast @x as may be
altered in the future, could adversely affect enaficial condition and results of operations. Barmple, as a result of environmental concerns atheutise of CFCs, the FDA
issued a final rule on January 16, 2009 that reguine phase-out of the CFC version of our Primeevlist product by December 31, 2011. This phase aused us to halt
sales of the CFC version of our Primaté@ndist product subsequent to December 31, 2011 aitd wif our inventory for the product, which had adverse effect on our
financial results.

We also must comply with data protection and daitzapy requirements. Compliance with these lawiesand regulations regarding privacy, security redection of
employee data could result in higher compliancetantdnology costs for us, as well as significané$, penalties and damage to our global reputatidrour brand as a result
of non-compliance.

Our products may be subject to federal and statedaand certain initiatives relating to cost contrathich may decrease our profitability.

In the U.S., we expect there may be federal artd pt@posals for cost controls. We expect thateiasing emphasis on managed care in the U.S. witlrage to put pressure
on the pricing of pharmaceutical products. In additwe are required to pay rebates to states,hndnie generally calculated based on the pricesdoproducts that are paid
by state Medicaid programs. Cost control initiasiheeuld decrease the price that we charge, andaserthe rebate amounts that we must providenfooour products in the
future. Further, cost control initiatives could iaipour ability to commercialize our products ana ability to earn significant revenues from comaigization. In the U.S., a
of our pharmaceutical products are subject to esirgy pricing pressures. Such pressures have settess a result of the Medicare Prescription Dnugrbvement and
Modernization Act of 2003, or MMA, due to the enbed purchasing power of the private sector plaasriegotiate on behalf of Medicare beneficiariesdate, we do not
believe that federal and state cost control initest have had a direct impact on the pricing ofaducts, but they could have such an impactérfature. Similarly, rebate
obligations have been relatively stable, but iftsabligations increase, our revenue could be adiieedfected. In addition, if the MMA or the Affoathle Care Act were
amended to impose direct governmental price canaiotl access restrictions, it would have a sigmifi@dverse impact on our business. Furthermoreageal care
organizations, as well as Medicaid and other gavemt agencies, continue to seek price discountaeSuates have implemented, and other states aseleoing, price
controls or patient access constraints under theiddél program, and some states are considerireg-gontrol regimes that would affect rebate leasld apply to broader
segments of their populations that are not Medietigible. Further, there continue to be legislatproposals to amend U.S. laws to allow the impioricnto the U.S. of
prescription drugs, which can be sold at prices @haregulated by the governments of various @orebuntries. In addition to well-documented safagcerns, such as the
increased risk of counterfeit products enteringsineply chain, such importation could impact pharegical prices in the U.S.
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Some of our products are marketed without FDA appab and may be subject to enforcement actions by BDA.

A number of our prescription products are marketé@tiout FDA approval. These products, like manyeothnapproved prescription drugs on the marketadomctive
ingredients that were first marketed prior to tha@ment of the FFDCA. The FDA has assessed thesegs in a program known as the “PrescriptiondDiWrap-Up” and
has stated that these drugs cannot be lawfully etedkunless they comply with certain “grandfathetteptions to the definition of “new drug” in the[BCA. These
exceptions have been strictly construed by FDAanthe courts, and the FDA has stated that it keiy that any of the unapproved prescription drog the market,
including certain of our drugs, qualify for the eyptions. At any time, the FDA may require that sanall of our unapproved prescription drugs beraped and may direct
that we recall these products and/or cease magk#taproducts until they are approved. The FDA sy take enforcement actions based on our magkefithese
unapproved products, including but not limitedte tssuance of an untitled letter or a warningefetind a judicial action seeking injunction, pretdseizure and civil or
criminal penalties. While the FDA has not undertakay such enforcement actions against our unapgrdkugs, the enforcement posture could changeyairae and our
ability to market such drugs would terminate wittid or no notice. Moreover, our competitors magrket FDA approved prescription products that compgainst our
unapproved prescription products. Such competfiar® brought, and in the future may bring, claigaiast us alleging unfair competition or relateairis.

As a result of our meetings with the FDA in 200®, ekecided to discontinue all of our products thatersubject to the Prescription Drug Wrap-Up prograith the exception
of epinephrine in vial form. These products wetgadduced at our subsidiary. During the third geiaof 2010, the FDA requested that we reintrockeeeral of the
withdrawn products to cope with a drug shortagelenlie prepared and filed applications for apprafahe products. Between August and October, 2@&0,eintroduced
atropine, calcium chloride, morphine, dextrosenephrine, and sodium bicarbonate injections, amtitoe to market these products without FDA appkdvar the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, we retoetaevenues of $27.0 million, $29.6 million, &k®.2 million, respectively, from unapproved protu We have filed
three ANDAs and are preparing additional appliaaiavith respect to these products.

Our reporting and payment obligations under the Medre and/or Medicaid drug rebate programs and otlgovernmental purchasing and rebate programs a@gplex
and may involve subjective decisions that could Bba as a result of new business circumstances, negulatory guidance or advice of legal counsel. Adgtermination of
failure to comply with those obligations could swdgjt us to penalties and sanctions which could havenaterial adverse effect on our business, finarigi@sition and result
of operations and the market value of our commondgi could decline.

The regulations regarding reporting and paymenigabbns with respect to Medicare and/or Medicatmbursement and rebates and other governmentgtgms ar
complex. Because our processes for these calcudatind the judgments involved in making these taioms involve, and will continue to involve, sebfive decisions ai
complex methodologies, these calculations are stibjethe risk of errors. In addition, they are jeabto review and challenge by the applicable gorental agencies, anc
is possible that such reviews could result in niatehanges. The Affordable Care Act includes avjgion requiring the Centers for Medicare and MadicServices, or CM
to publish a weighted Average Manufacturer PriceABIP, for all multi-source drugs. The provision svaffective October 1, 2010; however, weighted agerAMPS havi
not yet been published by CMS, except in draft foamd have not been implemented for use in theutzlon of Federal Upper Limits. Although the weligth average AM
would not reveal our individual AMP, publishing &ighted average AMP available to customers andgthdic at large could negatively affect our leverag commercie
price negotiations.

In addition, as also disclosed herein, a numbetaie and federal government agencies are conduntiastigations of manufacturers’ reporting preesi with respect to
Average Wholesale Prices, or AWP, in which theyehsnggested that reporting of inflated AWP haddegixcessive payments for prescription drugs. Nooer
pharmaceutical companies have been named as defenidaarious actions relating to pharmaceuticalipg issues and whether allegedly improper astioy pharmaceutici
manufacturers led to excessive payments by Medadéor Medicaid.

Any governmental agencies that have commencedagrammmence, an investigation of our businessinglab the sales, marketing, pricing, quality omrmagacturing of
pharmaceutical products could seek to impose, basedclaim of violation of fraud and false claitaw/s or otherwise, civil and/or criminal sanctiomgluding fines,
penalties and possible exclusion from federal headte programs including Medicare and/or Medic8mine of the applicable laws may impose liabilitgrein the absence
specific intent to defraud. Furthermore, shouldéHze ambiguity with regard to how to properly cdéte and report payments — and even in the abs#rargy such
ambiguity —a governmental authority may take a position coptr@aa position we have taken, and may imposé ai/or criminal sanctions. Any such penaltiesamction:
could have a material adverse effect on our busjriggncial position and results of operations eadld cause the market value of our common stocietline.
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Proposed FDA labeling rules could result in additial liability risks for our products.

The FDA has recently proposed allowing generic dnagufacturers to independently update productiladéo reflect newly discovered safety data, whicluld result in
failure-to-warn suits. This could increase our latzgeobligations and potentially increase our llapirisk for our products.

We may be subject to enforcement action if we ergagthe off-label promotion of our products.

Our promotional materials and training methods neostply with the FFDCA and other applicable lawsd aegulations, including restraints and prohibis@mn the promotion
of off-label, or unapproved, use. Physicians maspribe our products for off-label use without melg@ these prohibitions, as the FFDCA does ndtiot®r regulate a
physician’s choice of treatment within the practi¢enedicine. However, if the FDA determines that promotional materials or training constitutesmotion of an off-label
use, it could request that we modify our trainimgommotional materials or subject us to regulatmrgnforcement actions, including but not limitedhe issuance of an
untitled letter or warning letter, and a judiciatian seeking injunction, product seizure and avitriminal penalties. It is also possible thatestfederal, state or non-U.S.
enforcement authorities might take action if thepsider our promotional or training materials tostitute promotion of an unapproved use, which @¢eesult in significant
fines or penalties under other statutory autha;itseich as laws prohibiting false claims for reinsement. In that event, our reputation could bealpd and adoption of the
products could be impaired. Although our policyasefrain from statements that could be consideféthbel promotion of our products, the FDA orotimer regulatory
agency could disagree and conclude that we havagengn off-label promotion. In addition, the offlskl use of our products may increase the riskadyert liability claims.
Product liability claims are expensive to defend aould divert our management’s attention, resufiibstantial damage awards against us and harneputation.

The pharmaceutical industry is highly regulated aqharmaceutical companies are subject to variouddeal and state fraud and abuse laws, includingtiwut limitation,
the federal Anti-Kickback Statute and the federaalse Claims Act.

Healthcare fraud and abuse regulations are comatekeven minor irregularities can potentially gilge to claims that a statute or prohibition hasrbviolated. The laws that
may affect our ability to operate include:

» the federal healthcare programs’ ditkback law, which prohibits, among other thingsrsons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, ceiving, offering or payin
remuneration, directly or indirectly, in exchange or to induce either the referral of an indivibifa, or the purchase, order or recommendatiorany, good or servi
for which payment may be made under federal headéhprograms such as the Medicare and Medicaid-ams

. federal false claims laws which prohibit, amongeotthings, individuals or entities from knowinglyegenting, or causing to be presented, claims dgmen
from Medicare, Medicaid, or other th-party payers that are false or fraudul

. the federal Health Insurance Portability and Acdabitity Act of 1996, which created federal crimidaws that prohibit executing a scheme to defrang
healthcare benefit program or making false statésn@ating to healthcare matte

. the FFDCA and similar laws regulating advertisensemd labeling
. the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, which pbitkicorrupt payments, gifts or transfers of vateaor-U.S. officials; anc

. non-U.S. and U.S. state law equivalents oheafcthe above federal laws, such as &itkback and false claims laws which may applyteans or service
reimbursed by any thi-party payer, including commercial insure

The federal false claims laws have been interpreteghply to arrangements between pharmaceuticalifaaturers on the one hand and prescribers, psechar formulary
managers on the other. Although there are seviataltsry exemptions and regulatory safe harborteptimg certain common activities from prosecutiibie, exemptions and
safe harbors are drawn narrowly, and practicesitlvatve remuneration intended to induce prescgbjurchasing or recommending may be subject ttisgrif they do not
qualify for an exemption or safe harbor. Most statlso have statutes or regulations similar tdeleral anti-kickback law and federal false clalmss, which apply to items
and services covered by Medicaid and other statgrams, or, in several states, apply regardleisegbayer. Administrative, civil and criminal sapas may be imposed
under these federal and state laws.
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Further, the Affordable Care Act, among other teirgmends the intent requirement of the federalkickback and criminal healthcare fraud statufegerson or entity can
now be found guilty under the Affordable Care Adthout actual knowledge of the statute or spediftent to violate it. In addition, the Affordablea Act provides that the
government may assert that a claim including itemservices resulting from a violation of the fealanti-kickback statute constitutes a false ondrdent claim for purposes
of the false claims statutes. Possible sanctionsi@dation of these anti-kickback laws include retary fines, civil and criminal penalties, exclusfoom Medicare and
Medicaid programs and forfeiture of amounts coéddn violation of such prohibitions. Any violatisf these laws, or any action against us for timheof these laws, even
we successfully defend against it, could resu#t material adverse effect on our reputation, bssinesults of operations and financial condition.

To enforce compliance with the federal laws, th8.UDepartment of Justice, or DOJ, has recentlyeased its scrutiny of interactions between healthcampanies and
healthcare providers, which has led to a numbémnastigations, prosecutions, convictions and eetéints in the healthcare industry. Dealing wittestigations can be time-
and resource-consuming and can divert managemnegteistion from the business. Additionally, if a lteeare provider settles an investigation with B@J or other law
enforcement agencies, we may be forced to agradditional onerous compliance and reporting requéngts as part of a consent decree or corporatgrityt@greement. Any
such investigation or settlement could increasecosts or otherwise have an adverse effect onusinbss.

Over the past few years, a number of pharmacewiwhbther healthcare companies have been proseauder these laws for a variety of promotional aratketing
activities, such as: providing free trips, free dspsham consulting fees and grants and other mgnie¢nefits to prescribers; reporting inflatedrage wholesale prices that
were then used by federal programs to set reimmeserates; engaging in off-label promotion; anbrsitting inflated best price information to the Mesid Rebate Program
to reduce liability for Medicaid rebates.

In addition, there has been a recent trend of aszed federal and state regulation of payments teagleysicians for marketing. Some states, suchadifothia, Massachusetts
and Vermont, mandate implementation of commer@aigiance programs, along with the tracking anarepg of gifts, compensation and other remuneratmphysicians.
The shifting commercial compliance environment #relneed to build and maintain robust and expaedadtems to comply with different compliance andéporting
requirements in multiple jurisdictions increase plossibility that a healthcare company may run leddene or more of the requirements.

If the activities of any of our business partnersfaund to be in violation of these laws or anlyestfederal and state fraud and abuse laws, thgybmaubject to penalties,
including civil and criminal penalties, damageggeB and the curtailment or restructuring of itévétees with regard to the commercialization of gqupducts, which could har
the commercial success of our products and mateatkect our business, financial condition andutesof operations. While we have implemented nwuserisk mitigation
measures to comply with such regulations in thisglex operating environment, we cannot guaranteeviie will be able to effectively mitigate all opé&ional risks. While w:
have developed and instituted a corporate comg@ignogram, we cannot guarantee that we, our emgdpyeir consultants or our contractors are orhweilin compliance with
all potentially applicable U.S. federal and stagulations and/or laws, all potentially applicafieeign regulations and/or laws and/or all requiesits of the corporate
integrity agreement. Because of the far-reachingreaf these laws, we may be required to altetigzontinue one or more of our business practizd®tin compliance with
these laws. If we fail to adequately mitigate operational risks or if we or our agents fail to g@yrnwith any of those regulations, laws and/or liegments, a range of actions
could result, including, but not limited to, thertenation of clinical trials, the failure to appmwa product candidate, restrictions on our prodoictaanufacturing processes,
withdrawal of our products from the market, sigrafit fines, exclusion from government healthcaog@ams or other sanctions or litigation. Such o@nres could have a
material and adverse effect on our product salesiness and results of operations.

The scope and enforcement of these laws is unoetal subject to rapid change in the current enwirent of healthcare reform, especially in lighttef lack of applicable
precedent and regulations. Federal or state regylatithorities might challenge our current or fatactivities under these laws. Any such challermeéd have a material
adverse effect on our reputation, business, restiltperations and financial condition. In additiefforts to ensure that our business arrangenvéttighird parties will
comply with these laws and regulations will involugbstantial costs. Any state or federal regulateryew of us or the third parties with whom we tant, regardless of the
outcome, would be costly and time-consuming.

Risks Relating to our Intellectual Property
Our success depends on our ability to protect autellectual property.

In addition to obtaining FDA approval for our geigeand proprietary drug candidates, our successddpends on our ability to obtain and maintairepgprotection for new
products developed utilizing our technologieshea U.S. and in other countries, and to enforceetipasents. The patent positions of pharmaceutitasf including us, are
generally uncertain and involve complex legal aaxtdal issues. Any of our patent claims in our apped and pending non-provisional and provision&tpapplications
relating to our technologies may not be issuedf @@sued, any of our existing and future pateatros may not be held valid and enforceable agé#mst-party infringement.
Moreover, any patent claims relating to our techg@s may not be sufficiently broad to protect prorducts. In addition, issued patent claims maghzlenged, potentially
invalidated, or potentially circumvented. Our patelaims may not afford us protection against ampetitors. We currently have a number of U.S. faneign patents issued.
However, issuance of a patent is not conclusivdende of its validity or enforceability. We may meteive patents for any of our pending patentiegtibns or any patent
applications that we may file in the future and mgued patents may not be upheld if challenged.
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In March 2013, the U.S. transitioned to a firstantor to file system in which, assuming the otleguirements for patentability are met, the firsteintor to file a patent
application is entitled to receive a patent (rathan the first to invent as was the case under fatiS. law). Accordingly, it is possible that petially invalidating prior art ma
become available in between the time that we devatoinvention and file a patent application thaters the invention. In addition, we may be subject third-party
preissuance submission of prior art to the U.Sefand Trademark Office, or USPTO, or become wamlin opposition, derivation, reexamination, irparties review or
interference proceedings challenging our patetitsigr the patent rights of others. An adverserdetetion in any such submission, proceeding @gdtion could reduce the
scope of, or invalidate our patent rights, allowdfparties to commercialize our technology or proid and compete directly with us, without payntenis, or result in our
inability to manufacture or commercialize produetthout infringing third party patent rights.

Past enforcement of intellectual property rightsanintries outside the U.S., including China intipatar, has been limited or non-existent. Futuroecement of patents and
proprietary rights in many other countries willdlg be problematic or unpredictable. Moreover,iiseiance of a patent in one country does not asiserigsuance of a similar
patent in another country. Claim interpretation arfidngement laws vary by nation, so the extenainy patent protection is uncertain and may vagifierent jurisdictions.

We also rely on, or intend to rely on, our tradeksatrade names and brand names to distinguisproducts from the products of our competitors aadgetregistered or
applied to register our own trademarks. However t@demark applications may not be approved. Thédies may also oppose our trademark applicatomsherwise
challenge our use of the trademarks. In the evettdur trademarks are successfully challenged;ouéd be forced to rebrand our product, which caakllt in loss of brand
recognition and could require us to devote sigaifioresources to advertising and marketing thesebnands. Further, our competitors may infringe tvademarks or we may
not have adequate resources to enforce our tralemar

With respect to our proprietary products, if we fab adequately protect or enforce our intellectuadoperty rights, we could lose sales to genericsi@ns of our proprietary
products which could cause a material adverse effec our business, financial position and result§ @perations and could cause the market value of @@mmon stock tc
decline.

The success of our proprietary products depengarinon our ability to obtain, maintain and enfopag¢ents and trademarks, and to protect tradetsekrow-how and other
proprietary information. Our ability to commercizgiany proprietary product successfully will lasgeepend upon our ability to obtain and maintaitepts of sufficient scope
to prevent third parties from developing substdiytiequivalent products. In the absence of patedtteade secret protection, competitors may adiyeestect our proprietary
products business by independently developing aawtketing substantially equivalent products. ItliEogossible that we could incur substantial cdste are required to
initiate litigation against others to protect of@mue our intellectual property rights.

We have filed patent applications covering compamsit of, methods of making and/or methods of using,proprietary products and proprietary prodetdidates. We may
not be issued patents based on patent applicatlceedy filed or that we may file in the futuredahpatents are issued, they may be insufficiargdope to cover our
proprietary products. The issuance of a patenhanapuntry does not ensure the issuance of a sipdtent in any other country, or that we will esaek patent protection in
all countries worldwide. Furthermore, the patergifon of companies in the pharmaceutical indugéwerally involves complex legal and factual questiand has been and
remains the subject of much litigation. Legal s&ndd relating to scope and validity of patent ckame evolving and may differ in various countriksy patents we have
obtained, or will obtain in the future, may be dbaged, invalidated or circumvented. Moreover, W8P TO or any other governmental agency, as welies parties, may
commence interference, opposition or other relttigd party proceedings involving our patents aiepaapplications. Any challenge to, or invalidatiar circumvention of,
our patents or patent applications would be costbuyld require significant time and attention of aanagement, could cause a material adverse effieatir business,
financial position and results of operations andid@ause the market value of our common stocletdine.

Our unpatented trade secrets, know-how, confidehtiad proprietary information and technology may lixeadequately protected.

We rely on unpatented trade secrets, know-how ecithblogy. This intellectual property is diffictidt protect, especially in the pharmaceutical industhere much of the
information about a product must be submitted tukatory authorities during the regulatory apprgwalcess. We seek to protect trade secrets, conifidlénformation and
proprietary information, in part, by entering irtonfidentiality and invention assignment agreemauitis employees, consultants and others. Thes@partay breach or
terminate these agreements, and we may not haggatderemedies for such breaches. Furthermores Hggeements may not provide meaningful protedtoour trade
secrets or other confidential or proprietary infatian or result in the effective assignment to Lismtellectual property, and may not provide ancudee remedy in the event
unauthorized use or disclosure of confidential infation or other breaches of the agreements. Despitefforts to protect our trade secrets andther confidential and
proprietary information, we or our collaboratiorrip@rs, board members, employees, consultants;amats, or scientific and other advisors may emitibnally or willfully
disclose our proprietary information to competitors

There is a risk that our trade secrets and othefidential and proprietary information could hawseh, or could, in the future, be shared by anyuoffarmer employees with,
and be used to the benefit of, any company thapetes with us.
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If we fail to maintain trade secret protection ait fo protect the confidentiality of our other dimiential and proprietary information, our compiett position may be adversely
affected. Competitors may also independently discowur trade secrets. Enforcement of claims thhird party has illegally obtained and is usinglg&ecrets is expensive,
time consuming and uncertain. If our competitodejmendently develop equivalent knowledge, methadskaow-how, we would not be able to assert outetrsecret
protections against them, which could have a neltadverse effect on our business.

There can be no assurance of timely patent reviawd approval to minimize competition and generatdftient revenues.

There can be no assurance that the USPTO will bafficient resources to review and grant our paag@mplications in a timely manner. Consequently, matent applications

may be delayed for many years (if they issue asnpgiat all), which would prevent intellectual peay protection for our products. If we fail to sessfully commercialize o
products due to the lack of intellectual propentytection, we may be unable to generate sufficiemnues to meet or grow our business accordiogtexpected goals and
this may have a materially adverse effect on odfifability, financial condition and operations.

We may become involved in patent litigations or etlintellectual property proceedings relating to ofuture product approvals, which could result imability for damages
or delay or stop our development and commercializatefforts.

The pharmaceutical industry has been charactebyeignificant litigation and other proceedingsarting patents, patent applications and otherlettlal property rights.
The situations in which we may become parties thditigation or proceedings may include any ttpatties initiating litigation claiming that our ptacts infringe their patent
or other intellectual property rights; in such case will need to defend against such proceedifgsexample, the field of generic pharmaceuticalshiaracterized by freque
litigation that occurs in connection with generfapmaceutical companies filing ANDAs, Paragraplcévtifications and attempting to invalidate thegpas of the proprietary
reference drug. Any non-generic products that veeassfully develop may be subject to such challdryghird parties. As a generic pharmaceutical camypwe also expect
to file ANDAs, Paragraph IV certifications and titeanpt to invalidate patents of third party referenrugs for which we seek to develop generic vessi

The costs of resolving any patent litigation orestintellectual property proceeding, even if resdin our favor, could be substantial. Many of patential competitors will &
able to sustain the cost of such litigation anccpealings more effectively than we can becauseeif shubstantially greater resources. Uncertaimésslting from the initiation
and continuation of patent litigation or other Ifgetual property proceedings could have a matewdakrse effect on our ability to compete in thekatplace. Patent litigation
and other intellectual property proceedings mag atmsume significant management time.

In the event that a competitor infringes upon catept or other intellectual property rights, enfiogcthose rights may be costly, difficult and timeasuming. Even if
successful, litigation to enforce our intellectpabperty rights or to defend our patents againatiehge could be expensive and time-consuming aottidivert our
management’s attention. We may not have suffigiesurces to enforce our intellectual propertytsgir to defend our patent or other intellectualperty rights against a
challenge. If we are unsuccessful in enforcing amadecting our intellectual property rights andtpating our products, it could materially harm business.

For example, we have been involved in litigatiolated to our sales of enoxaparin. A preliminaryirgtion was issued on October 28, 2011 that barsdfdom selling our
generic enoxaparin until the injunction was stagadanuary 25, 2012. After appeal, the U.S. Sup@met denied certiorari and on July 19, 2013,Dietrict Court granted
our motion for summary judgment in accordance with Federal Circuit opinion and denied Momenta @addoz’s motion for leave to amend infringementenotions. For
further details, see the section titled LitigatinrNote 17 in the accompanying “Notes to Consoéideinancial Statements” in this Annual Report. itesthe ultimately
favorable ruling in the litigation, the protractitibation involved large legal expenses and theediion of management’s time and effort away fromhusiness. Any future
adverse determinations in a judicial or administeaproceeding or failure to obtain necessary kesncould result in substantial monetary damagedsnand could prevent us
from manufacturing and selling our products, whickild have a material and adverse effect on oanfifal condition.

There may also be situations where we use our éssijudgment and decide to market and sell produneteithstanding the fact that allegations of patafringement(s) hav
not been finally resolved by the courts, whichaiion is commonly referred to as an at-risk lauridie risk involved in doing so can be substantédahse the remedies
available to the owner of a patent for infringemeraty include, among other things, damages measyrétke profits lost by the patent owner and noessarily by the profits
earned by the infringer as well as injunctive fielehich would halt our ability to market and sslich products altogether. In the case of a wiltffringement, the definition ¢
which is subjective, such damages may be increaiged three times. Moreover, because of the discpricing typically involved with generic producisatented proprietary
products generally realize a substantially higtrefipmargin than generic products. An adverse sleniin a case such as this or in other similagdtton could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial postioa results of operations and could cause the maakee of our common stock to decline.

We may be subject to claims that we, our board merspemployees or consultants have used or discl@leged trade secrets or other proprietary infaation belonging
to third parties and any such individuals who arercently affiliated with one of our competitors magiisclose our proprietary technology or information
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As is commonplace in the biotechnology and pharmmiéza industries, some of our board members, eyggls and consultants are or have been employedagsociated
with, other biotechnology or pharmaceutical comparthat compete with us. While employed at or aaset with these companies, these individuals nepine exposed to
or involved in research and technology similatte &reas of research and technology in which wergaged. We may be subject to claims that weuoemployees, board
members or consultants have inadvertently, wilfolt otherwise used or disclosed alleged tradesteor other proprietary information of those conipa. Litigation may be
necessary to defend against such claims.

We have entered into confidentiality agreements witr executives and key consultants. However, evedd have, and are not planning to enter into,@mfidentiality
agreements with our non-executive directors becthesehave a fiduciary duty of confidentiality a@sedtors. Our former board members, employees pswtants who are
currently employed at, or associated with, onewsfammpetitors may unintentionally or willfully dibse our proprietary technology or information.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

Our quarterly and annual operating results may fltate significantly or may fall below the expectatis of investors or securities analysts, each ofiehmay cause our
stock price to fluctuate or decline

Our operating results may be subject to quartertyannual fluctuations as a result of a numbeacidirs, including the following:

. the commercial success of our key produ

. results of clinical trials of our product candidate those of our competitol

. pricing actions by competitor

. the timing of orders from our custome

. manufacturing or supply interruptior

. actions by regulatory bodies, such as the FDA, libge the effect of delaying or rejecting approwdlsur product candidate
. changes in the prescription practices of physigi

. changes or developments in laws or regulationsi@dgé to our product candidate

. introduction of competitive products or technolag

. failure to meet or exceed financial projectionspuevide to the public

. actual or anticipated variations in quarterly opiataresults:

. failure to meet or exceed the estimates and piojecbf securities analysts or investc
. the perception of the pharmaceutical industry teyghblic, legislatures, regulators and the investresemmunity;
. general economic and market conditions and ovBualiuations in U.S. equity market
. developments concerning our sources of manufacfwpply;

. disputes or other developments relating to patentgher proprietary right:

. litigation or investigations involving us, our instay, or both

. additions or departures of key scientific or mamaget personne

. issuances of debt, equity or convertible securi

. changes in the market valuations of similar comes

. major catastrophic event

. major changes in our board of directors or managémedepartures of key personnel;
. the other factors described in tltem 1.A Risk Facto” section.

Any one of the factors above, or the cumulative@fbf some of the factors referred to above, neaylt in significant fluctuations in our quartedy annual operating resu
This variability and unpredictability could resitt our failing to meet our revenue, billings or cgténg results expectations or those of securdigaysts or investors for a
period. In addition, a significant percentage of operating expenses are fixed in nature and basddrecasted revenue trends. Accordingly, in treneof revenue shortfal
we are generally unable to mitigate the negativeaich on operating results in the short term. Iffaieto meet or exceed such expectations for tleesny other reasons, «
business could be materially adversely affectedamdstock price could fluctuate or decline subttgly.

In addition, if the market for pharmaceutical compatocks or the stock market in general experienioss of investor confidence, the trading priteuwr common stock
could decline for reasons unrelated to our busjrgssrating results or financial condition. Thedtrey price of our common stock might also declimegaction to events that
affect other companies in our industry even if éhegents do not directly affect us. Our stock pniagy also be affected by the expiration of markatd-offs or contractual
lock-up agreements or sales of large blocks ofstark.
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In the past, following periods of volatility in thearket price of a company’s securities, securitlass action litigation has often been broughiregahat company. If our
stock price is volatile, we may become the tardesecurities litigation. Securities litigation caulesult in substantial costs and divert our mamaage’s attention and resourc
from our business, and this could have a matediagse effect on our business, operating resuttdiaancial condition.

Future sales of our common stock may cause our ktpdce to decline.

If our existing stockholders sell, or indicate atent to sell, substantial amounts of our commonlsin the public market after the contractual legkagreements executed as
part of our initial public offering and other legalstrictions on resale lapse, the trading priceusfcommon stock could decline.

Stockholders holding approximately 49% of our aasting shares have executed lock-up agreementsgnir® which such stockholders are prohibited fealting (i) 75%

of their securities for the period of 271 to 36@slgii) 50% of their securities for the period3#1 days to 450 days and (iii) 25% of their sea@sifor the period of 451 to 540
days, with each period being measured from Jun@@¥4, the date of the prospectus to our initidliowffering. Jefferies LLC and BMO Capital MarkeEorp. may, in their
joint discretion, permit securities subject to tagditional locl-up to be sold prior to its expiration.

After the lock-up agreements pertaining to ourahipublic offering expire, up to an additional 724,964 shares will be eligible for sale in the lpuimarket, of which
12,523,882 are held by directors, executive offiad other affiliates and will be subject to voluhimitations under Rule 144 under the Securitiesahd various vesting
agreements.

In addition, we have registered approximately I6ilion shares subject to options outstanding sereed for future issuance under our equity comgt@splans. If these
additional shares are sold, or if it is perceivieat they will be sold, in the public market, thading price of our common stock could decline.

Jack Y. Zhang and Mary Z. Luo, each of whom senassa director and an executive officer, own a sificént percentage of our stock and will be abledrert significant
control over matters subject to stockholder apprbva

As of March 18, 2015, Jack Y. Zhang and Mary Z. Leach of whom serves as one of our directors aadugive officers, and their affiliates beneficyaiwn approximatel
23.8% of our outstanding common stock, includingrel of common stock subject to options exercisatiilen 60 days of March 18, 2015. Our directorseautive officer
and each of our stockholders who own greater tRarobour outstanding common stock and their affa in the aggregate, own approximately 26.7%hefdutstandini
including shares of our common stock, based omtimber of shares outstanding and shares of our constock subject to options exercisable within &9sdof March 1¢
2015. As a result, these stockholders, if actimgtioer, will be able to influence or control madtezquiring approval by our stockholders, includihg election of directors a
the approval of mergers, acquisitions or otheramtttinary transactions. They may also have intetést differ from yours and may vote in a way withich you disagree a
which may be adverse to your interests. This camagon of ownership may have the effect of delgyipreventing or deterring a change of control wf company, coul
deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to reeea premium for their common stock as part ofla eé our company and might ultimately affect tharket price of oL
common stock.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreselediture.

The continued operation and expansion of our bssimeéll require substantial funding. Accordinglye o not anticipate that we will pay any cash dinds on shares of our
common stock for the foreseeable future. Any deiteaition to pay dividends in the future will be hetdiscretion of our board of directors and wilpedad upon results of
operations, financial condition, contractual resioins, restrictions imposed by applicable law atiter factors our board of directors deems relev@at existing loan
agreements restrict, and any future indebtednegseséict, our ability to pay dividends. Investeeeking cash dividends should not purchase oummmstock. Accordingl
realization of a gain on your investment will dedgem the appreciation of the price of our commarlstwhich may never occur.

The requirements of being a public company may straur resources, divert management’s attention aaffect our ability to attract and retain executiveanagement and
qualified board members.

As a public company, we are subject to the repgntaguirements of the Exchange Act, the SarbandsyQict, the Dodd-Frank Act, the listing requirentenf the NASDAQ
Stock Market LLC and other applicable securitideswand regulations. Compliance with these rulesragulations will increase our legal and financianpliance costs, ma
some activities more difficult, time-consuming astly and increase demand on our systems and cemyoarticularly after we are no longer an “emeggirowth company,”
as defined in the JOBS Act. The Sarbanes-Oxleyréauires, among other things, that we maintaincéffe disclosure controls and procedures and iatarontrol over
financial reporting. In order to maintain and,éfjuired, improve our disclosure controls and pracesiand internal control over financial reportingneet this standard,
significant resources and management oversightbeagquired. As a result, management’s attentioy lmeadiverted from other business concerns, whichidcadversely
affect our business and operating results. Althougthave already hired additional employees to dpmvjth these requirements, we may need to hireeneonployees in the
future or engage outside consultants, which widléase our costs and expenses.
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In addition, changing laws, regulations and stadslaelating to corporate governance and publidasisice are creating uncertainty for public compsniecreasing legal and
financial compliance costs and making some actisithore time consuming. These laws, regulationstamdtlards are subject to varying interpretatiomsjany cases due to
their lack of specificity, and, as a result, theghplication in practice may evolve over time as midance is provided by regulatory and governiadiés. This could result in
continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matserd higher costs necessitated by ongoing revismdssclosure and governance practices. We inteiivest resources to
comply with evolving laws, regulations and standaahd this investment may result in increased géaed administrative expenses and a diversianaxfagement’s time
and attention from revenue-generating activitiesampliance activities. If our efforts to complyttvinew laws, regulations and standards differ ftbemactivities intended by
regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguitédated to their application and practice, regulatarthorities may initiate legal proceedings agdaiissand our business may
be adversely affected.

We also believe that being a public company andetmew rules and regulations make it more expeifisives to obtain director and officer liabilitysarance.

As a result of disclosure of information in thisiral Report and in filings required of a public quany, our business and financial condition are maible, which we
believe may result in threatened or actual litigatiincluding by competitors and other third pastié such claims are successful, our businespedating results could be
adversely affected. Even if the claims do not rteisuiitigation or are resolved in our favor, thedaims, and the time and resources necessargadveethem, could divert the
resources of our management and adversely affediuminess and operating results.

We may become involved in securities class actitigdtion that could divert managemerg’attention from our business and adversely affeat business and could subje
us to significant liabilities.

The stock markets have from time to time experidrsignificant price and volume fluctuations thavéaffected the market prices for the common stdgharmaceutical
companies. These broad market fluctuations asagedl broad range of other factors, including tladization of any of the risks described in thisteet may cause the market
price of our common stock to decline. In the pssturities class action litigation has often beught against a company following a decline inrrarket price of its
securities. This risk is especially relevant fobesause pharmaceutical companies generally exygerggnificant stock price volatility. We may beminvolved in this type
of litigation in the future. Litigation is often pensive and could divert management's attentionrasdurces from our primary business, which codiceesely affect our
business. Any adverse determination in any suigatibn or any amounts paid to settle any suchahcuthreatened litigation could require that wake significant payment

We are an emerging growth company and the reduceplarting requirements applicable to emerging growtbmpanies may make our common stock less attractos
investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as definetthénJOBS Act, and we may take advantage of cegbe@mptions from various reporting requirements #natapplicable
to public companies that are not emerging growthganies including, but not limited to, not beingu&ed to comply with the auditor attestation regments of Section 404
of the Sarbane®xley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regardimgcutive compensation in our periodic reports oty statements and exemptions from the requings
of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executieenpensation and stockholder approval of any gopdgachute payments not previously approved. loveshay find our
common stock less attractive because we may retjiese exemptions. If some investors find our comstock less attractive as a result, there maylbssaactive trading
market for our common stock, and our stock pricg tramore volatile.

In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also pdesi that an emerging growth company can take adgarntf the extended transition period providedenti®n 7(a)(2)(B) of
the Securities Act for complying with new or rexds&ccounting standards. In other words, an emegioggth company can delay the adoption of certaooanting standards
until those standards would otherwise apply togitewcompanies. However, we chose to “opt out” chsextended transition period, and as a resultameply with new or
revised accounting standards on the relevant det@gich adoption of such standards is requirechéor-emerging growth companies. Section 107 o®BS Act provides
that our decision to opt out of the extended ttasiperiod for complying with new or revised acoting standards was irrevocable.

As an emerging growth company, we have also chtwstake advantage of certain provisions of the J@BS&hat allow us to provide you with less infortiea in our public
reports than would otherwise be required if werarean emerging growth company. As a result, thiaual Report includes less information about us tlwauld otherwise be
required if we were not an emerging growth compaitiiin the meaning of the JOBS Act, which may mékaore difficult for you to evaluate an investmémiour company.

We would cease to be an emerging growth company tipoearliest of: (i) the last day of the fiscaby following the fifth anniversary of the compéetiof our initial public
offering, which occurred on June 25, 2014, (ii) k&t day of the fiscal year during which we hamawal gross revenue of at least $1.0 billion, {fig date on which we are
deemed to be a “large accelerated filer” undekehange Act (we will qualify as a large acceleddtker as of the first day of the first fiscal yegfter we have (a) more than
$700.0 million in outstanding common equity helddwyr nonaffiliates and (b) been public for at least 12 nisnthe value of our outstanding common equity lllmeasure
each year on the last business day of our sececal fjuarter); or (iv) the date on which we havejrdy the previous three-year period, issued muae $1.0 billion in non-
convertible debt securities.
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Some provisions of our charter documents and Delagviaw may have an-takeover effects that could discourage an acqudsitof us by others, even if an acquisition
would be beneficial to our stockholders, and mayepent attempts by our stockholders to replace eanoge our current management.

Provisions in our amended and restated certifichtecorporation and our amended and restated tsylas/well as provisions of the Delaware Generap@wation Law, or the
DGCL, could depress the trading price of our commstmeck by making it more difficult for a third pgrto acquire us or increase the cost of acquirggeuen if doing so
would benefit our stockholders, including transasi in which stockholders might otherwise receiygeanium for their shares. These provisions include

. authorizing the issuance of “blank chegkeferred stock, the terms of which may be estabtisand shares of which may be issued without btidk!
approval;

. prohibiting stockholder action by written consehgreby requiring all stockholder actions to beetakt a meeting of our stockholde

. eliminating the ability of stockholders to call gesial meeting of stockholdel

. establishing advance notice requirements for notioing for election to the board of directors or fwoposing matters that can be acted upon at sodebi
meetings; an

. establishing a classified board of directors, whgrenly one«third of the members of our board of directorseleeted at one tim:
These provisions may frustrate or prevent any giterny our stockholders to replace or remove ouect management by making it more difficult fopadtholders to replace
members of our board of directors, which is resgmedor appointing the members of our managemneraddition, we are subject to Section 203 of tli&dD, which
generally prohibits a Delaware corporation fromagigg in any of a broad range of business comhuinatwith an interested stockholder for a periothode years following
the date on which the stockholder became an irtestestockholder, unless such transactions are apgioy our board of directors. This provision codéday or prevent a
change of control, whether or not it is desiredbbyeneficial to our stockholders, which could a$fect the price that some investors are williagpay for our common stock.
Item 1B.Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable
Item 2.Properties.
Our manufacturing facilities are located in Ranchaamonga and South EI Monte, California; Cantoassachusetts; Eragny-sur-Epte, France; and Nafiniga. We own
or lease a total of 60 buildings at six locatiomshie U.S., France and China, that comprise 1.4ibmsquare feet of manufacturing, research anegld@ment, distribution,
packaging, laboratory, office and warehouse spaoce facilities are regularly inspected by the FD¥cbnnection with our product approvals, and wéelelthat all of our
facilities are being operated in material compl&mdth the FDA’'s cGMP regulations.

We are currently expanding our facility in Nanjir€hina and we expect that the investment in expendur facility in China will require a total of up approximately
$15.0 million. We currently have contractual comments with third parties obligating us to undertétkis investment.

In April 2014, we acquired Merck’s API manufactusibusiness in Eragny-sur-Epte, France, which matwifes porcine insulin AP and recombinant humaulin API, and
expect to continue the current site activities.
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The following table provides a summary of our owpedperties:

Aggregate
Facility Size
(in square
Location feet) Primary Use Segment
Rancho Cucamonga, CA 267,674 Headquarters, research and development, laborsitonenufacturing, Finished pharmaceutical
packaging, warehousing and administration off products
Eragny-sur-Epte, Franct 251,983 Manufacturing, laboratories, warehousing and adstriafion offices API
Canton, MA 251,750 Manufacturing, packaging, warehousing, distributo administratio Finished pharmaceutical
offices products
Nanjing, Chine 145,502 Manufacturing, research and development and wasshgu Finished pharmaceutical
products
Chino, CA® 57,968 Research and development, and laboratories Finished pharmaceutical
products
South El Monte, CA 10,000 Manufacturing Finished pharmaceutical
products

&} In October 2012, we purchased a building in Ch@aljfornia that we had originally leased from MiSwence Institute, a related party, for $7.4 mili

The properties leased by us have expiration dategmg from 2015 to 2025 (including certain renewaations). The following table provides a summaipuor leased
properties:

Aggregate
Facility Size
(in square
Location feet) Primary Use Segment
Nanjing, Chine 41,719 Procurement, manufacturing, laboratories and aditnation offices Finished pharmaceutical
products
Rancho Cucamonga, CA 94,545 Warehousing, distribution and administration office Finished pharmaceutical
products
South El Monte, CA 323,358 Manufacturing, packaging, warehousing, distributod administratio Finished pharmaceutical
offices products

We believe that our current manufacturing capasigdequate for the near term. We have in theg@sbached capacity at one of our facilities largel a result of the FDA’
request that we reintroduce certain previouslyatiioued products to help cope with a nation-widertage of these products. We believe that thegaaily issues have been
ameliorated as a result of certain other manufacsuie-entering the market and increasing the mtaztuof the products that were subject to the tstya.

Item 3.Legal Proceedings

The disclosure under Note 17 of the Notes to thesGlidated Financial Statements included elsewinett@s report is incorporated by reference in st |, Item 3.

Item 4.Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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PART Il
Iltem 5.Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our Common Stock is listed on the NASDAQ GlobaleéseMarket and has traded under the symbol “AMPHEe our initial public offering on June 25, 20%ior to this
date, there was no public market for our commookst@s a result, we have not set forth quarterfgimation with respect to the high and low prié@sour common stock f
the two most recent fiscal years.

The high and low market price for our Common Stdaking each of the quarterly periods since oufahfiublic offering is included below:

Market Price

High Low
2014
Second Quarte $ 10.5( $ 8.7t
Third Quartel $ 122 $ 8.6¢
Fourth Quarte $ 12.3¢ $ 9.9:

Dividend Policy

We have not declared or paid any dividends on @m@on Stock since our initial public offering. Wharrently anticipate that we will retain future eiags, if any, for the
development, operation and expansion of our busiaed do not anticipate declaring or paying anydéivds in the foreseeable future. Additionallyr ahility to pay
dividends on our common stock is limited by resimits under the terms of our existing credit faieii. Any future determinations related to dividgradicy will be made at th
discretion of our board of directors.

Holders of Record

At March 18, 2015, we had 44,564,667 shares of comstock outstanding held by approximately 421lgtolders of record of our Common Stock. We belitheeactual
number of stockholders is greater than this nurebegcord holders, and includes stockholders wiedb@neficial owners, but whose shares are heldtirét’name by brokel
and other nominees. This number of holders ofreeatso does not include stockholders whose shmagsbe held in trust by other entities.

Stock Performance Graph

This graph shall not be deemed “soliciting matetiat to be “filed” with the Securities and Exchang@mmission for purposes of Section 18 of the &&s1Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (Exchange Act), or otherwise sutmehe liabilities under that Section, and shadt be deemed to be incorporated by referenceanyofiling of Amphast:
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. under the Securities Act383] as amended, or the Exchange .

The following graph illustrates a comparison of th&al cumulative stockholder return on our comrstatk since June 25, 2014, which is the date onmeon stock first
began trading on the NASDAQ Global Select Markethwvo indices: the NASDAQ Composite Index and M&SDAQ Pharmaceutical Index. The graph assumesital
investment of $100 on June 25, 2014, in our comstock and in the stocks comprising each indeXst assumes reinvestment of dividends, if any.dtiisal stockholder
return shown is not necessarily indicative of fatperformance, and we do not make or endorse @ujqgpions as to future stockholder returns.
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COMPARISON OF 6 MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Amphastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc., the NASDAQ Composite Index
and the NASDAQ Pharmaceutical Index
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*$100 invested on 6/25/14 in stock or 6/30/14 in index, including reinvestment of dividends.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities During the Qarter Ended December 31, 2014

The table below provides information with respectaépurchases of our common stock.

Total Number of Shares Maximum Number of
Average Purchased as Part of Shares that May Yet Be
Total Number of Shares Price Paid Publicly Announced Plans  Purchased Under the Plan
Period Purchased® per Share or Programs or Programs
October 1- October 31, 201 — — — —
November } November 30, 201 — — — —
December - December 31, 201 29,40C $ 11.7C 29,40( —
(&) In December 2014, we repurchased shares of our constock as part of the $10.0 million share buyharcigram authorized by our Board of Directors orvéober 6, 2014.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

In fiscal 2014, we granted stock options underAmended and Restated 2005 Equity Incentive Awaath Rdr the 2005 Plan, to purchase 1,661,862 sbéms common
stock to certain of our officers, directors, emmey and consultants at exercise prices ranging $ih#0 to $15.84 per share. During such periodsaged an aggregate of
30,000 shares of common stock that were not regidtender the Securities Act pursuant to the egeraf stock options under our various stock oppilams for cash
consideration with aggregate exercise proceed$ .6fillion. During the same period, we also issaediggregate of 456,406 DSUs, to be settled ireshaf our common
stock, to directors, officers, employees and cdasts pursuant to our equity compensation plaries@& issuances were undertaken in reliance upaxéreption from
registration requirements available under Rule gfthe Securities Act.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

See Item 12, “Security Ownership of Certain Bernafi©wners and Management and Related Stockholdetek$”for information regarding securities authorizedifsuance
Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

In June 2014, we completed an initial public offigrior IPO, in which we sold 5,840,000 shares efammmon stock, which included 1,200,000 sharesuoftommon stock
pursuant to the underwriters’ exercise of theirrealotment option, at a price to the public of 8F per share, resulting in gross proceeds of $#dl®n. In connection with
the offering, we paid $6.2 million in underwritimiscounts, commissions, and offering costs, resylith net proceeds of $34.7 million. None of timelerwriting discounts ar
commissions or other offering expenses associaitbdtiae IPO were paid to directors, officers oritliespective associates, or to persons owning @0fgore of our common
stock.

We have invested the net proceeds from the IP@ddyct development, working capital and other gehesrporate purposes. There has been no matbegabe in the
planned use of proceeds from our initial publicedfig as described in our final prospectus filethwie SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b).

54




Table of Contents
Item 6.Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected financiatadas of and for the periods indicated. The setdkfihancial data set forth below has been deriv@t our consolidated
financial statements as of and for the years elmdesmber 31, 2014, 2013, 2012, and 2011, which beea audited by our independent registered pabtiounting firm. Th
data presented below should be read in conjunetitmour consolidated financial statements, theeadbd our consolidated financial statements amd ‘¢Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations.”

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011
(in thousands, except per share dat¢

Consolidated Statements of Operations Date

Net revenue $ 210,46. $ 229,68. $ 204,320 % 118,35¢
Cost of revenues 159,20t 142,72¢ 114,02( 90,25:
Gross profil 51,25¢ 86,95¢ 90,30:¢ 28,10«
Operating expense
Selling, distribution and marketir 5,56¢ 5,34¢ 4,42¢ 4,10C
General and administrati\ 34,80¢ 30,97: 27,22: 26,43:
Research and developme 28,421 33,01¢ 31,16 31,04¢
Impairment of long-lived assets 43¢ 12¢ 2,094 67
Total operating expenses 69,23¢ 69,46¢ 64,90¢ 61,64¢
Income (loss) from operatiol (17,989 17,49( 25,397 (33,545
Non-operating income (expenst
Interest income 243 187 242 401
Interest expens (60€) (95§) (784) (584)
Other income, net 201 50€ 1,02% 1,841
Total non-operating income (expense) (165) (26%) 481 1,65¢
Income (loss) before income tax (18,14%) 17,227 25,87¢ (31,88))
Income tax expense (benefit) (7,449 5,36¢ 7,784 (39,63¢)
Net income (loss $ (10,699 $ 11,86: $ 18,09« $ 7,752
Net income (loss) per common she
Basic $ 0.28) $ 031 $ 047 $ 0.2C
Diluted $ 0.25 $ 031 % 0.4¢ $ 0.2C
Weighte«-average shares used to compute net income (lossppenon share
Basic 41,957 38,71: 38,58( 38,51¢
Diluted 41,957 38,88!¢ 38,94( 38,91¢

December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Datz

Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and-term investment $ 69,32¢ $ 54,91: $ 52,10 $ 56,23
Working capital 135,40: 107,56¢ 105,61t 92,68
Total asset: 389,37( 338,74¢ 317,47" 282,17
Long-term debt and capital leases, including currentigo 43,70( 32,17: 38,00z 14,167
Retained earning 63,11( 73,80¢ 61,947 43,85
Total stockholder equity 281,86( 251,54! 233,43¢ 208,51¢
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Iltem 7.Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

The following is a discussion and analysis of thesolidated operating results, financial conditidiquidity and cash flows of our company as of émthe periods presented
below. The following discussion and analysis shdaldead in conjunction with the audited consoléhfinancial statements and the related notes tbereluded in Item 8
under the heading “Financial Statements and Supplgary Data.” This discussion contains forward-lauk statements that are based on the beliefs ohmmagement, as
well as assumptions made by, and information culyeavailable to, our management. Actual resultslddaiffer materially from those discussed in oplied by forward-
looking statements as a result of various factorsluding those discussed below and elsewhereisnthnual Report on Form 10-K, particularly in thection entitled “Risk
Factors”

Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company thatsiEprimarily on developing, manufacturing, margtnd selling technically-challenging generic anaprietary
injectable and inhalation products. Additionally2014, we commenced sales of insulin API produdts currently manufacture and sell 17 productsameddeveloping a
portfolio of 13 generic and eight proprietary irtale and inhalation product candidates.

Our largest product by net revenues is currentfxaparin sodium injection, the generic equivaldranofi S.A.’s Loveno® . Enoxaparin is a difficult to manufacture
injectable form of low molecular weight heparinttisused as an anticoagulant and is indicatedhidtiple indications, including the prevention anelatment of deep vein
thrombosis.

Our pipeline of 21 generic and proprietary prociarididates is in various stages of developmentangets a variety of indications. With respecthiteste product candidates,
we have filed three abbreviated new drug applicatione new drug application, or NDA, and one NDpmement with the U.S. Food and Drug Administatior FDA.

We have agreements with established group purahasganizations and wholesaler networks to distel@noxaparin, which is marketed under our ownl ldrehe hospital
and clinic market. For the U.S. retail market, veeédran agreement with Actavis, Inc., or Actavigdigiribute enoxaparin, which is marketed underaist label.

To complement our internal growth and expertisehaxee made several strategic acquisitions of comepaproducts and technologies. These acquisitiolisctively have
strengthened our core injectable and inhalatiodyecbtechnology infrastructure by providing additd manufacturing, marketing and research and dpwetnt capabilities
including the ability to manufacture raw materig®ls and other components for our products.

Business Segments

Our performance will be assessed and resourcedavidllocated based on the following two reportalelgments: (1) finished pharmaceutical products(2hective
pharmaceutical ingredients, or APl products. Thistied pharmaceutical products segment currendyufactures, markets and distributes enoxaparirtr@yn®, naloxone
lidocaine jelly, as well as, various other critieald non-critical care drugs. The API segmentanily manufactures and distributes recombinant uimsulin and porcine
insulin. Information reported herein is consisterth how it is reviewed and evaluated by our cliupérating decision maker. Factors used to ideotifysegments include
markets, customers and products.

For more information regarding our segments, seet'lP— Item 8. Financial Statements and SuppleargrData — Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateste Segment
Reporting Information.”
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Results of Operations
Year ended December 31, 2014 compared to year eDdme@mber 31, 2013
Net revenues
Year Ended December 31 Change

2014 2013 Dollars %
(in thousands)

Net revenue
Finished pharmaceutical produ

Enoxaparir $ 107,45¢ $ 14592: $  (38,46) (26%)
Other products 91,02« 83,75¢ 7,26¢€ 9%
Total finished pharmaceutical produ $ 19848( $ 22968: $ (31,207 (14%)
API 11,98 — 11,98: 10(%
Total net revenues $ 21046: $ 22968. $ (19,220 (8%)
Cost of revenue
Finished pharmaceutical produ $ 14575 $ 142,72 % 3,032 2%
API 13,44¢ — 13,44¢ 10(%
Total cost of revenues $ 159,200 $ 142,72 $ 16,48( 12%
Gross profit $ 5125 $ 8695 $ (35,700 (41%)
as % of net revenut 24% 38%

Net revenues were $210.5 million and $229.7 milfionthe years ended December 31, 2014 and 204Bectvely, representing a decrease of $19.2 mijliw 8%. The
decrease is primarily due to lower sales of enoriaand Cortrosy®. Total enoxaparin and Cortros§sales decreased $38.5 million and $2.5 milliorpeetively, due to
lower average prices and lower unit sales. This paatially offset by sales of naloxone and othiical care products as a result of both an ineega unit sales and higher
average prices. Additionally, during fiscal 2014 eommenced sales of recombinant human insulirpardne insulin from our insulin business, which agguired from
Merck in April 2014.

We expect that the declines in both the averadmggirice and the number of units sold of enoxapeiill continue in 2015, as an additional compatifTeva, recently
launched a competing enoxaparin product. We receaied prices on several other finished pharmazproducts, so we believe that the averagénggfirice of these
products will increase in 2015.

We anticipate that sales of insulin API will incseadue to sales under our supply agreement witmKiad. However, most of our API sales are denongdan Euros, and tt
declining value of the Euro versus the dollar Wwédlve a negative impact on API sales in 2015.

Cost of revenues

Cost of revenues was $159.2 million and $142.7ionilfor the years ended December 31, 2014 and 28%Bectively, representing an increase of $16lkomior 12%. The
increase is primarily due to the overall cost ofereue at AFP of $13.4 million, relating to the cofsales of our insulin products. We added headcauAFP, during the year,
to meet the additional planned sales quantitiéddonKind. The associated expenses resulted in ativeggross margin for the AFP business. The costvenues as a
percentage of revenues, increased to 76% from 6Ri§is increase as a percentage of revenues wat® dmeer pricing on enoxaparin and Cortro$yn

The declining prices of enoxaparin and Cortro8will put additional downward pressure on gross nregout this trend will be partially offset by imre@ses in prices of
several other finished pharmaceutical products.

As production levels increase at AFP, we anticiplase the API business will return to profitability

Selling, distribution and marketing, and general aml administrative

Year Ended December 31 Change
2014 2013 Dollars %
(in thousands)
Selling, distribution, and marketir $ 556/ $ 534¢ % 21F 1%
General and administrati\ 34,80¢ 30,97: 3,837 12%

General and administrative expenses were $34.&miéind $31.0 million for the years ended Decen®3ier2014 and 2013, respectively, representing erease of $3.8
million, or 12%. The increase was primarily duehe inclusion of expenses generated at our Freumbkidiary, AFP, which we acquired in April 2014daan increase in
corporate compensation expenses including stocgebesmpensation expense.

General and administrative expenses will increasaroannual basis due to the annualization of @sstsciated with our insulin business acquiredpnil2014, the costs
associated with compliance with Sarbanes-Oxleyiaedt04, and the full year impact of corporate pubbmpany expenses.
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Research and development

Year Ended December 31 Change
2014 2013 Dollars %
(in thousands)
Research and developme $ 28,427 $ 33,01¢ $ (4,597) (14%)

Research and development expenses were $28.4nmlio $33.0 million for the years ended DecembeR814 and 2013, respectively, representing a dseref $4.6
million, or 14%. The decrease is primarily duetdecrease in submission fees paid to the FDA duhie year ended December 31, 2014 and a decreapernding on
materials and other research and development sspplihis decrease was partially offset by an am®en clinical trials expense.

Research and development costs consist primaritpsts associated with the research and developphent product candidates, such as salaries dret personnel-related
expenses for employees involved with research amdldpment activities, manufacturing pre-launcteimery, clinical trials, FDA fees, testing, opengtiand lab supplies,
depreciation and amortization and other relate@gpgps. We expense research and development castsiasd.

We have made, and expect to continue to make, antistinvestments in research and developmentpgared our product portfolio and grow our busind$sese costs will
fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter edn the timing of various clinical trials, theegaunch costs associated with new products, ansl fifing fees. As we
undertake new and challenging research and develaippnojects, we anticipate that the associatedalroosts will increase significantly in 2015 talZQtime period.

The following table sets forth our research andettgwment expenses for the years ended Decemb2034,and 2013:

Year Ended December 31 Change
2014 2013 Dollars %
(in thousands)
Salaries and personr-related expense $ 11,28: $ 9,70 $ 1,58( 16%
Pre-launch inventon 1,01¢ 3,43¢ (2,42]) (7C%)
Clinical trials 1,91¢ 41 1,87« 457%
FDA fees — 4,16¢ (4,169 (10%)
Testing, operating and lab suppl 6,511 8,82¢ (2,319 (26%)
Depreciation and amortizatic 3,72¢ 3,24z 482 15%
Other expenses 3,97¢ 3,601 374 10%
Total research and development expenses $ 28,421 $ 33,01¢  $ (4,597 (1405)
Impairment of long-lived assets
Year Ended December 31 Change
2014 2013 Dollars %
(in thousands)
Impairment of lon-lived asset: $ 43¢ 3 12¢  $ 31z 248%

Impairment of long-lived assets was $0.4 milliond &®.1 million for the year ended December 31, 28id 2013, respectively, representing an increb$6.8 million, or
248%. The increase is primarily related to cajziéal cost associated with a project that was swgzbduring the year ended December 31, 2014.

Provision for income tax expense (benefit)

Year Ended December 31 Change
2014 2013 Dollars %
(in thousands)
Income tax expense (benet $ (7,449 % 536 $ (12,819 (23<%)
Effective tax rate (41%) 31%

Income tax benefit was $7.4 million for the yeadet December 31, 2014 compared to an income taensgpof $5.4 million for the year ended Decembe2813,
representing a decrease in income tax expense2dd $dillion, or 239%. The decrease in income taxemse is primarily related to the peex loss that occurred during the y
ended December 31, 2014.
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Year ended December 31, 2013 compared to year eBaéeember 31, 2012
Net revenues
Year Ended December 31 Change

2013 2012 Dollars %
(in thousands)

Net revenue
Finished pharmaceutical produ

Enoxaparir $ 145920 $ 127,700 $ 18,21¢ 14%
Other products 83,75¢ 76,61¢ 7,13¢ 9%
Total finished pharmaceutical produ $ 22968 $ 204320 $ 25,35¢ 12%
API — — — —
Total net revenues $ 22968: $ 204320 $ 25,35¢ 12%
Cost of revenue
Finished pharmaceutical produ: $ 142,72 ¢ 11402t $ 28,70¢ 25%
API — — — —
Total cost of revenues $ 142,728 $ 114,02( $ 28,70t 25%
Gross profit $ 86,95¢  $ 90,30: $ (3,349 (4%)
as % of net revenut 38% 44%

Net revenues were $229.7 million and $204.3 milfienthe years ended December 31, 2013 and 204@ectvely, representing an increase of $25.4 onijlor 12%. The
increase was primarily due to an increase of $&8lifon in sales of enoxaparin. Other product rev@imcreased by $7.1 million as a result of a terapgoshortage by one of
our competitors in the market place for these petgjuvhich we do not expect to recur in future pasi

Cost of revenues

Cost of revenues were $142.7 million and $114.0onilfor the years ended December 31, 2013 and,2@%pectively, representing an increase of $28/liom or 25%,
primarily due to an increase in sales unit volurhermxaparin. In addition, during the year endedd»eber 31, 2012, we benefitted from the effectanfitng previously
expensed $7.7 million of enoxaparin inventory cast®8011 as pre-launched inventory.

Gross profit as a percentage of net revenues wWisaB®l 44% for the years ended December 31, 2012@I2| respectively. The decrease is primarilgitesl to the effect of
having previously expensed $7.7 million of enoxaparventory in 2011 as pre-launched inventory.

Selling, distribution and marketing, and general aml administrative

Year Ended December 31 Change
2013 2012 Dollars %
(in thousands)
Selling, distribution, and marketir $ 534¢ $ 4,42¢ $ 922 21%
General and administratiy 30,97 27,22 3,74¢ 14%

General and administrative expenses were $31.@mgind $27.2 million for the years ended Decen®#er2013 and 2012, respectively, representing emease of $3.8
million, or 14%. The increase was primarily duetoincrease in compensation expenses and an hotf&a0 million related to the retirement of darmer Chief Financial
Officer in the year ended December 31, 2013.

Research and development

Year Ended December 31 Change
2013 2012 Dollars %
(in thousands)
Research and developme $ 33,01¢ % 31,16: $ 1,85¢€ 6%
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Research and development expenses were $33.0nmlio $31.2 million for the years ended DecembeR813 and 2012, respectively, representing areas® of $1.9
million, or 6%. The increase is primarily relatedsubmission fees paid to the FDA during 2013 civlis offset by a decrease in clinical trial exgens

The following table sets forth our research andettgyment expenses for the years ended Decemb2033,and 2012:

Year Ended December 31 Change
2013 2012 Dollars %
(in thousands)
Salaries and personr-related expense $ 9,70: $ 8,87¢ $ 82t 9%
Pre-launch inventon 3,43¢ 3,167 272 9%
Clinical trials 41 3,667 (3,62¢) (99%)
FDA fees 4,16¢ — 4,16¢ 10(%
Testing, operating and lab suppl 8,82 8,61/ 21C 2%
Depreciation and amortizatic 3,24z 2,10¢ 1,13¢ 54%
Other expenses 3,601 4,731 (1,130 (24%)
Total research and development expenses $ 33,01¢ $ 31,16:  $ 1,85¢ 6%
Impairment of long-lived assets
Year Ended December 31 Change
2013 2012 Dollars %
(in thousands)
Impairment of lon-lived asset: $ 12¢ $ 2,092 $ (1,96¢) (94%)

Impairment of long-lived assets was $0.1 million &2.1 million for years ended December 31, 20182412, respectively, representing a decrease.6fiéillion, or
94%. The decrease primarily related to equipmenafproduction project that was suspended duhieg/ear ended December 31, 2012.

Provision for income tax expense

Year Ended December 31 Change
2013 2012 Dollars %
(in thousands)
Income tax expens $ 536 $ 7,78  $ (2,419 (31%)
Effective tax rate 31% 30%

Income tax expense was $5.4 million and $7.8 nmilfir the years ended December 31, 2013 and 264@ectively, representing a decrease in incomexp&nse of

$2.4 million, or 31%. The decrease in income tapesse is primarily related to the retroactive agilon in the year ended December 31, 2013 ofaterl research and
development tax credit for the 2012 tax year. EHugslation renewing the allowance of the federalRi&x credit for 2012 was not passed into law ukdituary 2013,
therefore, the R&D tax credit was not factored iotw 2012 income tax expense. Also, the decreagedme tax expense is related to a decrease ablaincome.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Requirements and Sources

Our business requires capital resources in orderaiotain and expand our business. Our futuret@agkpenditures will include projects undertakempgrade, expand and
improve our manufacturing facilities in the UnitSthtes, China and France. Our cash obligatioisdedhe principal and interest payments due oreaisting loans as
described below and throughout this report. Weebelithat our cash reserves, operating cash flavésaaailability under our revolving credit facilityill be sufficient to meet
our cash needs for the foreseeable future.

Working capital increased $27.8 million to $135.dlion at December 31, 2014 compared to $107.6ionilat December 31, 2013. The increase in workapgtal was

primarily due to cash in-flows from operations @f1$l million and the proceeds from our initial pulffering of $34.7 million, partially offset bygyments on long-term debt
of $8.2 million and capital expenditures of $20.#ion.

60




Table of Contents
Cash Flows from Operations
The following table summarizes our cash flows usegberating, investing, and financing activities the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Statement of Cash Flow Data
Net cash provided by (used |

Operating activitie: $ 21,05: $ 31,04: $ (2,650
Investing activities (39,779 (18,299 (25,117)
Financing activities 32,111 (9,370 23,23
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 84¢ — —
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis $ 14,24.  $ 337¢ % (3,52%)

Sources and Use of Cas

Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities was $2illion for the year ended December 31, 2014, Whicluded a net loss of $10.7 million. M-cash items are comprised of
$14.4 million of depreciation and amortization, 3nillion of share-based compensation expenseagt8 million change in deferred taxes and otier¢lated
items. Additionally, we received a deposit of €lfnillion, or approximately $14.0 million, from MaKind for future deliveries of insulin.

Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities of $39.8 ianillfor the year ended December 31, 2014 was pilyrratated to the purchase of an API facility iraRce from Merck witt
an initial payment of $18.4 million, and $20.5 naifl in purchases of property, machinery, and eqgaigimincluding the associated capitalized laboriatetest on self-
constructed assets. Additionally, $0.8 million Epdsits were made for machinery and equipment.

Financing Activities
Net cash provided by financing activities of $3hillion for the year ended December 31, 2014 wamgmnily related to proceeds of our initial publifering of $38.0 million,
after deducting $2.9 million in underwriting disets and commissions incurred in connection thetewite also paid $3.3 million in offering expensedirred in connection
with the IPO, resulting in net proceeds of $34.Wiam. Additionally, net cash provided by finangirctivities included $21.9 million in borrowingslated to the purchase of
the API facility in France from Merck, and $4.6 haih relating to the refinancing of an existing igarge. This was offset by $1.9 million relatedte cost associated with 1
initial public offering, $15.0 million in net repaents related to our line of credit, $14.2 milliorprincipal payments on debt, and $1.1 millioratiglg to the tax benefit of
options exercised.
Debt and Borrowing Capacit
Our outstanding debt obligations are summarizefolasvs:

December 31

2014 2013 change
(in thousands)
Shor-term debt and current portion of Ic-term debi $ 759 % 22,10¢ $ (24,510
Long-term debt 36,10¢ 10,06¢ 26,03¢
Total debt $ 43,70 $ 32,17 $ 11,52¢

The increase in long-term debt is primarily relatedhe debt associated with the Merck API Trarieacind the refinancing of an existing mortgageclihwas to mature in
March 2014 and will now mature in April 2021.
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As of December 31, 2014, we had $38.0 million insed borrowing capacity under revolving lines @it with Cathay Bank and East West Bank.
Indebtedness

Line of Credit Facility— Due March 2016

In March 2012, we entered into a $10.0 million lafecredit facility with East West Bank. Borrowingader the facility are secured by inventory ancbaats receivable.
Borrowings under the facility bear interest at pinene rate as published Ahe Wall Street JournalThis facility was to mature in July 2014. In A2D14, we extended the
maturity date to March 2016. As of December 31,£20ide did not have any amounts outstanding undefahility.

Revolving Line of Cred— Due May 2016

In April 2012, we entered into a $20.0 million réxiag line of credit facility with Cathay Bank. Bawings under the facility are secured by inventagcounts receivables,
and intangibles held by us. The facility bearsrieseat the prime rate as publishedTtine Wall Street Journatith a minimum interest rate of 4.00%. This revolyiine of
credit was to mature in May 2014. In April 2014, medified the facility to extend the maturity daseMay 2016. As of December 31, 2014, we did neehany amounts
outstanding under this facility.

Line of Credit Facility— Due January 2019

In July 2013, we entered into an $8.0 million lofecredit facility with East West Bank. Borrowingader the facility are secured by equipment. We paonthly interest-only
payments on the loan until January 2015, after whie began making 48 monthly principal and intepagtments. The facility bears interest at the priate as published in
The Wall Street Journgllus 0.25% and matures in January 2019. As of Dbeel, 2014, we did not have any amounts outstgnatider this facility.

Financial Covenants Under Lines of Cre

At December 31, 2014, we were not in compliancé wito of our financial covenants with Cathay Bafke first one required a fixed charge coverage mttil.2 to 1.0, or
greater, and the second one required a minimumsgebice coverage ratio of 1.5 to 1.0, or gredderMarch 13, 2015, we obtained a waivers of thed® dovenants for the
period ending December 31, 2014. At DecembefB13, we were in compliance with all of our debtewmants, which include a minimum current ratio, imiim debt
service coverage, minimum tangible net worth andimam debt-to-effective-tangible-net-worth rati@neputed on a consolidated basis in some instamzksraa separate-
company basis in others.

Weighted-Average Interest Rates Under Lines of i€red
The weighted-average interest rates on lines afittas of December 31, 2014 and 2013 were 3.6%laki¥d, respectively.
Acquisition Loan with Cathay Bai— Due April 2019

On April 22, 2014, in conjunction with our acquisit of Merck’s API manufacturing business in Eragny-Epte, France, we entered into a secured amWith Cathay
Bank as lender. The principal amount of the loa$2i$.9 million and bears a variable interest rathe prime rate as published Be Wall Street Journalwith a minimum
interest rate of 4.00%. Beginning on June 1, 20tdithrough the maturity date, April 22, 2019, wesinmake monthly payments of principal and inteeggtal to the then
outstanding amount of the loan amortized over arhdfth period. On April 22, 2019, all amounts oamsting under the loan become due and payable, wiocid be
approximately $12.0 million based upon an interast of 4.00%. The loan is secured by 65% of thedd and outstanding shares of stock in AmphassercE
Pharmaceuticals S.A.S., or AFP, a subsidiary wabéished in France in order to facilitate the asijioin, and certain assets of ours, including ant®teceivable, inventory,
certain investment property, goods, deposit acaoantl general intangibles but not including ouriggent and real property.

The loan includes customary restrictions on, anathgr things, our ability to incur additional indeness, pay dividends in cash or make other ligtons in cash, make
certain investments, acquire other companies, €lleats, sell assets and make loans. The loarcal#ains customary financial covenants, computed oonsolidated basis,
which include a minimum tangible net worth, a maoimtotal liabilities to tangible net worth ratiopanimum current ratio, a minimum profitability aadminimum fixed
charge coverage ratio.

The loan also includes customary events of defthdtpccurrence and continuation of any of whiabvjate Cathay Bank the right to exercise remediesnsg us and the

collateral securing the loan. These events of deiffaclude, among other things, our failure to @y amounts due under the loan, our insolvencyoticarrence of any defal
under certain other indebtedness or material aggatsrand a final judgment against us that is resttdirged in 30-days.
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Merck Payment Obligatio— Due December 2017

On April 30, 2014, in conjunction with the Merck APransaction, we entered into a commitment obiagatvith Merck, in the principal amount of €11.6lion, or $16.0
million, subject to currency exchange fluctuatiofi$he terms of the purchase price include annuaheats over four years and bear a fixed intereésta83.00%. The final
payment to Merck relating to this obligation is dbecember 2017. In December 2014, we made a pehpayment of €4.9 million, or $6.0 million.

As of December 31, 2014, the payment obligationdadok value of €6.9 million, or $8.2 million, vehi approximates fair value. The fair value of plagment obligation
was determined by using the interest rate assalciwith our acquisition loan with Cathay Bank thatbs a variable interest rate at the prime rapribished byl he Wall
Street Journa) with a minimum interest rate of 4.00%. The fatue of the debt obligation is not neeasured on a recurring basis and the variableestteate is deemed to
a Level 2 input for measuring fair value.

Critical Accounting Policies

We prepare our consolidated financial statemenégeaordance with U.S. generally accepted accoumptimgiples, or GAAP. The preparation of consoléthfinancial
statements in conformity with GAAP requires managetiio make estimates and assumptions that affecrmounts reported in the consolidated finant@éments and
accompanying notes. Actual results could diffenfrinose estimates. In some cases, changes indharding estimates are reasonably likely to ocoomfperiod to period.
Accordingly, actual results could differ materialtpm our estimates. To the extent that there aterial differences between these estimates an@dlaetsults, our financial
condition and results of operations will be affelcté/e base our estimates on past experience ardagbumptions that we believe are reasonable tineleircumstances, and
we evaluate these estimates on an ongoing basiseféfeto accounting estimates of this type ascafiiccounting policies, which we discuss furtbhelow. While our
significant accounting policies are more fully déised in Note 2 to our audited consolidated finahstatements, we believe that the following actiogrpolicies are critical
to the process of making significant judgments estitmates in the preparation of our audited codated financial statements.

Revenue Recognitic

Our net revenues consist principally of revenuersegeted from the sale of our pharmaceutical pradaist! profit sharing revenues received under afitharing agreement
with Actavis. We also generate a small amount eéneies from contract manufacturing services. Gdlgeree recognize revenues at the time of prodativery to our
customers. In some cases, revenues are recogtittegltane of shipment when stipulated by the teofthe sale agreements. We also record profitishaevenues, which
are included in net revenues, from a distributigreament with Actavis at the time Actavis sells pheducts to its customers. Revenues derived fromract manufacturing
services are recognized when third-party produgshipped to customers, after the customer hapsaxt test samples of the products to be shipped.

We do not recognize product revenues unless theafislg fundamental criteria are met: (i) persuasveence of an arrangement exists, (i) transfeitle has occurred,
(iii) the price to the customer is fixed or detenatdle and (iv) collection is reasonably assuredthéumore, we do not recognize revenues until@t@mer acceptance
requirements have been met. We estimate and reedudtions to revenues for early-payment discoymrtsjuct returns, administrative and managemeist febates and
pricing adjustments, such as wholesaler chargebackse same period that the related revenuescamded.

If actual future payments for the discounts, resufaes, rebates and chargebacks exceed the estimatmade at the time of sale, our financial ositesults of operations
and cash flows would be negatively impacted. Asulised under “Accrual for Product Returns” below,axe generally obligated to accept from our custsrthe return of
pharmaceuticals that have or will soon reach thgairation dates. We establish reserves for suabuats based on historical experience and otherrrdtion available at the
time of sale, but the actual returns will not ocauntil several years after the sale. We have signit experience with returns of our products othan enoxaparin, but since
we only began selling our enoxaparin product iruday 2012, we have limited experience with retuwhexpired enoxaparin. Although we believe that estimates and
assumptions are reasonable as of the date when atdal results may differ significantly from tleesstimates. Our financial position, results ofrafiens and cash flows
may be materially and negatively impacted if acteflirns exceed our estimated allowances for return

We establish allowances for estimated chargebauttpeoduct returns based on a number of qualitaindequantitative factors, including:
= contract pricing and return terms of our agreemeitts customers

= wholesaler inventory levels and turnov
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= historical chargeback and product return re

= shelf lives of our products, which is generally tyears, as is the case with enoxape

= direct communication with custome

= anticipated introduction of competitive productsaathorized generics; ai

= anticipated pricing strategy changes by us andiocompetitors
Provision for Wholesaler Chargebac
The provision for chargebacks is a significantreate used in the recognition of revenues. As fastiosales terms with wholesale customers, weeagreeimburse
wholesalers for differences between the wholesaéeg, at which we sell our products to wholesalans! the lower prices at which the products aseldeunder our various
contractual arrangements with third parties suchospitals and group purchasing organizations. $tlenate chargebacks at the time of sale to whaeshlased on wholesa

inventory stocking levels, historic chargeback saad current contract pricing.

The provision for chargebacks is reflected in eeenues and a reduction to accounts receivablefollbeving table is an analysis of our chargebaohkvfsion:

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013

(in thousands)
Beginning balanc $ 18,10¢ $ 11,89¢
Provision related to sales made in the currenbpl 156,23! 213,07!
Credits issued to third parties (162,46 (206,869
Ending balance $ 11,87. $ 18,10«

Changes in the chargeback provision from periggketgod are primarily dependent on our sales to esalers, the level of inventory held at the whdkrsaand the
wholesalers’ customer mix. The approach that wetagstimate chargebacks has been consistentlieddpt all periods presented. Variations in este@asdave been
historically small. We continually monitor the pision for chargebacks and make adjustments whelneleve that the actual chargebacks may differ foenestimates. The
settlement of chargebacks generally occurs witBid&ys after the sale to wholesalers.

Accrual for Product Return

We offer most customers the right to return quedifexcess or expired inventory for partial crefdityever, products sold to Actavis are non-retu@aBlur product returns
primarily consist of the returns of expired produtbm sales made in prior periods. Returned przdcennot be resold. At the time product revenuesecognized, we reco
an accrual for estimated returns. The accrualsethan part, upon the historical relationship @fduct returns to sales and customer contract téVesalso assess other
factors that could affect product returns includimgrket conditions, product obsolescence and thedaction of new competition. Although these fastdo not normally give
our customers the right to return products outsidiae regular return policy, we realize that stattors could ultimately lead to increased retutlis. analyze these situations
on a case-by-case basis and make adjustments podtthect return reserve as appropriate.

When we do not have specific historical experienith actual returns for a product, we consider pthailable information to record a reasonable pobdeturn reserve. If w
already sell products that are similar to a newlyniched product, we estimate the new product redenusing historical experience of similar pradutf there are similar
products on the market produced by other compawiesnay also consider the additional relevant ibgugata in calculating our estimate. The critersed to make the
determination of whether a new product is simitaexisting products includes whether it: (i) isdiger the treatment of a similar type of diseaséndication, (ii) has a
comparable shelf life, (iii) has similar frequermfydosing, (iv) has similar types of customers,igwlistributed in a similar manner and (vi) hasitr rights of return and oth
comparable sales incentives. We also consider wheth have the ability to monitor inventory levielour distribution channels to determine the utydieg patient demand
for a new product. We analyze the product’s seltigh cycle based on wholesaler chargeback claimsastomers’ re-ordering patterns to determinethdrehe estimated
product return rate is reasonable. Additionally,asesider factors such as size and maturity ofrteeket prior to launch and the introduction of aiddial competition. If the
available information is not sufficient to recordemsonable product return accrual, revenues frensales of the new product would be deferred thiproduct is consumed
by the end customer or rights of return granteceuige return policy have expired. Historically, aeve not deferred revenues on any of our products.
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On each balance sheet date, we classify that pasfiour accrual for product returns that is atttétble to products that are eligible for returnhivitl2 months following the
balance sheet date as a current obligation ancethainder as a long-term obligation.

The provision for product returns is reflected @t revenues. The following table is an analysiswfproduct return liability:

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013

(in thousands)
Beginning balanc $ 459: $ 2,67
Provision for product returr (714) 2,711
Credits issued to third parties (1,470 (792)
Ending balance $ 2,40¢  $ 4,592

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2012gouegate product return rate was 1.1% and 1.4§oalffied sales, respectively.
Inventory

Inventories, net of allowances, are stated atatet of cost or market. Cost is determined by trst-in, first-out method. Inventories are reviewgetiodically for slow-
moving or obsolete status. We adjust our inventomeflect situations in which the cost of inventé not expected to be recovered. We would reeamkerve to adjust
inventory to its net realizable value: (i) if a faah of a new product is delayed and inventory matybe fully utilized and could be subject to impaént, (ii) when a product is
close to expiration and not expected to be saljiwhen a product has reached its expiration datéiv) when a product is not expected to be b&lain determining the
reserves for these products, we consider factats as the amount of inventory on hand and its reimgishelf life and current and expected marketi@é@ms, including
management forecasts and levels of competition.

Impairment of Intangibles and Lo-Lived Assets

We review long-lived assets and identifiable infafeyassets for impairment whenever events or obsimgcircumstances indicate that the carrying athofian asset may not
be recoverable. Such events and circumstancesimdecisions by the FDA regarding evidence of éffeness of proprietary drug candidates or bioeajeivce (sameness) of
our generic product candidates as compared tcefeesnce drug, communication with the regulatomrages regarding the safety and efficacy of oudpets under review,
the use of the asset in current research and dawelat projects, any potential alternative usedefasset in other research and development prajettte short-to-medium
term, clinical trial results and research and dewelent portfolio management options. Determinatibrecoverability is based on an estimate of uralisted future cash
flows resulting from the use of the asset andvutnéual disposition. If the sum of the expectedifetundiscounted cash flows is less than the eagrgmount of the asset,
further impairment analysis is performed. An imp&nt loss is measured as the amount by which tingimg amount exceeds the fair value of the agsestsets to be held and
used) or fair value less cost to sell (assets tdisgosed of).

Indefinite-lived intangibles, which include goodirahd the Primaten®Mist trademark acquired in June 2008, are testedrfpairment annually or more frequently if
indicators of impairment are present. An impairmess is recorded if the asset’s fair value is tbs its carrying value. We also periodically evithe Primaten®@ Mist
trademark to determine if events and circumstanoasinue to support an indefinite useful life.Hetlife is no longer indefinite, the asset is tddtg impairment. The carrying
value, after recognition of any impairment lossansortized over its remaining useful life.

Since December 31, 2011 we are no longer allowelistoibute the CFC formulation of our Primatéhiglist product related to this intangible asset. Hogrewe have
developed a hydrofluoroalkane, or HFA, versionhi$ product, which we plan to market under the strame name. In 2013, we filed a new drug applicgtor NDA, for
Primatene® Mist HFA. In May 2014, we received a complete mse letter, or CRL, from the FDA, which requiréslitional non-clinical information, label revisioasd
follow-up studies (label comprehension, behaviaral actual use) to assess consumers’ ability téhesdevice correctly to support approval of thedpict in the over-the-
counter setting. Additionally, the CRL noted cutr@ood Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP, deficiesdn a recent inspection of our API supplier's ofanturing facility,
which produces epinephrine, and indicated thafNidlA could not be approved until these issues weselved. Subsequent to the receipt of the CRLstipplier notified us
that the cGMP deficiencies were satisfactorily hesd. Accordingly, we believe this condition fgg@oval has been satisfied. We met with the FD®atober 2014 to
discuss preliminary data results and to clarifyFlgA requirements for further studies. We arehim process of generating the remaining data redjbyehe CRL and plan to
submit an NDA amendment that we believe will additte FDAS concerns. However, there can be no guaranteariamendment to our NDA will result in timely appal
of the product or approval at all.
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All of our impairments relate primarily to the waibff of certain manufacturing equipment relate@dtandoned projects. Since we periodically assesproduct candidates
and make changes to product development plansieue impairment charges from time to time. Thesgrgés can fluctuate significantly from period toipe.
Deferred Income Taxe

We utilize the liability method of accounting fordome taxes. Under the liability method, deferseces are determined based on the temporary diffeseipetween the
financial statements and tax basis of assets abilifies using enacted tax rates. A valuationvadince is recorded when it is more likely than that the deferred tax assets
will not be realized. We have adopted the with-arnthout methodology for determining when excesshierefits from the exercise of share-based awasdeealized. Under
the with-and-without methodology, current year @pieig loss deductions and prior year operating ¢ass/forwards are deemed to be utilized prioh wtilization of current
year excess tax benefits from share-based awards.

A number of years may elapse before an uncertaipdaition for which we have established a taxmesés audited and finally resolved. The numbeyexdrs for which we ce
be subject to audit varies depending on the tagdiation. While it is often difficult to prediche final outcome or the timing of the resolutioraofaudit, we believe that our
reserves for uncertain tax benefits reflect theoute of tax positions that is more likely than tmbccur. The resolution of a matter could be reied as an adjustment to
our provision for income taxes and our effectiver@e in the period of resolution, and may alspine a use of cash.

Share-Based Compensation

Options issued under our Amended and Restated R§0By Incentive Award Plan, or the 2005 Plan, geeerally granted at prices equal to or greater tha fair value of th
underlying shares on the date of grant and vestdbas continuous service. The options have a octothiterm of five to ten years and generally waar a three- to five-year
period. The fair value of each option is amortizgd compensation expense on a straight-line liztiseen the grant date for the option and the vgstate. The awards of
restricted common stock such as deferred stock,umitDSUs, are valued at fair value on the dagramt. We use the Black-Scholes option pricing ehdd determine the fair
value of share-based awards. The Black-Scholesropticing model has various inputs such as theastd common share price, the ris&e interest rate, volatility, expeci
life and dividend yield, all of which are estimat®#ée used the risk free rate on U.S. Treasury siggsiat the time of grant for instruments with oréttes commensurate with
the expected term of the stock option. Our volstiistimate was based on a set of peer compairies, sur shares do not have sufficient tradingonjstOur dividend yield
was assumed to be 0%, because we have no plaag tiyidends. We also record share-based compensatpense net of expected forfeitures. The chahgay of these
inputs could significantly impact the determinatmiithe fair value of our options and thus coulghsficantly impact our results of operations. Thare no significant awards
with performance conditions and no awards with retidonditions.

Common Stock Valuation
For all equity grants prior to our IPO, we wereuiegd to estimate the fair value of the commonlstaederlying our share-based awards when perforithiedair value
calculations with the Black-Scholes option-pricmgdel. The fair values of the common stock undedydur share-based awards were determined by @ud lod directors,
with input from management and contemporaneoud-iarty valuations. We believe that our board oéctiors has the relevant experience and expeatidetermine the fair
value of our common stock. As described below gtkercise price of our share-based awards was detdrby our board of directors based on the mastnethird-party
valuation report as of the grant date.
Given the absence of a public trading market ofammmon stock, and in accordance with Ameerican Institute of Certified Public AccountaRtsctice Guide, Valuation of
Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities Issued as Compemsabur board of directors exercised reasonable judgrand considered numerous objective and subgectiv
factors to determine the best estimate of theviaine of our common stock including:

= valuations of our common stock performed by unealdhirc-party specialists

= our launch of new products into the market and &rddooking assumptions of our pipelir

= results of litigation

= receipt of FDA approvals and PDUFA dat

= lack of marketability of our common stoc
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= our actual operating and financial performance fandard looking assumption
= current business conditions and projectic
= hiring of key personnel and the experience of canagement
= our company history and the introduction of newdorets;
= our stage of developmet
= likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, suchas initial public offering or a merger or acquisitiof our company given prevailing market condisi
= the market performance of comparable publicly tdaclempanies; an
= the U.S. and global capital market conditic

The dates of our valuation reports, which were areg on a quarterly basis, were not always conteamgous with the grant dates of our share-basetdlawBherefore, in
those cases where the report was not contemporanetiuthe grant date of the stock based awards;omsidered the amount of time between the valoagport date and tt
grant date to determine whether to use the lateatron stock valuation report for the purposes ¢émaining the fair value of our common stock fardicial reporting
purposes. If share-based awards were grantedhiargygeriod of time preceding the date of a vatrateport, we assessed the fair value of such diesed awards used for
financial reporting purposes after consideringfttievalue reflected in the subsequent valuatigroreand other facts and circumstances on theafajeant as discussed
below. There were significant judgments and estsatherent in these valuations, which includedmagdions regarding our future operating performatioe time to
completing an initial public offering or other liglity event and the determinations of the apprdpnialuation methods to be applied.

In valuing our common stock, our board of directdesermined the equity value of our business ugergerally accepted valuation methodologies inclgdiiscounted cash
flow analysis and comparable public company anslysi

Discounted cash flow analysis measures the valaecoimpany by the present value of its future esbadenefits. These benefits can include earniogs, savings, tax
deductions and proceeds from disposition. Valuéatibns are developed by discounting expected ftasls to their present value at a rate of retiwat incorporates the risk-
free rate for the use of funds, the expected rhieflation and risks associated with the particutevestment.

The comparable public company analysis measuregthe of a company through the analysis of resalés of comparable companies focused on the Spleaomaceuticals
as traded in the public markets. This method afiatn involves analyzing transaction and finandetia of publicly-traded companies to develop rplés. These multiples,
usually of estimated sales, earnings before intetases, depreciation and amortization, or EBIT@AG net income, are then applied to the subjeopemy to develop an
indication of value. For purposes of our comparghiblic company analysis, our peer group of Ur&sed publicly traded companies used for valuasiimates, including tt
determination of the discount rate, volatility asgtions and market trading multiples is comprisedampanies that focus primarily on the sale ofrpteceutical products.
More specifically, we focused on companies withikinpharmaceutical product offerings in the ingde and inhalation markets. From time to time wpdated the set of
peer group companies as new or more relevant irgftom became available. Within each valuation repbis peer group was used for valuation estimatetuding the
determination of the discount rate, volatility asgtions and market trading multiples. While we &edi that these groups of comparable companiesapgm®priate, there are
differences in size or stage of maturity betweemyraf our selected peer public companies and ustefbre, had a different set of peer companies heed, a different
valuation may have resulted.

Once calculated, the board determines the midpditite results of the discounted cash flow andntlagket comparable approach and then weights thertetbodologies to
determine an estimated enterprise value.

Once an enterprise value was determined, we dilize option pricing method, or OPM, to allocate &guity value to our common stock. The OPM vaksesh equity class
by creating a series of call options on our equitiue, with exercise prices based on the strikeegrof derivatives. This method is generally pref@mwhen future outcomes
are difficult to predict and dissolution or liquién is not imminent. The inability to readily sshares of a company increases the owner’s exptsetenging market
conditions and increases the risk of ownershipaBse of the lack of marketability and the resultmgeased risk associated with ownership of agpely-held stock, an
investor typically demands a higher return or yieldomparison to a similar but publicly-tradedcitoAn indication of the discount for lack of mat&kility can be developed
using a put option model. A put option model valuémt the illiquid security holder lacks, the alyilio sell his or her shares. Theoretically, a boldf an illiquid security and
a put option, and a holder of an identical, butiligsecurity, are in the same financial positiohe put option model has the benefit of being comggpecific (through the use
of a company-specific volatility rate), verifiatded has relatively few inputs (risk free rate, temna volatility).

67




Table of Contents
JOBS Act Accounting Election

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies etaycadopting new or revised accounting standasigeid subsequent to the enactment of the JOBSnitsuch time
as those standards apply to private companies.a¥e ilrevocably elected not to avail ourselveshif éxemption from new or revised accounting stesglaand, therefore,
will be subject to the same new or revised accagritandards as other public companies that aremetging growth companies.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting StandardaBpor FASB, issued an Accounting Standard Uptiatee accounting guidance to address the diveirsityactice related
to the financial statement presentation of unrezeghtax benefits as either a reduction of a detetax asset or a liability when a net operatirss loarryforward, a similar tax
loss, or a tax credit carryforward exists. Thisdguice is effective prospectively for fiscal yeansd interim periods within those years, beginnifigraDecember 15, 2013. The
adoption of this guidance did not have a matenmdact on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2014, the FASB issued an accounting stadslaipdate that raises the threshold for dispaeajsialify as discontinued operations and allowspganies to have
significant continuing involvement with and conting cash flows from or to the discontinued operatio also requires additional disclosures for digtued operations and
new disclosures for individually material disposahsactions that do not meet the definition ofsea@htinued operation. This guidance will be effeefor fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2014, which will be fiecal year 2015, with early adoption permittéde do not expect the adoption of the guidancehslle a material impa
on our consolidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued an accounting starslapdate that creates a single source of reveridarge for companies in all industries. The newdad provides
guidance for all revenue arising from contracthwitistomers and affects all entities that enter @ontracts to provide goods or services to thestamers, unless the contre
are within the scope of other accounting standdt@dso provides a model for the measurement andgnition of gains and losses on the sale of icentanfinancial assets.
This guidance must be adopted using either aétibspective approach for all periods presentearandified retrospective approach and will be affecfor fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2016, which will be fiecal year 2017. We have not yet evaluated titergial impact of adopting the guidance on oursetidated financial
statements.

In June 2014, the FASB issued an accounting stdedgrdate that requires a performance target tfeatts vesting of a share-based payment awardtaatdbuld be achieved
after the requisite service period to be treated psrformance condition. As such, the performaarget should not be reflected in estimating ttengdate fair value of the
award. Compensation cost should be recognizedtbeerequired service period, if it is probable ttiegt performance target will be achieved. This goik will be effective fc
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015ctviwill be our fiscal year 2016, with early adoptieermitted. We do not expect the adoption of thidance will have a
material impact on our consolidated financial steats.

In August 2014, the FASB issued an accounting statsdupdate that will require management to evalifdhere is substantial doubt about our abilitxontinue as a going
concern and, if so, to disclose this in both imeand annual reporting periods. This guidance lvéitome effective for our annual filing for the iperending December 31,
2016 and interim periods thereafter, and allowsefnty adoption. We do not expect the adoptiothefguidance will have a material impact on oursotidated financial
statements.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We report our financial results in accordance waitbounting principles generally accepted in thetéthBtates, or GAAP.

Agreements with Corporate Partners

Distribution Agreement with Actavis, Ir

In May 2005, we entered into an agreement to grarthin exclusive marketing rights for our enoxaparoduct to Andrx Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or Andmkich generally
extends to the U.S. retail pharmacy market. Toinlstach rights, Andrx made a non-refundable, ugfparyment of $4.5 million to us upon executionted agreement which
was classified as deferred revenues. Under theeammet, we are paid a fixed cost per unit sold tdr&rand also receive a percentage between 50% %5 the gross
profits from Andrx’s sales of the product in theSUretail pharmacy market. In November 2006, WaBlearmaceuticals, Inc., or Watson, acquired Andkall of the rights
and obligations associated with the agreementahuary 2013, Watson adopted Actavis as its newadjledme. The agreement has a term that expiremimady 2019 and can

be extended by Actavis for an additional three ge@he agreement may only be terminated priorecetid of the term by either party in the caselmfeach of contract or
insolvency of the other party, by us if Actaviddao purchase a minimum number of units and byaistif an infringement claim is made against Attav
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We manufacture our enoxaparin product for the Iretarket according to demand specifications of AistaUpon shipment of enoxaparin to Actavis, weorgtze product
sales at an agreed transfer price and record llgedecost of products sold. Based on the ternmupflistribution agreement with Actavis, we aretéad to a share of the
ultimate profits based on the eventual net revdrara enoxaparin sales by Actavis to the end uses iee agreed transfer price originally paid tbyg\ctavis. Actavis
provides us with a quarterly sales report thatudates our share of Actavis’ enoxaparin gross prdfie record our share of Actavigross profit as a component of net reve

Supply Agreement with MannKind Corporation

On July 31, 2014, we entered into a supply agreemigth MannKind Corporation, or MannKind, pursuaatwhich we will manufacture for and supply to M#&amd certain
guantities of recombinant human insulin, or RHF, dse in MannKind's product AfrezZa Under the terms of the supply agreement, wehilfesponsible for manufacturing
the RHI in accordance with MannKind'’s specificasand agreed-upon quality standards. MannKindagesed to purchase annual minimum quantities of @tdler the
supply agreement of an aggregate amount of apped&ign€120.1 million, or approximately $146.0 nahi, in calendar years 2015 through 2019.

MannKind paid a non-refundable reservation feestinithe amount of €11.0 million, or approximat$li.0 million. Under the agreement, the non-reéine reservation fee
is considered as partial payment for the purchasemitment quantity for 2015. We classified the antcas deferred revenue.

Unless earlier terminated, the term of the supghgement expires on December 31, 2019 and cambweel for additional, successive two-year termswgmonths’
written notice given prior to the end of the inlitierm or any additional two-year term. MannKimtlave each have customary termination rights, glinlyitermination for
material breach that is not cured within a spetifiee frame or in the event of liquidation, bankieyp or insolvency of the other party. In additidfannKind may terminate
the supply agreement upon two years’ prior writietice to us without cause or upon 30 days priditevr notice to us if a controlling regulatory aottity withdraws approval
for Afrezza® ; provided, however, in the event of a terminagemsuant to either of these scenarios, the prawsid the supply agreement require MannKind to thayfull
amount of all unpaid purchase commitments due theeimitial term within 60 calendar days of theeetive date of such termination.

In January 2015, we entered into a supply optiorement with MannKind, pursuant to which MannKinill wave the option to purchase RHI, for use in Miind’s product
Afrezza®, in addition to the amounts specified in the R0y} 4 supply agreement. Under the agreement, Mamhias the option to purchase additional RHI in mdde years
2016 through 2019. In the event MannKind electsta@xercise its minimum annual purchase optiorafty year, MannKind shall pay us a capacity cdatieh fee.
Contractual Obligations

Set forth below are our contractual payment obiignest (including interest obligations but excludingercompany obligations) as of December 31, 2014:

More
Contractual Less than than
Obligations ) Total 1 year 1- 3 years 3-5years 5 years
(in thousands)

Long-term debi® $ 48,13( $ 8,981 $ 18,28t $ 16,52: $ 4,345
Operating lease 7,011 2,58¢ 2,90¢ 1,51¢ —
Capital lease 1,12¢ 403 59¢ 12€ —
Facility construction in Nanjing, Chir® 15,00( — 15,00( — —
Purchase obligatior® 6,82¢ 6,82¢€ — —

$ 78,098 $ 18,79 $ 36,79 $ 18,16f $ 4,342
(1) The table above excludes (i) our liability for urteé tax position of $4.8 million because the tigof any related payments cannot be reasonabiyasd.
@ Long-term debt includes accrued and unpaid intefessbf December 31, 2014, the weighted averageest rate on our long-term debt was 4.0%.
€] Obligation to develop a facility in Nanjing, Chirlease see “— Investment in China” below for farttiscussion.
(4) The purchase obligations principally relate to imegy and pharmaceutical manufacturing and laboyaquipment. We anticipate meeting these purcbbBgations through a combination of cash on hand,

future cash flows from operations and debt anceléasilities. We have made deposits related topegent purchases on these obligations totaling $t8l®n as of December 31, 201
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Investment in China

We entered into agreements with a Chinese govertanentity to acquire land-use rights to real pmopé Nanjing, China. Under the terms of thesecagnents, we are
obligated to invest capital in our wholly-owned sigary, Amphastar Nanjing Pharmaceuticals Co.,,lddANP, and to develop these properties as dm#gnufacturing
facility for our pipeline. In conjunction with thesagreements, ANP modified its business licenséubn3, 2012 to increase its authorized capitaloABecember 31, 2014, \
have invested approximately $45.0 million in ANRitsfregistered capital commitment of $61.0 millid¥ie are committed to invest an additional $16.Mioniin ANP, which
is due by December 2017. This requirement to inve€hina will result in cash being transferrednfrthe U.S. parent company to ANP.

Per these agreements, in January 2010 we acqurgdrcland-use rights with a carrying value of2Zillion. In addition, we purchased additionaldaimse rights in
November 2012 for $1.3 million. We are committegpend approximately $15.0 million in land develemt The agreements require the construction efifissets on tt
property and specified a timetable for the consioncof these fixed assets. The current pace oéldgwment of the property is behind the scheduleriteed in the purchase
agreement and, per the purchase agreement, pbtaotietary penalties could result if the developmeelayed or not completed in accordance withghidelines stated in
the purchase agreements. During the year endechidered1, 2014, we invested $7.2 million to fund mgearch and development pipeline for ANP.

Anticipated Liquidity

We expect our cash requirements to increase signiflly in the foreseeable future as we move forwetld our product candidates, pursue strategic iadgqpns of businesses
or assets and as we sponsor clinical trials fak segulatory approvals of, and develop, manufactund market our current development-stage prathradidates.

We expect that cash flows from ongoing operatiarsdwing capacity under our existing lines of ctenil enable us to meet our obligations as thegdmee due for at least
the next 12 months, including scheduled debt aaskl@ayments. We expect additional cash flows @geberated in the longer term from future prodotroductions, althouc
there can be no assurance as to the receipt dateguapproval for any product candidates thatmeedeveloping or the timing of any product intraiilons, which could be
lengthy or ultimately unsuccessful.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any relationships or financial penghips with unconsolidated entities, such asiestiften referred to as structured finance origpparpose entities, which
would have been established for the purpose ditttaig off-balance sheet arrangements or othetrestually narrow or limited purposes. In additiare do not engage in
trading activities involving non-exchange tradedtcacts.

Item 7A.Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Marlet Risk.

The following discussion provides forward-lookingagtitative and qualitative information about ootgntial exposure to market risk. Market risk rejergs the potential loss
arising from adverse changes in the value of fifsriestruments. The risk of loss is assessed basétle likelihood of adverse changes in fair vajuash flows or future
earnings. We are exposed to market risk for chaimgé® market values of our investments (Investnisk), the impact of interest rate changes (kgeRate Risk), and the
impact of foreign currency exchange changes (For€igrrency Exchange Risk).

Investment Ris

We regularly review the carrying value of our inreents and identify and recognize losses, for irestatement purposes, when events and circumstantieste that any
declines in the fair values of such investmentswealur accounting basis are other than temporas/of December 31, 2014, we did not have any smebstments.

As of December 31, 2014, we had $7.4 million defedsin three banks located in China and $8.0 mildeposited in one bank located in France. Weralsiotained $43.0
million in Money Market, Money Market Insured Dejtosccount Service, or MMIDAS, and Insured Cash 8peor ICS, accounts as of December 31, 2014.rdin@ining
amounts of our cash equivalent as of December @4 are in non-interest bearing accounts.

As of December 31, 2013, we had $2.9 million deedsin two banks located in China. We also maimtdifi41.2 million in Money Market, MMIDAS and ICSants as of
December 31, 2013. The remaining amounts of our egsivalents as of December 31, 2013 are in ntarast bearing accounts.
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The MMIDAS accounts and ICS accounts allow us striiute our funds among a network of depositosyifations that are re-allocated such that eaclosiepccount is
below the $250.0 thousand Federal Deposit Insur@ucporation, or FDIC, limit, thus providing greafeDIC insurance coverage for our overall cashrzga. We have not
experienced any losses in such accounts, nor daelig/e we are exposed to any significant credik an our bank account balances.

Interest Rate Ris

Our primary exposure to market risk is interesess#nsitive investments and credit facilities, whéeh affected by changes in the general level of lnt8rest rates. Due to t
nature of our short-term investments, such as erificates of deposit, we believe that we arequitject to any material interest rate risk withpesg to our short-term
investments.

As of December 31, 2014, we had $43.7 million imgiderm debt and capital leases outstanding. ©@faimount, $30.0 million had variable interest satéth a weighted-
average interest rate of 4.0% at December 31, 28®increase in the index underlying these rafeld/6 (100 basis points) would increase our anmitaréest expense on the
variable-rate debt by approximately $0.3 milliom pear. As of December 31, 2013, we had $32.4anilih long-term debt and capital leases outstapddf this amount,
$26.3 million had variable interest rates with aghéed average interest rate of 4.0% at Decembge2@13. A 1% (100 basis points) increase in thexnahderlying these rat
would increase our annual interest expense ondtiable-rate debt by approximately $0.3 million pear.

Foreign Currency Rate Ris

Our products are primarily sold in U.S. domestiackes and for the years ended December 31, 2014,2(hd 2012, foreign sales were minimal. Theref@eehave little
exposure to foreign currency price fluctuationswidwer, as a result of our acquisition of Merck’sl ARanufacturing business in Eragny-sur-Epte, Frameeare exposed to
market risk related to changes in foreign curregxghange rates. Specifically, our insulin saledreats are primarily denominated in Euros, which subject to fluctuations
relative to the U.S. dollar, or USD. We do not emtty hedge our foreign currency exchange rate Askhis time, an immediate 10% change in curregeghange rates would
not have a material effect on our financial positicesults of operations or cash flows.

Our Chinese subsidiary, Amphastar Nanjing Pharntazgs, Limited, or ANP, maintains their books etord in Chinese Yuan, or CNY. These books are asored into the
functional currency of USD, using the current astbrical exchange rates. The resulting currenayeasurement adjustments and other transactioregjfoexchange gains
and losses are reflected in our statement of dpesat

Our French subsidiary, Amphastar France PharmaeagsitiS.A.S., or AFP, maintains their books of rddo Euros. These books are translated to USBeaaverage exchan
rates during the period. Assets and liabilities teanslated at the rate of exchange prevailintherbalance sheet date. Equity is translatedegprtdvailing rate of exchange at
the date of the equity transactions. Translatijnsiments are reflected in stockholders’ equity are included as a component of other comprehemsoome (loss). We do
not undertake hedging transactions to cover owidorcurrency exposure.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, ANP had recedgaténominated in CNY in the amount of $1.6 milléord $5.6 million, respectively.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Amphastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Amphastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (tmep@ny) as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 and thede
consolidated statements of operations, comprehemstome (loss), stockholders’ equity, and caswsléor each of the three years in the period emdszkmber 31, 2014.
These financial statements are the responsibifithe Company’s management. Our responsibilitpisxpress an opinion on these financial statenisrgsd on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighamiqUnited States). Those standards require thailan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurancetathether the financial statements are free dérie misstatement. We were not engaged to perorraudit of the
Company’s internal control over financial reportif@ur audits included consideration of internaltcolnover financial reporting as a basis for desigraudit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but notferpurpose of expressing an opinion on the effenigs of the Company’s internal control over fin@meporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An autfibancludes examining, on a test basis, evidenpparting the amounts and disclosures in the firzustatements,
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, and evaluhgngverall financial statement presentation. Wieebe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,donsolidated financial position of AmphastarrRfeceuticals, Inc. at
December 31, 2014 and 2013 and the consolidatetised its operations, comprehensive income (lcas)l its cash flows for each of the three yeathérperiod ended
December 31, 2014, in conformity with U.S. gengralttcepted accounting principles.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Los Angeles, California

March 26, 2015
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AMPHASTAR PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share data)

December 31

December 31

2014 2013
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalel $ 67,82¢ $ 53,587
Restricted cash and restricted s-term investment 1,49t 1,32t
Accounts receivable, n 22,85: 24,58t
Inventories, ne 82,33 69,91¢
Income tax refund and depos 273 2,42¢
Prepaid expenses and other as 3,68t 5,03t
Deferred tax assets 19,53 16,09¢
Total current asse 197,99¢ 172,97:
Property, plant, and equipment, | 138,28¢ 116,61¢
Goodwill and intangible assets, r 42,56¢ 40,16:
Other asset 3,58¢ 2,871
Deferred tax asse 6,932 6,11¢
Total assets $ 389,37 $ 338,74
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 10,16: $ 20,38(
Accrued liabilities 13,14« 7,62¢
Income taxes payab 3,12 2,847
Accrued payroll and related benet 11,44¢ 9,161
Current portion of product return accri 1,91¢ 2,63¢
Current portion of deferred reven 14,01 642
Current portion of lon-term debt and capital leas 7,59¢ 22,10«
Current portion of deferred tax liability 1,19¢ —
Total current liabilities 62,59¢ 65,40:
Long-term product return accru 49C 1,95¢
Long-term reserve for income tax liabili 49¢ —
Long-term deferred revent 1,98: 2,62t
Long-term debt and capital leases, net of current po 36,10¢ 10,06¢
Deferred tax liabilities 5,83¢ 7,15¢
Total liabilities 107,51( 87,20¢
Commitments and Contingencit
Stockholder equity:
Preferred stock: par value $.0001; authorized —20,000,000; none issut — —
Common stock; par value $.0001; authorized shar&$;680,000; issued and outstanding sha44;646,767 and 38,765,940
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, resplc 4 4
Additional paic-in capital 220,74! 177,73.
Retained earning 63,11( 73,80¢
Accumulated other comprehensive | (1,659 —
Treasury stock (345) —
Total stockholder equity 281,86( 251,54!
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 389,37 % 338,74t

See accompanying notes to consolidated financégistents.
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AMPHASTAR PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Net revenue $ 210,46: $ 229,68: $ 204,32!
Cost of revenue 159,20¢ 142,72¢ 114,02(
Gross profit 51,25¢ 86,95¢ 90,30:
Operating expense
Selling, distribution, and marketir 5,56¢ 5,34¢ 4,42¢
General and administrati\ 34,80¢ 30,97: 27,22¢
Research and developme¢ 28,427 33,01¢ 31,16:
Impairment of long-lived assets 43¢ 12€ 2,09/
Total operating expens: 69,23¢ 69,46¢ 64,90¢
Income (loss) from operatiol (17,989 17,49( 25,397
Non-operating income (expenst
Interest incom 24% 187 242
Interest expens (60¢) (95§) (784)
Other income, net 201 50€& 1,02:
Total non-operating income (expense), net (165) (269 481
Income (loss) before income tax (18,14¢) 17,227 25,87¢
Income tax expense (benef (7,449 5,36¢ 7,784
Net income (loss $ (10,699 $ 11,86: $ 18,09/
Net income (loss) per common she
Basic $ 025 ¢ 031 $ 0.47
Diluted $ 025 ¢ 031 $ 0.4¢
Weightec-average shares used to compute net income (lossppenon share
Basic 41,957 38,71: 38,58(
Diluted 41,957 38,88: 38,94(

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanaatstents.
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AMPHASTAR PHARMACEUTICALS, INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Net income (loss $ (10,699 $ 11,86: $ 18,09«
Accumulated other comprehensive income (It
Foreign currency translation adjustm (1,810 — —
Change in actuarial valuation 15€ — —
Accumulated other comprehensive | (1,659 — —
Total comprehensive income (loss) $ (12,359) $ 11,86 $ 18,09«

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanaatstents.
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AMPHASTAR PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands, except share data)

Common Stock Accumulated Treasury Stock
Additional Other
Paid-in Retained = Comprehensive
Shares Amount Capital Earnings Income (loss) Shares Amount Total
Balance as of December 31, 2( 38,510,31 $ 4 $ 164,66. $ 4385! $ = — 8 — $ 208,51¢
Net income — — — 18,09« — — — 18,094
Reduction of excess tax benefit of share-bas:
awards — — (120 — — — — (120
Exercise of stock optior 41,30( — 338 — — — — 338
Issuance of common stock to employees in
connection with the release of vested defer
stock units, net of common stock withheld t
settle equity award 98,38¢ — (811) — — — — (811)
Issuance of common stock to nonemployees
connection with exercise of common stock
options 31,66( — — — — — — —
Nonemployee sha-based compensation
expense ($412 related to stock option awau
and $338 related to DSU awar — — 75C — — — — 75C
Employee share-based compensation expen:
($6,465 related to stock option awards and
$210 related to DSU awards) — — 6,67¢ — — — — 6,67¢
Balance as of December 31, 2( 38,681,66 4 171,48 61,947 — — — 233,43¢
Net income — — — 11,86: — — — 11,86:
Reduction of excess tax benefit of share-be
awards — — (647) — — — — (647)
Exercise of stock optior 4,20( — 55 — — — — 55
Issuance of common stock to employees in
connection with the release of vested
deferred stock units, net of common stoc
withheld to settle equity awart 14,02¢ — (199 — — — — (199
Issuance of common stock to nonemployee
connection with the release of vested
deferred stock unit 66,05" — — — — — — —
Nonemployee share-based compensation
expense ($499 related to stock option
awards and $447 related to DSU awal — — 94¢€ — — — — 94¢
Employee share-based compensation expe
($5,926 related to stock option awards ar
$163 related to DSU awards) — — 6,08¢ — — — — 6,08¢
Balance as of December 31, 2( 38,765,94 4 177,73: 73,80¢ — — — 251,54!
Net loss — — — (10,699 — — — (10,699
Accumulated other comprehensive i — — — — (1,659 — — (1,659
Reduction of excess tax benefit of share-bas:
awards — — (2,109 — — — — (2,109
Common stock issued through initial public
offering 5,840,001 — 38,01¢ — — — — 38,01¢
Cost related to public offerin — — (3,35¢) — — — — (3,35¢)
Treasury stock acquire — — — — — (29,400) (345) (345)
Exercise of stock optior 30,00( — 571 — — — — 571
Issuance of common stock to employees in
connection with the release of vested defer
stock units, net of common stock withheld t
settle equity award 14,30¢ — (389 — — — — (389
Issuance of common stock to nonemployees
connection with the release of vested defer
stock units 25,92: — — — — — — —
Nonemployee sha-based compensation
expense ($576 related to stock option awau
and $370 related to DSU awart — — 94¢€ — — — — 94¢€
Employee share-based compensation expen:
($6,728 related to stock option awards and
$1,606 related to DSU awards) — — 8,33¢ — — — — 8,33/
Balance as of December 31, 2014 44,676,16  $ 4 $ 220,74% $ 6311 $ (1,659 (29,400 $ (345) $ 281,86(

See accompanying notes to consolidated financaatstents.
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AMPHASTAR PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net income (loss
Reconciliation to net cash provided by (used irgrafing activities
Impairment of lon-lived asset:
Loss on disposal of property, plant, and equipn
Depreciation and amortization of property, plant] @quipmen
Amortization of product rights, trademarks, andepas
Imputed interest accretic
Employee sha-based compensation expel
Non-employee sha-based compensation expel
Reserve for income tax liabilitie
Changes in deferred tax
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivable, n
Inventories, ne
Income tax refund and depos
Prepaid expenses and other as
Income taxes payab
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Acquisition of busines
Purchases of property, plant, and equipn
Capitalized labor, overhead, and interest on-constructed asse
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and egeip
Purchase of trademarks and other intangible a
Sales of sho-term investments, ni
Decrease (increase) in restricted ¢
Deposits and other assets, net
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:

Net proceeds from issuance of common s
Payments on repurchase of common s

Excess tax benefit (reduction) related to s-based compensatic
Net proceeds from exercise of common stock opt
Costs related to public offerir

Deferred offering cos

Payments on treasury sto

Proceeds from borrowing under lines of cre
Repayments under lines of cre

Proceeds from issuance of l--term debr

Principal payments on lo-term debt

Principal payments on short-term debt

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Noncash Investing and Financing Activities
Equipment acquired under capital lea

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information
Interest paic
Income taxes pai

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanaaétstents
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Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(10,699 11,86: $ 18,00
43¢ 12€ 2,09¢

46 91 611
12,52¢ 11,17: 9,657
1,92( 1,907 1,84(
163 — —
8,33¢ 6,08¢ 6,67¢
94€ 94€ 75C
49¢ (167) (3,309)
(8,74%) 2,24¢ 11,58¢
1,21¢ 11,82 (16,647
6,56¢ (18,539 (25,219
1,87¢ (57€) 2,39¢
(88) 29 18C
55¢ (179 (2,351)
5,50( 4,20z (8,006)
21,05: 31,04 (1,650
(18,359 = =
(18,677) (17,649 (23,139
(1,82¢) (660) (602)
— — 74

= = (1,509

— 512 81C
(170 50 (203
(752) (559 (54€)
(39,779 (18,299 (25,11
38,01 — —
(389 (199 (811)
(1,109 (647) (120)
571 55 332
(1,920 — —
= (1,427) =
(348) — —
25,00( 66,00( 53,96
(40,000 (71,000 (29,257
26,50¢ = =
(8,216 (2,152) (874)
(5,999) = =
32,11 (9,370 23,23;
84E — —
14,24: 3,371 (3,525)
53,58 50,21 53,73¢
67,82t 53,581 $ 50,21
78 1,32: $ —
2,607 1,10 $ 1,08¢
43¢ 415¢ $ 2,07¢
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AMPHASTAR PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. General

Amphastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a California carpon, was incorporated on February 29, 1996 aedyed with and into Amphastar Pharmaceuticals, lmBelaware
corporation, in July 2004 (hereinafter referre@sd'the Company”). The Company is a specialty plaaeutical company that primarily develops, manufiss, markets, and
sells generic and proprietary injectable and infiateproducts, including products with high teclaiibarriers to market entry. Additionally, in 2014e Company commenced
sales of insulin active pharmaceutical ingredient\P| products. Most of the Company’s products @sed in hospital or urgent care clinical settiagg are primarily
contracted and distributed through group purchasiggnizations and drug wholesalers. The Compangidin API products are primarily sold to otherapmaceutical
companies for use in their own products. The Camisanhalation products will be primarily distrited through drug retailers once they are broughtacket.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentatio

All significant intercompany activity has been dilirated in the preparation of the consolidated fanrarstatements. Some information and footnotelaszes normally
included in financial statements prepared in acaocd with generally accepted accounting principe&AAP, have been condensed or omitted purswoeahiose rules and
regulations.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemiaectade the accounts of the Company and its whoWiyred subsidiaries: International Medication Systehimited, or
IMS; Amphastar Laboratories, Inc.; Armstrong Phatendicals, Inc., or Armstrong; Amphastar Nanjing®haceuticals Co., Ltd., or ANP; and Amphastar &ean
Pharmaceuticals, S.A.S., or AFP.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statemé@nticcordance with U.S. GAAP requires manageitoemake estimates and assumptions that affectntioeiiats reported i
the consolidated financial statements and acconmpgmptes. Actual results could differ from thostirates. The principal accounting estimates irelagtermination of
allowances for doubtful accounts and discountbjlitees for product returns and chargebacks, ne=efor excess or unsellable inventory, impairnériong-lived and
intangible assets and goodwill, self-insured claimarkers’ compensation liabilities, litigation e¥ges, stock price volatilities for share-based pensation expense, fair
market values of the Company’s common stock, valnallowances for deferred tax assets, and ligslifor uncertain income tax positions.

Foreign Currency

The functional currency of the Company and its detimeand Chinese subsidiaries is the U.S. doliat)®D. The Company’s Chinese subsidiary, ANP, taéis its books of
record in Chinese Yuan. These books are remeasirethe functional currency of USD using the cutrer historical exchange rates. The resultingengy remeasurement
adjustments and other transactional foreign exoha@ains and losses are reflected in the Compatsgtarsent of operations. The Company’s French didrgi, AFP,
maintains its books of record in Euros, which s lical currency in France and has been deterniinbd its functional currency. These books arestedad to USD at the
average exchange rates during the period. Asedtiabilities are translated at the rate of exdeaprevailing on the balance sheet date. Equitwarsslated at the prevailing
rate of exchange at the date of the equity trafsat Translation adjustments are reflected inldtolders’ equity and are included as a compongatter comprehensive
income (loss). Additionally, the Company does mudertake hedging transactions to cover its foreigmency exposure.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

For the Company’s recently acquired subsidiaryremEe, the Euro, which is the local currency, heenbdetermined to be the functional currency. Eselts of the
Company’s French subsidiary’s operations are tededlto U.S. dollars at the average exchange datésg the period.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Compahydes its foreign currency translation adjustmeenivell as the change to its actuarial valuatiothe Company’s

defined benefit pension plan (see Note 16) asgiars comprehensive loss. For the years endedeee31, 2013 and 2012, net income (loss) equateticomprehensive
income (loss).
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AMPHASTAR PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Shipping and Handling Costs

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, a2 #te Company included shipping and handlingscosapproximately $2.5 million, $2.4 million, as&.1 million,
respectively, in selling, distribution and marketiexpenses in the accompanying consolidated statsroéoperations.

Research and Development Cc

Research and development costs are charged tossxpsrincurred and consist of costs incurred théuthe Company’s research and development detitcluding salaries
and related employee benefits, costs associatédclintical trials, nonclinical research and devehgmt activities, regulatory activities, researclated overhead expenses and
fees paid to external service providers.

The Company may produce inventories prior to ohvlie expectation of receiving marketing authorarain the near term, based on operational decsidmout the most
effective use of existing resources. This inveniemeferred to as pre-launch inventory. The Comgfsapolicy is to expense pre-launch inventory aeegch and development
costs, as incurred, until the drug candidate rexeiaarketing authorization. As a result of thegplivhile marketing authorization may have beemirgd by the end of a
reporting period, any inventories produced priostich authorization are expensed. If marketingaigation is received and previously expensed auerxth inventory is sold,
such sales may contribute up to a 100% margindd@ibmpany’s operating results. Pre-launch inventosts include cost of work in process materiats famished drug
products.

Financial Instrument:

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalshtsi-term investments, accounts receivable, atsqayable, accrued expenses, and short-term biogewapproximate
fair value due to the short maturity of these itefsnajority of the Company’s long-term obligatiotrensist of variable rate debt and their carryiatyg approximates fair
value. Their carrying value approximates fair vaisehe stated borrowing rates are comparablégés carrrently offered to the Company for instrursemith similar
maturities. However, the Company has one fixed;tategterm mortgage for which the carrying value différrsm the fair value and is not remeasured on arreubasis (se
Note 13).

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, mongketfands, certificates of deposit and highly l@jinvestments purchased with original maturitiéshoee months or less.
Restricted Cash and Restricted S-Term Investments

Restricted cash and restricted short-term investsresof December 31, 2014 and 2013 included $il®mand $1.3 million, respectively, in certifitss of deposit, which is
the collateral required for the Company to qualdyworkers’ compensation self-insurance and islalike to meet the Company’s workers’ compensatibligations on a
current basis, as needed. These funds are clasa#ieurrent assets. The Company’s short-term timesgs are classified as held- to-maturity and isbio$ certificates of
deposit purchased with maturities greater tharethmenths but mature within one year of the dateuothase. The estimated fair value of each investiaygproximates its
amortized cost.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receiva

The Company evaluates the collectability of accsuateivable based on a combination of factors."the Company is aware of circumstances that magina customer’s
ability to pay subsequent to the original sale,Gloenpany will record a specific allowance to redtieamounts due to the amount the Company realsopelieves will be
collected. For all other customers, the Companggeizes an allowance for doubtful accounts basefdctors that include the length of time the reables are past due,
industry and geographic concentrations, the culsasiness environment and historical collectionegigmce.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or efatksing the first-in, first-out method. Provistoare made for slow-moving, unsellable, or obsatetas. Inventories consist
of currently marketed products and products marufed under contract.
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AMPHASTAR PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Property, Plant and Equipme

Property, plant and equipment are stated at co#t tine case of assets acquired in a businessinatiin, at fair value on the purchase date. Deatien and amortization
expense is computed using the straight-line metived the estimated useful lives of the relatedtassefollows:

Buildings (years 20 - 31

Machinery and equipment (yea 2 -12

Furniture and fixtures (year 3 -7

Automobiles (years 4 -5

Leasehold improvements Lesser of remaining lease term or useful
life

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortize@mthe period the asset is expected to contrihuéetly or indirectly to the future cash flowstbe Company. Product rights
are amortized over their estimated useful livegjiragnfrom five to 15 years on a straidhite basis since their projected revenues are égge¢o be consistent each year. Pa
and trademarks are amortized on a straight-lineslma®r their estimated useful lives, generallygiag from 10 to 20 years. Land-use rights are aizedton a straight-line
basis over their useful lives, generally rangiranfr37 to 50 years. In accordance with the Compaagteunting policy, the Company tests all intargéssets on an annual
basis and between annual tests whenever therdrsli@ation of impairment.

Impairment of Lon-Lived Assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets and definitst intangibles for impairment in the fourth qtearof each year or whenever events or changescmnastances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not bevezable. If the sum of the expected future undisted cash flows is less than the carrying amofititevasset, further
impairment analysis is performed. An impairmensl@smeasured as the amount by which the carryimguat of the asset exceeds the fair value of thetagassets to be held
and used) or fair value less cost to sell (assete tdisposed of). The Company also reviews thiiLibees of its assets periodically to determinkether events and
circumstances warrant a revision to the remainseful life. Changes in the useful life are adjugteaspectively by revising the remaining period rowéich the asset is
amortized.

Deferred Income Taxe

The Company utilizes the liability method of acctog for income taxes. Under the liability methdéferred taxes are determined based on the tenypifferences between
the financial statements and the tax basis of aisset liabilities using enacted tax rates. A vaduaallowance is recorded when it is more likelgrimot that the deferred tax
assets will not be realized. The Company has adapgewith-and-without methodology for determiningen excess tax benefits from the exercise of shased awards are
realized. Under the with-and-without methodologyrrent year operating loss deductions and prior-gearating loss carryforwards are deemed to lieediprior to the
utilization of current-year excess tax benefitsrireshare-based awards.

Self-Insured Claims

The Company is primarily self-insured, up to certamits, for workers’ compensation claims. The Gmny has purchased stop-loss insurance, whichreuiliburse the
Company for individual claims in excess of $350,@@@ually or aggregate claims exceeding $1.9 millionually. Operations are charged with the costadfns reported and
an estimate of claims incurred but not reportetlaBility for unpaid claims and the associated ml&xpenses, including incurred but not reporteddssis actuarially
determined and reflected in accrued liabilitieshie@ accompanying consolidated balance sheets. &gpainse under the program was approximately $lidm $0.8 million,
and $1.2 million, for the years ended Decembe2814, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The self-insataiins liability was $2.2 million and $2.0 millicat December 31, 2014
and 2013, respectively. The determination of sualms and expenses and the appropriateness ofltited liability is reviewed periodically and upeldt as necessary.
Changes in estimates are recorded in the periodifigel.
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AMPHASTAR PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Correction of an Immaterial Error

During the fourth quarter of 2014, the Company tdied an immaterial error in the Compasypreviously reported consolidated financial staets primarily pertaining to tt
year ended December 31, 2013 as the result ofapitatizing interest expense on certain foreignstarction projects during the year. The Companyemted the immaterial
error in the fourth quarter of 2014, resulting idexrease to net loss by $0.3 million, which hagmmact to the Company’s basic and diluted lossspare for the year ended
December 31, 2014. Based on management's evalwdtiba materiality of the error from a qualitati®ad quantitative perspective as required by aittitive guidance, the
Company concluded that correcting the error hathaterial impact on any of the Company's previoisdyed interim financial statements and had naceéfe the trend of
financial results.

Business Combinatior

Business combinations are accounted for in accasaith Accounting Standards Codification, or AS@58Business Combinations, using the acquisitiothoteof
accounting. The acquisition method of accountirgiees an acquirer to recognize the assets acqairédhe liabilities assumed at the acquisitior agatasured at their fair
values as of that date. Fair value determinatioadased on discounted cash flow analyses or w#ieation techniques. In determining the fair vabfi¢he assets acquired ¢
liabilities assumed in a material acquisition, @@mpany may utilize appraisals from third partywadion firms to determine fair values of some bohthe assets acquired
and liabilities assumed, or may complete somelafahe valuations internally. In either case, @@mpany takes full responsibility for the deteratian of the fair value of
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Thee\d goodwill reflects the excess of the fairuabf the consideration conveyed to the seller dweffair value of the net
assets received.

Acquisition-related costs are costs the Companyrsto effect a business combination. The Compangunts for acquisition-related costs as expems#tei periods in which
the costs are incurred.

Recent Accounting Pronounceme

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting StandardaBpor FASB, issued an Accounting Standard Uptiatee accounting guidance to address the diveirsipyactice related
to the financial statement presentation of unrezeghtax benefits as either a reduction of a detetax asset or a liability when a net operatirss loarryforward, a similar tax
loss, or a tax credit carryforward exists. Thisdguice is effective prospectively for fiscal yeansd interim periods within those years, beginnifigraDecember 15, 2013. The
adoption of this guidance did not have a matenmgddct on the Company’s consolidated financial statgs.

In April 2014, the FASB issued an accounting stadslaipdate that raises the threshold for dispaeajsialify as discontinued operations and allowspganies to have
significant continuing involvement with and conting cash flows from or to the discontinued operatid also requires additional disclosures for dignued operations and
new disclosures for individually material disposahsactions that do not meet the definition ofsea@htinued operation. This guidance will be effeefor fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2014, which will be @ompany's fiscal year 2015, with early adoptiemptted. The Company does not expect the adopfitime guidance
will have a material impact on the Company's cadatéd financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued an accounting starslapdate that creates a single source of reveridarge for companies in all industries. The newdtad provides
guidance for all revenue arising from contracthwitistomers and affects all entities that enter @ontracts to provide goods or services to thestamers, unless the contre
are within the scope of other accounting standdt@dso provides a model for the measurement andgnition of gains and losses on the sale of icentanfinancial assets.
This guidance must be adopted using either adtibspective approach for all periods presenteadrapdified retrospective approach and will be dffecfor fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2016, which will be @ompany's fiscal year 2017. The Company hasetawaluated the potential impact of adopting thieance on the
Company's consolidated financial statements.

In June 2014, the FASB issued an accounting stdedgrdate that requires a performance target ffegtts vesting of a share-based payment awardtaatdbuld be achieved
after the requisite service period to be treated psrformance condition. As such, the performaarget should not be reflected in estimating ttengdate fair value of the
award. Compensation cost should be recognizedtbeerequired service period, if it is probable ttiegt performance target will be achieved. This goik will be effective fc
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015ckvkwill be the Company's fiscal year 2016, withleadoption permitted. The Company does not exfrecadoption of the
guidance will have a material impact on the Comfmognsolidated financial statements.

In August 2014, the FASB issued an accounting statsdupdate that will require management to evalifdhere is substantial doubt about the Compaabilty to continue
as a going concern and, if so, to disclose thisith interim and annual reporting periods. Thiglgace will become effective for the Company’s aalrfiling for the period
ending December 31, 2016 and interim periods tlieere@nd allows for early adoption. The Compangsinot expect the adoption of the guidance wilereamaterial impact
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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3. Business Acquisition

Acquisition of Merc’'s APl Manufacturing Business

On April 30, 2014, the Company completed the adtioisof Merck Sharpe & Dohme’s API manufacturingsiness in Eragny-siiipte, France, or the Merck APl Transact
which manufactures porcine insulin APl and recorahirhuman insulin API. The purchase price of thegaction totaled €24.8 million, or $34.4 milliom April 30, 2014,

subject to certain customary post-closing adjustsand currency exchange fluctuations. The terntsopurchase include multiple payments over faary as follows (see
Note 13):

u.S.
Euros Dollars
(in thousands)
At Closing, April 2014 € 13,25 $ 18,35:
December 201 4,89¢ 5,98¢
December 201 3,18¢ 3,87:
December 201 3,18¢ 3,87:
December 2017 50C 607
€ 25,02: $ 32,69«

In order to facilitate the acquisition, the Compasyablished a subsidiary in France, AFP. The Compall continue the current site manufacturingiaties, which consist o
the manufacturing of porcine insulin API and recamabt human insulin API. As part of the transactithre Company has entered into various additiogeements, including
various supply agreements, as well as the assigranenicensing of patents under which Merck wasrafing at this facility. In addition, certain ety customer agreemer
have been assigned to AFP.

The transaction was accounted for as a businesbination in accordance to ASC 805. The followingléassummarizes the estimated fair values of thetassquired and
liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date:

Fair Value
U.S.
Euros Dollars
(in thousands)
Inventory € 15,56 $ 21,55¢
Real property 4,80( 6,647
Machinery & equipmen 6,80( 9,417
Intangibles 80 111
Goodwill 3,15¢ 4,36¢
Total assets acquired € 30400 $ 42,09¢
Accrued liabilities € 2,428 $ 3,35¢
Deferred tax liabilities 3,15¢ 4,36¢
Total liabilities assume 5,58( 7,727
Total fair value of consideration transferred € 24,82( % 34,37

The Company’s accounting for this acquisition islipninary. The fair value estimates for the asaetyuired and liabilities assumed were based upalimpnary calculations
and valuations, and the Company’s estimates andrgg®ns are subject to change as the Companynshaaiditional information for its estimates durthg measurement
period (up to one year from the acquisition dat@yring the year ended December 31, 2014, the Coynpceived updated information regarding its defittax liability and
related goodwill recorded as of the acquisitioredatvhile finalizing acquisition accounting, ther@oany recorded a measurement period adjustmenhvirigacted goodwill
and deferred tax liability by €3.2 million, or $4million and €3.2 million, or $4.4 million, respéctly during the year ended December 31, 2014. dierations of the
acquired business have been included in the Compaysolidated financial statements commencindieratquisition date. The results of operationgHizracquisition hav
not been separately presented because this a@muisihot material to the Company’s consolidateslits of operations.
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The following unaudited pro forma financial infortiwa for the year ended December 31, 2014 and 80&3 effect to the transaction as if it had oocedion January 1,
2013. Such unaudited pro forma information is Hame historical financial information prior to ti@nsaction as well as actual results subsequehetacquisition with
respect to the transaction and does not reflechattd operational and administrative cost savingsynergies, for the periods prior to the tratisadhat management of the
combined company estimates may be achieved asilh oéthe transaction. The unaudited pro fornfarimation primarily reflects the additional depran related to the
fair value adjustment to property, plant and equptracquired, valuation step up related to thevialne of inventory and additional interest expeassociated with the
financing obtained by the Company in connectiorhlie acquisition.

Year Ended
December 31
2014 2013
(in thousands,
except per share data)

Net revenue $ 212,74 $ 243,78t
Net income (loss (11,929 12,96¢
Diluted net income (loss) per sh: $ (0.2¢) $ 0.3¢

Acquisition Loan with Cathay Ban

On April 22, 2014, in conjunction with the Merck APransaction, the Company entered into a secuned lban with Cathay Bank as lender. The princgmabunt of the loan
is $21.9 million and bears a variable interest edtthe prime rate as published Bye Wall Street Journalwith a minimum interest rate of 4.00%. BeginnorgJune 1, 2014
and through the maturity date, April 22, 2019, @@npany must make monthly payments of principaliatetest based on the then outstanding amoumtedb&an amortized
over a 120-month period. On April 22, 2019, all amis outstanding under the loan become due andfggyahich would be approximately $12.0 million bdsupon an
interest rate of 4.00%. The loan is secured by 65%e issued and outstanding shares of stock iR afid certain assets of the Company, includinguatsaeceivable,
inventory, certain investment property, goods, dépaccounts, and general intangibles but not ghioly the Company’s equipment and real property.

The loan includes customary restrictions on, amathgr things, the Company’s ability to incur adulital indebtedness, pay dividends in cash or maier alistributions in
cash, make certain investments, create liensassdits, and make loans. The loan also includesroasy events of defaults, the occurrence and coation of any of which
provide Cathay Bank the right to exercise remedggnst the Company and the collateral securingptiie These events of default include, among dthiags, the
Company’s failure to pay any amounts due undeldae, the Compang’insolvency, the occurrence of any default undetain other indebtedness or material agreememd
a final judgment against the Company that is nstiirged in 30 days.

4. Revenue Recognition

Generally, revenue is recognized at the time ofiped delivery to the Company’s customers. In soases, revenue is recognized at the time of shipmieen stipulated by
the terms of the sale agreements. The Companyedsods profit-sharing revenue stemming from arithistion agreement with Actavis, Inc., or Actavse¢ Note 17). Profit-
sharing revenue is recognized at the time Actaslis the products to its customers. Revenues difieen contract manufacturing services are recaghizhen third-party
products are shipped to customers, after the cuestbas accepted test samples of the productsghipped.

The Company does not recognize product revenueasitite following fundamental criteria are metp@ysuasive evidence of an arrangement existstafisfer of title has
occurred, (iii) the price to the customer is fix@ddeterminable, and (iv) collection is reasonadgured. Furthermore, the Company does not reaogevenue until all
customer acceptance requirements have been me€dmpany estimates and records reductions to revimudiscounts, product returns, and pricing adjests, such as
wholesaler chargebacks, in the same period thatthted revenue is recorded.

The Company’s accounting policy is to review eagreament involving contract development and manufag services to determine if there are multigleenue-generating

activities that constitute more than one unit afamting. Revenues are recognized for each uritebunting based on revenue recognition criteteévaat to that unit. The
Company does not have any revenue arrangementsnuitiple deliverables.
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Provision for Wholesaler Chargebac

The provision for chargebacks is a significantreate used in the recognition of revenue. As paitsadales terms with wholesale customers, the Gomyjagrees to reimbul
wholesalers for differences between the gross saless at which the Company sells its productelolesalers and the actual prices of such procatctise time wholesale
resell them under the Compaswarious contractual arrangements with third parsiuch as hospitals and group purchasing orgamzairhe Company estimates chargeb
at the time of sale to wholesalers based on whigleseventory stocking levels, historic chargebaates, and current contract pricing.

The provision for chargebacks is reflected in eeenues and a reduction to accounts receivablies.following table is an analysis of the chargebarcivision:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013
(in thousands)

Beginning balanc $ 18,10« $ 11,89¢
Provision related to sales made in the currenbpl 156,23t 213,07¢
Credits issued to third parties (162,467 (206,869

Ending balance $ 11,87:  $ 18,10«

Changes in chargeback provision from period toqokare primarily dependent on the Company’s saléts tvholesalers, the level of inventory held bg twholesalers’, and
on the wholesaler customer mix. The approach ttea€ompany uses to estimate chargebacks has besisteatly applied for all periods presented. iz in estimates
have been historically small. The Company contityuabnitors the provision for chargebacks and maddjastments when it believes that the actual @tagks may differ
from the estimates. The settlement of chargebaekemlly occurs within 30 days after the sale tolesalers.

Accrual for Product Return

The Company offers most customers the right tarnequialified excess or expired inventory for partigedit; however, products sold to Actavis are-neturnable. The
Company’s product returns primarily consist of teirns of expired products from sales made inrgrésiods. Returned products cannot be resoldhétime product
revenue is recognized, the Company records an ademuestimated returns. The accrual is basepaity upon the historical relationship of prodweturns to sales and
customer contract terms. The Company also assefs&sfactors that could affect product returnduidimg market conditions, product obsolescence,thadntroduction of
new competition. Although these factors do not redlyngive the Company’s customers the right to meforoducts outside of the regular return polite €Company realizes
that such factors could ultimately lead to increlasgurns. The Company analyzes these situatiomsaase-by-case basis and makes adjustments pootthect return reserve
as appropriate.

The provision for product returns is reflected @t revenues. The following table is an analysiprofluct return liability:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013
(in thousands)

Beginning balanc $ 459 $ 2,67
Provision for product returr (714) 2,711
Credits issued to third parties (1,470 (792)

Ending balance $ 2,40¢ % 4,592

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2018dimpany’s aggregate product return rate was 1ddai% of qualified sales, respectively.
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5. Income (Loss) per Share

Basic income (loss) per share is calculated baped the weighted-average number of common shatstaoding during the period and contingently is¢eiabares such as
fully vested deferred stock units, or DSUs, ashefdate all necessary conditions for issuance haga met. Diluted income per share gives effeatltpotential dilutive
common shares outstanding during the period, ssicicek options and nonvested DSUSs.

As the Company reported a net loss for the yeae@iitecember 31, 2014, the diluted net loss peesharreported, is equal to the basic net losshae since the effect of
the assumed exercise of stock options and conveodinonvested DSUs is anti-dilutive. Total stogkions and nonvested DSUs excluded from the yede&BDecember 31,
2014 net loss per share were 11,371,891 and 503:€4itectively.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, optionsrzhpse 7,124,091 shares of common stock with ahtesigaverage exercise price of $17.62 per shaspeotively, were
excluded in the computation of diluted net incoree ghare because the effect from the assumed seefcthese options would be anti-dilutive.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, optionsrzhpae 5,235,278 shares of common stock with ahtesigaverage exercise price of $22.09 per shaspeotively, were
excluded in the computation of diluted net incoree ghare because the effect from the assumed se@fihese options would be anti-dilutive.

The following table provides the calculation of isaend diluted net income (loss) per common sharedch of the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands, except per share date

Basic and dilutive numeratc

Net income (loss $ (10,699 $ 11,86: $ 18,09«
Denominator

Common shares outstandi 41,95 38,70¢ 38,57¢
Contingently issuable shares - vested DSUs — 7 2
Weighte«-average common shares outstan—basic 41,957 38,71 38,58(
Net effect of dilutive securitiet

Stock options — 104 241
Contingently issuable shares — nonvested DSUs — 67 11¢
Weighted-average common shares outstanding—diluted 41,95 38,88: 38,94(
Net income (loss) per common st—basic $ 028y % 031 $ 0.47
Net income (loss) per common sk—diluted $ (0.28) $ 031 $ 0.4€

6. Segment Reporting

The Company’s business is the development, manurfaand marketing of pharmaceutical products. @ril®0, 2014, the Company established AFP andrasualt, during
the quarter ended September 30, 2014, the Compemged the structure of its reportable segmenshkeshing two reporting segments that each refoatiie Chief Operatir
Decision Maker, or CODM, as defined in ASC Topi®28egment Reporting. The Company’s performantiédbeiassessed and resources will be allocatetido ODM
based on the following two reportable segments:

- Finished pharmaceutical produ
- Active pharmaceutical ingredients, or A

The finished pharmaceutical products segment ctiyremanufactures, markets and distributes enoxap&uwrtrosyr® , naloxone, lidocaine jelly, as well as, varioulest
critical and non-critical care drugs. The API segincurrently manufactures and distributes recoanftinuman insulin and porcine insulin.

86




Table of Contents

AMPHASTAR PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Selected financial information by reporting segmisrgresented below:

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012

(in thousands)
Net revenues:

Finished pharmaceutical produ $ 198,48( $ 229,68: $ 204,32!

API 11,98: — —
Total net revenue 210,46: 229,68 204,32:
Gross profit (loss):

Finished pharmaceutical produ 52,72¢ 86,95¢ 90,30:

API (1,46¢) — —
Total gross profi 51,25¢ 86,95¢ 90,30:
Operating expenses 69,23¢ 69,46¢ 64,90¢
Income (loss) from operatiol (17,989 17,49( 25,397
Non-operating income (expense (165) (263) 481
Income (loss) before income taxes $ (18,149 $ 17,227 $ 25,87¢

The Company manages its business segments todse jgiofit level and manages its operating andrathgts on a company-wide basis. The Company doeislentify total
assets by segment for internal purposes, as thep@uwyts CODM does not assess performance, makegitatecisions, or allocate resources based ottsasse

Net revenues and carrying values of l-lived assets of enterprises by geographic regiwass follows:

Net Revenue Long-Lived Assets
Year Ended December 31 December 31
2014 2013 2012 2014 2013
(in thousands)
U.S. $ 198,48( $ 229,68. $ 204,32.  $ 102,31:  $ 99,39¢
China — — — 22,17( 17,22
France 11,98 — — 13,80¢ —
Total $ 210,46. $ 229,68. $ 204,32.  $ 138,28¢ $ 116,61¢
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7. Customer and Supplier Concentration
Customer Concentrations

Three large wholesale drug distributors, AmeriseBergen Corporation, or AmerisourceBergen, Carditealith, Inc. or Cardinal, and McKesson CorporatmmMcKesson,
are all distributors of the Company’s productswadl as suppliers of a broad range of health cavdycts. Actavis, Inc. has exclusive marketing tsghf the Company’s
enoxaparin product to the U.S. retail pharmacy mtafdannKind Corporation began buying RHI API fréine Company in December 2014. The Company consillesg five
customers to be its major customers, as each dhdilly and they collectively represented a sigaificpercentage of the Company’s net revenue foyehes ended December
31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, and accounts receivabi¢ Becember 31, 2014 and 2013. The followindetabovides accounts receivable and net revendiesmation for these
major customers:

% of Total Accounts % of Net
Receivable Revenue
December 31 Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2014 2013 2012
Actavis, Inc. 18% 44% 30% 35% 35%
AmerisourceBerge 5% 11% 15% 15% 14%
Cardinal Healtt 15% % 14% 13% 13%
MannKind Corporatior 21% — 2% — —
McKesson 13% 13% 22% 26% 27%

Supplier Concentrations

The Company depends on suppliers for raw matedats/e pharmaceutical ingredients, and other corapts that are subject to stringent U.S. Food amndj B.dministration,
or FDA, requirements. Some of these materials nmhy loe available from one or a limited number ofi®es. Establishing additional or replacement sappfor these
materials may take a substantial period of timesugpliers must be approved by the FDA. Furtherreosggnificant portion of raw materials may onky &vailable from
foreign sources. If the Company is unable to seame timely basis, sufficient quantities of thaterials it depends on to manufacture and markgtrdducts, it could have a
materially adverse effect on the Company’s busirfasancial condition, and results of operations.

8. Fair Value Measurements
The accounting standards of the Financial AccognBitandards Board, or FASB, define fair value aspifice that would be received to sell an asspadatf to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between margatticipants in the principal or most advantagenasket for the asset or liability at the measurendete (an exit price).
These standards also establish a hierarchy thaitimes observable and unobservable inputs useteesuring fair value of an asset or liabilitydascribed below:
« Level 1 - Inputs to measure fair value are based on qumieds (unadjusted) in active markets on identsakets or liabilities;
« Level 2- Inputs to measure fair value are based on theviolig: a) quoted prices in active markets on simélasets or liabilities, b) quoted prices for ideaitiol
similar instruments in inactive markets, or c) olable (other than quoted prices) or collaborateskovable market data used in a pricing model fndrich the fai
value is derived; an

« Level 3 — Inputs to measure fair value are unobservabtetha assets or liabilities have little, if any, ket activity; these inputs reflect the Companygwr
assumptions about the assumptions that marketipantits would use in pricing the assets or lidbsibased on best information available in theuoirstances

The Company measures fair value based on the gheesvould be received to sell an asset or patdarwsfer a liability in an orderly transactionwetn market participants
the measurement date.

The Company classifies its cash equivalents and-$&on investments as Level 1 assets, as theyadned on a recurring basis using quoted markeepnwith no valuation
adjustments applied. The Company does not hold_axgl 2 or Level 3 instruments that are measuredafo value on a recurring basis.
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The fair values of the Company'’s financial assets l@abilities measured on a recurring basis, @3edember 31, 2014 and 2013, are as follows:

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets

for Identical Significant Other Significant
Assets Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

(in thousands)
Cash equivalent:

Money market accoun $ 42,99 % 42,99 % — 3 —
Restricted sho-term investments

Certificates of depos 1,49t 1,49t — —
Fair value measurement as of December 31, 2014 $ 44,48¢ $ 44,48¢ $ — 3 —
Cash equivalent:

Money market accoun $ 41,18: $ 41,18: $ — % o
Restricted sho-term investments

Certificates of depos 1,32¢ 1,32¢ — —
Fair value measurement as of December 31, 2013 $ 4250¢ $ 4250¢ $ — 3 —

The fair value of the Company’s cash equivalentfuies money market funds and certificates of diepath maturities of one year or less. Short-ténvestments consist of
certificate of deposit accounts that expire withthmonths for which market prices are readily aldé. The restrictions placed on the certificatdegosit accounts have a
negligible effect on the fair value of these finesh@assets; these funds are restricted to meeZdinepany’s obligation for workers’ compensation igi

The Company adopted the required fair value measemés and disclosures provisions related to nonéiish assets and liabilities. These assets andlitie® are not measured
at fair value on a recurring basis but are sulipéair value adjustments in certain circumstan@égse items primarily include long-lived assetsdwill, and intangible
assets for which the fair value of assets is datexthas part of the related impairment test. ABefember 31, 2014 and 2013, there were no signifidjustments to fair
value for nonfinancial assets or liabilities.
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Intangible assets include product rights, tradesgoltents, land-use rights, and goodwill. Theetdlglow shows the weighted-average life, origimatt,caccumulated
amortization, and net book value by major intargjdset classification:

Definite-lived intangible assel
Product rights
Patents
Trademark:
Lanc-use rights
Other intangible assets
Subtotal
Indefinite-lived intangible asset
Trademark
Goodwill

Finished pharmaceutical produ

API
AFP customers
Subtotal
As of December 31, 2014

Definite-lived intangible assel
Product rights
Patents
Trademarks
Lanc-use rights
Other intangible assets
Subtotal
Indefinite-lived intangible asset
Trademark
Goodwill

Finished pharmaceutical produ

API
Subtotal
As of December 31, 2013

Weighted-Average Accumulated
Life (Years) Original Cost Amortization Net Book Value

(in thousands)

12 27,13¢ 20,89¢ 6,23¢

10 29¢ 78 21k

11 19 15 4

39 2,54( 221 2,31¢

1 50E 50E —

12 30,49: 21,71 8,77¢

* 29,22t — 29,22t

* 28C — 28C

* 4,187 — 4,187

* 97 — 97

* 33,78¢ — 33,78¢

* 64,28( 21,71t 42,56¢
Weighted-Average Accumulated

Life (Years) Original Cost Amortization Net Book Value

(in thousands)

12 27,13¢ 19,11« 8,02(

10 29¢ 50 24¢

11 19 13 6

39 2,54( 15€ 2,38¢

1 50E 50E —

11 30,49¢ 19,83¢ 10,65¢

* 29,22 — 29,22

* 28C — 28C

* 29,50¢ — 29,50¢

* 60,00 19,83¢ 40,16:

* Intangible assets with indefinite lives have anetedminable average life.

Goodwill acquired during the year ended Decembe814 is wholly related to the Merck API Transant{see Note 3).
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Goodwill
The Changes in the carrying amounts of goodwillenges follow:

December 31

2014 2013
(in thousands)
Beginning balanc $ 28C $ 28C
Goodwill related to acquisition of busine 4,36¢ —
Currency translation and other adjustments (182) —
Ending Balance $ 4,467 $ 28C

Primatene® Mist Trademark

In January 2009, the Company acquired the exclugives to the trademark, domain name, websitedamdestic marketing, distribution and selling rigretated to Primatene
® Mist, an over-the-counter bronchodilator produot,d total consideration of $29.2 million, whichtfe carrying value as of December 31, 2014.

In determining the useful life of the trademarle Bompany considered the following: the expectedafishe intangible; the longevity of the brands tegal, regulatory and
contractual provisions that affect their maximurefuslife; the Company’s ability to renew or exteting asset's legal or contractual life without gsahgal costs; effects of the
regulatory environment; expected changes in digtiéb channels; maintenance expenditures requirettain the expected future cash flows from tleefasand
considerations for obsolescence, demand, compettid other economic factors.

As a result of environmental concerns about chloosbcarbons, or CFCs, the FDA issued a final gitim January 16, 2009 that required the CFC fortimmaf its Primaten:
® Mist product to be phased out by December 31, 20hé&.former formulation of Primatef&Mist contained CFCs as a propellant; however, thm@any intends to use the
trademark for a future version of Primaténglist that utilizes hydrofluoroalkane, or HFA, ap@pellant.

In 2013, the Company filed a new drug applicatmmiNDA, for Primaten® Mist HFA and received a Prescription Drug User BReedate set for May 2014. In May 2014, the
Company received a complete response letter, or, @Bin the FDA, which requires additional non-ctiai information, label revisions and follow-up stesl(label
comprehension, behavioral and actual use) to assessimers’ ability to use the device correctigupport approval of the product in the over-tieemnter setting. Additionall
the CRL noted current Good Manufacturing PractioesGMP, deficiencies in a recent inspection ef @ompany’s API supplier's manufacturing facilityhich produces
epinephrine, and indicated that the Company’s NDAld not be approved until these issues were redoBubsequent to the receipt of the CRL, the seippbtified the
Company that the cGMP deficiencies were satisfdgtm@solved. Accordingly, the Company believeis ttondition for approval has been satisfied. Toeepany met with

the FDA in October 2014 to discuss preliminary detults and to clarify the FDA requirements fatttier studies. The Company is in the process oéiggimg the remaining
data required by the CRL and will submit an NDA Ardment that it believes will address the FDA'’s cans. However, there can be no guarantee thatraep@ment to the
Company’s NDA will result in timely approval of throduct or approval at all.

Based on the Company’s filed version of Primat&émist HFA, the Company’s plan to submit an NDA amereaht to address the FDA'’s concerns, the long hisibthe
Primatene® Mist trademark (marketed since 1963) and the Coyigaperpetual rights to the trademark, the Compasydegermined that the trademark has an indefirsiegul
life. If the HFA version is approved by the FDAwitll be marketed under the same trade name; thierehn impairment charge would not be required.

Amortization

Included in cost of revenues for the years endezeBer 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 is product rightsrtiration expense of $1.8 million each year, prityaelated to
Cortrosyn®.

As of December 31, 2014, the expected amortizatiqense for all amortizable intangible assets dutile next five fiscal years ended December 31theckafter is as
follows:

(in thousands)

2015 $ 1,87¢
2016 1,87¢
2017 1,871
2018 98€
2019 o8
Thereafter 2,06z
Total amortizable intangible ass: 8,77¢
Indefinite-lived intangibles 33,78¢
Total intangibles (net of accumulated amortization) $ 42,56¢
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10. Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or etanksing the first-in, first-out method. Provissomre made for slowioving, unsellable or obsolete items. Inventorigssist of
the following:

December 31

2014 2013
(in thousands)
Raw materials and suppli $ 41,99¢ $ 34,47(
Work in proces: 16,22: 14,69¢
Finished goods 24,75t 26,50!
Total inventory 82,97 75,66¢
Less reserve for excess and obsolete inventories (640C) (5,759)
Total inventory, net $ 82,33 $ 69,91¢

11. Property, Plant, and Equipment
Property, plant, and equipment consist of the foily:

December 31

2014 2013
(in thousands)
Building $ 67,76( $ 58,89¢
Leasehold improvemen 23,96( 23,83¢
Land 7,02(C 5,80¢
Machinery and equipme 104,81¢ 93,611
Furniture, fixtures, and automobil 12,21z 9,35¢
Construction in progress 25,06¢ 15,68t
Total property, plant, and equipme 240,84( 207,19¢
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (102,55)) (90,575
Total property, plant, and equipment, net $ 138,28¢ $ 116,61¢

The Company incurred depreciation expense of $t@lmn, $11.2 million, and $9.7 million for the ges ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, tespgc

Interest expense capitalized was approximately Sillbn, $0.1 million, and $0.3 million, for thesars ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 ctaghe. The interest
expense capitalized is primarily related to cerfaimeign construction projects during the year.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company Batirillion and $3.4 million, respectively, in ctglized manufacturing equipment that is intendedeaised specifical
for the manufacture of Primatefidlist HFA. The Company will continue to monitor déwmements with the FDA as it relates to its Primat&iMist HFA in determining if
there is an impairment of these related fixed assete Note 9).

12. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

All of the Company’s impairments relate primaritythe write-off of certain manufacturing equipmegiated to abandoned projects. For the years ebdedmber 31, 2014,

2013 and 2012, the Company recorded an impairnessatdf $0.4 million, $0.1 million, and $2.1 milliorespectively in the Finished Pharmaceutical Pcodagment. The
$2.1 million impairment write-off in 2012 is primbrrelated to equipment for a production projdwttwas suspended.
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13. Debt
Debt consists of the following:

December 31
2014 2013
(in thousands)

Loans with East West Ban

Mortgage payable due January 2( $ 3,881 $ 4,041
Mortgage payable due September 2 2,28¢ 2,36¢
Equipment loan paid off November 20 — 783
Line of credit facility due March 201 — —
Equipment loan due April 201 2,92: 4,10z

Line of credit facility due January 20: — —

Loans with Cathay Banl

Mortgage payable due April 20: 4,54¢ 4,624
Revolving line of credit due May 20: — 15,00(
Acquisition loan due April 201 20,87( —
Payment obligation to Mercl 8,16( —
Equipment under Capital Lease 1,022 1,25¢
Total debt and capital leas 43,70( 32,17:

Less current portion of long-term debt and Edpeases 7,594 22,10¢
Long-term debt, net of current portion and cagéakes $ 36,10¢ $ 10,06¢

Loans with East West Bank

Mortgage Payab—Due January 2016

In December 2010, the Company refinanced an egistiartgage term loan, which had a principal balangstanding of $4.5 million at December 31, 20Mife loan is
payable in monthly installments with a final balfiopayment of $3.8 million. The loan is secured hg of the buildings at the Company’s Rancho Cucajap€alifornia,
headquarters complex, as well as one of its bugklat its Chino, California, complex. The loan Bemwariable interest rate at the prime rate atighdadl byThe Wall Street
Journal,with a minimum interest rate of 5.00%, and matune¥anuary 2016.

Mortgage Payabl—Due September 2016

In September 2006, the Company entered into a mgetterm loan in the principal amount of $2.8 miilliwhich matures in September 2016. The loanyalga in monthly
installments with a final balloon payment of $2.2lion plus interest. The loan is secured by on¢hefbuildings at the Company’s Rancho Cucamonghfdinia,
headquarters complex. The variable interest ratqusl to the three-month LIBOR plus 2.50%.

Equipment Loa—Paid off November 2014

In May 2009, the Company entered into an $8.0 amillievolving credit facility. In November 2010, tBempany converted the outstanding principal baarfc$3.2 million
into an equipment loan. Borrowings under the fciliere secured by equipment purchased with defatgeds. The facility bore interest at the prime eet published byhe
Wall Street Journalvith a minimum interest rate of 5.00%. In NovemB@ei4, the Company repaid all outstanding amoumésuohder this facility.

Line of Credit Facilit—Due March 2016

In March 2012, the Company entered into a $10.0aniline of credit facility. Borrowings under the facility are secureyglinventory and accounts receivable. Borrowings

under the facility bear interest at the prime edeublished bifhe Wall Street JournalThis facility was to mature in July 2014. In Af2014, the Company extended the
maturity date to March 2016. As of December 31,£@he Company did not have any amounts outstgndider this facility.
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Equipment Loa—Due April 2017

In March 2012, the Company entered into an $8.0anikevolving credit facility. In March 2013, tt@ompany, converted the outstanding principal baafc$4.9 million intc
an equipment loan. Borrowings under the facility secured by equipment purchased with debt proc8etdwings under the facility bear interest & tirime rate as
published byThe Wall Street Journalwith a minimum interest rate of 3.50%. This fagimatures in April 2017.

Line of Credit Facilit—Due January 2019

In July 2013, the Company entered into an $8.0ianilline of credit facility. Borrowings under tffigcility were secured by equipment. The facilityémterest at the prime
rate as published ifhe Wall Street Journallus 0.25% and was to mature in January 2019. f &eoember 31, 2014, the Company did not have amyuats outstanding
under this facility.

In January 2015, the Company drew down $6.2 milffom the line of credit facility. Subsequentlyetfacility was then converted in an equipment haéth an outstanding
principal balance of $6.2 million. Borrowings undkee facility are secured by equipment purchaset thie debt proceeds. The Company entered inted fnterest rate
swap contract on this facility to exchange thetflugirate for a fixed interest payment over the bf the facility without the exchange of the urigieg notional debt amount.
The facility bears interest at a fixed rate of 4#8nd matures in January 2019.

Loans with Cathay Bank
Mortgage Payab—Due April 2021

In March 2007, the Company entered into a mortdgage loan in the principal amount of $5.3 milliavhich matured in March 2014. In April 2014, then@uany refinanced
the mortgage term loan, which had a principal begasutstanding of $4.6 million. The loan is pagaibl monthly installments of $28.1 thousand wifimal balloon payment
of $3.9 million. The loan is secured by the buiglat the Company’s Canton, Massachusetts locatidrbears interest at a fixed rate of 5.42% andirastn April 2021. As
of December 31, 2014, the loan had a fair valu®4o8 million, compared to a book value of $4.5 imill The fair value of the loan was determined bing the interest rate
associated with the Company’s mortgage loans viitliiar terms and collateral that has variable ies¢rates. The fair value of debt obligations isreemeasured on a
recurring basis and the variable interest rateented to be a Level 2 input for measuring fair @alu

Revolving Line of Cre—Due May 2016

In April 2012, the Company entered into a $20.0iarilrevolving line of credit facility. Borrowingander the facility are secured by inventory, actsueceivables, and
intangibles held by the Company. The facility lseiaterest at the prime rate as published by Wall Street Journalith a minimum interest rate of 4.00%. This revoty
line of credit was to mature in May 2014. In A014, the Company modified the facility to extehd maturity date to May 2016. As of December2iL4, the Company
did not have any amounts outstanding under thisitiac

Acquisition Loa—Due April 2019

On April 22, 2014, in conjunction with the Merck APransaction, the Company entered into a secumed Iban facility. The principal amount of the loar$21.9 million and
bears a variable interest rate at the prime rapribBshed byT'he Wall Street Journalwith a minimum interest rate of 4.00%. BeginnorgJune 1, 2014 and through the
maturity date, April 22, 2019, the Company must enatonthly payments of principal and interest basethe then outstanding amount of the loan amattizesr a 120nontt
period. On April 22, 2019, all amounts outstandimgler the loan become due and payable, which wmibproximately $12.0 million based upon an irgerate of 4.00%.
The loan is secured by 65% of the issued and mditg shares of stock in AFP and certain assetisso€ompany, including accounts receivable, invgnteertain investment
property, goods, deposit accounts, and generaigitifes but not including the Company’s equipmert eeal property.

The loan includes customary restrictions on, anathgr things, the Company’s ability to incur adutitl indebtedness, pay dividends in cash or maier alistributions in
cash, make certain investments, create liensassdits, and make loans. The loan also includesroasy events of defaults, the occurrence and coation of any of which
provide Cathay Bank the right to exercise remedggnst the Company and the collateral securingptiie These events of default include, among dtfiags, the
Company’s failure to pay any amounts due undetdhe, the Companyg'insolvency, the occurrence of any default uneetam other indebtedness or material agreememd
a final judgment against the Company that is nstiirged in 30 days.
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Payment Obligation

Merck—Due December 2017

On April 30, 2014, in conjunction with the Merck APransaction, the Company entered into a commitrobligation with Merck, in the principal amount®11.6 million, or
$16.0 million, subject to currency exchange flutitwes. The terms of the purchase price includaiahpayments over four years and bear a fixedesteate of 3.00%. The
final payment to Merck relating to this obligatisndue December 2017. In December 2014, the Coyparde a principal payment of €4.9 million, or $blion.

As of December 31, 2014, the payment obligationdadok value of €6.9 million, or $8.2 million, vehi approximates fair value. The fair value of plagment obligation
was determined by using the interest rate assalcveith the Company’s acquisition loan with CathagnR that bears a variable interest rate at thegorate as published by
The Wall Street Journalwith a minimum interest rate of 4.00%. The faifue of the debt obligation is not re-measureé oecurring basis and the variable interest rate is
deemed to be a Level 2 input for measuring faiueal

Covenants

At December 31, 2014, the Company was not in canpé with two of its financial covenants with Catligank. The first one requiring a fixed charge cage ratio of 1.2 to
1.0, or greater, and the second one required amini debt service coverage ratio of 1.5 to 1.0,reater. On March 13, 2015, the Company obtainegtevsiof the debt
covenants for the period ending December 31, 2@tDecember 31, 2013, the Company was in compéiamith its debt covenants, which include a minimeurrent ratio,
minimum debt service coverage, minimum tangiblewath, and maximum debt-to-effective-tangible-netth ratio, computed on a consolidated basis mesmstances and
on a separate-company basis in others.

Equipment under Capital Leases

The Company entered into leases for certain equipomeder capital leasing arrangements, which witliee at various times through 2019. The cost efiggent under capiti
leases was $1.5 million and $1.5 million at Decen#de 2014 and 2013, respectively.

The accumulated amortization of equipment undeitaldpases was $0.4 million and $0.2 million atcBmber 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Amortinatibassets
recorded under capital leases is included in dégtien and amortization expense in the accompangamgsolidated financial statements.

Long-Term Debt Maturities

As of December 31, 2014, the principal amount®nftterm debt maturities during each of the nes fiscal years ending December 31 are as follows:

Debt Capital Leases Total
(in thousands)
2015 $ 7,247 $ 402
2016 12,97: 301
2017 3,131 29¢
2018 2,20: 12¢
2019 13,07¢ —
Thereafter 4,052 —
42,67¢ 1,12¢
Less amount representing interest — 10€
$ 42,67¢  $ 1,022 $ 43,70(
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14. Income Taxes
The Company’s income (loss) before income taxesigeed from its United States and foreign operativare:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

(in thousands)
Income (loss) before income taxi

United State: $ (12,94¢ $ 20,11¢  $ 27,71t
Foreign (5,202) (2,889 (1,837)
Total income (loss) before taxes $ (18,148 $ 17,227 $ 25,87¢

The Company'’s provision (benefit) for income takessisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

(in thousands)
Current provision (benefit

Federal $ (13) $ 3,306 $ (1,309

State 19¢ 541 (2,337)

Foreign 1,38¢ 104 94

Total current provision (benefit) 1,45( 3,951 (3,547

Deferred provision (benefit

Federal (4,309) 2,25¢ 11,810

State (1,699 227 17¢C

Foreign (2,897 (1,067) (65€)

Total deferred provision (benefit) (8,899 1,414 11,33
Total provision (benefit) for income taxes $ (7,449 $ 536 $ 7,78¢
A reconciliation of the statutory federal incoms tate to the Company’s effective tax rate is dofes:
Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012

Statutory federal income tax (bene (35.(%) 35.(% 35.(%
State tax expense, net of federal tax bel (5.4) 2.6 4.7
Foreign income ta 1.8 0.2 0.1
Qualified production activities deductic — 3.9 —
Research and development cre (6.4) 9.9) —
Benefit for uncertain tax positic — — (3.0)
ISO portion of stock options deductic 4.C 658 4.C
Other — (0.2) (1.3

Effective tax rate (benefit) (41.(%) 31.1% 30.1%
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Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effe€temporary differences between the carrying amoohtssets and liabilities for financial reportmgrposes and the amounts
used for income tax purposes. The significant camepts of the Company’s deferred tax assets aniitiedare as follows:

December 31
2014 2013
(in thousands)

Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss carryforwa $ 7871 % 932
State income taxe 27C 29C
Inventory capitalization and reser 6,84: 5,80(
Deferred revenu 864 1,151
Accrued payroll and benefi 1,571 1,46t
Shar-based compensatic 8,431 6,981
Research and development cre: 9,86: 7,751
Alternative minimum tay 447 40€
Accrued professional fet 56€ 88t
Product return allowanc 1,221 2,092
Accrued chargebacl 4,792 7,187
Bad debt reserv 67 57
Intangibles 3,861 —
Accrued for workers’ compensation insurance 864 77€
Total deferred tax assets 47,54 35,78(
Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciation/amortizatio 15,64¢ 13,92(
Intangibles 4,75¢ 3,82¢
Federal impact of state deferred ta 2,91(C 2,397
Other 937 57¢
Total deferred tax liabilities 24,24¢ 20,72(
Valuation Allowance 3,862 —
Net deferred tax asse $ 19,43 $ 15,06(

Net Operating Loss Carryforwards and Tax Cre:

At December 31, 2014, the Company had U.S. fed€adifornia , and other State net operating lod&JL") carryforwards of approximately $15.4 millio§i15.5 million, and
$1.6 million, respectively. The federal, Califor@iad other states loss carryforwards begin to expi2034, 2029, and 2030, respectively. The Compdso had foreign NOL
carryforwards of approximately $2.9 million whichrcbe used annually with certain limitations andehan indefinite carryforward period.

The California and other state NOL carryforwardslede $15.8 million and $0.1 million, respectivelglated to excess tax benefits from share-baseddsn\When the related
tax benefits from these share-based awards areedtithe tax benefit of these adjustments whidhredluce the amount of income taxes payable welbEset against
additional paid in capital.

At December 31, 2014, the Company had federal aifiothia research and development tax credit darwards of approximately $2.7 million and $7.2 lioih, respectively
The federal research and development tax credihbeg expire in 2031 unless utilized beforeharttk Talifornia research and development tax cretitdn indefinite
carryforward period. The Company also had a U.&eifal alternative minimum tax credit carryforwafdb6.4 million which can be used to offset futuegular tax to the
extent of the current AMT; the credit has an indiédi carryforward period.

The utilization of the NOL and credit carryforwaraisd other tax attributes could be subject to aruahlimitation under Sections 382 and 383 of titerinal Revenue Code of
1986 (the “Code”), whereby they could be limitedtie event a cumulative change in ownership of ntwaie 50% occurs within a three-year period, amddfin the Code.
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Valuation Allowance

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax @sddanagement considers whether it is more likeéyn not that some portion or all of the defer@dassets will be realized.
When making an assessment when to establish atieedlowance, Management considers sources abtaxncome such as income in prior carryback plsriuture
reversal of existing deferred taxable temporarfedénces, projected future taxable income, angtamning strategies. Based on these assessmemagktaent believes that
the Company'’s deferred tax assets will more likeBn not be realized in future years, except ferdéferred tax asset related to certain intangisdets purchased by AFP in
conjunction with the purchase of an API facilityfrance in April 2014. As a result, in connectioittvthe AFP purchase accounting, the Company recbadvaluation
allowance against the intangible deferred tax asis$4.4 million with an offsetting entry to goodtvi

Undistributed Earnings (Losses) from Foreign Opinas

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, deferred inc@xesthave not been provided on the accumulatedtuibdited losses of the Company’s foreign subsielanf
approximately $10.5 million and $5.0 million, respieely. In addition, it is the Company’s plan riotrepatriate future foreign earnings to the U.S.

Uncertain Income Tax Positions
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending baksof unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

December 31

2014 2013
(in thousands)

Balance at the beginning of the yt $ 4,18¢ $ 3,532
Additions based on tax positions related to theeniryeal 65E 76€
Deductions based on tax audit settlen — (93
Deductions based on statute of limitations (58) (19

Balance at the end of the year $ 4,78: $ 4,18¢

Included in the balance of unrecognized tax besmeBtof December 31, 2014 was $4.3 million thatasgnts the portion that would impact the effectincmme tax rate if
recognized. The Company believes that it is reddgr@ossible that the total amount of unrecognimedbenefit as of December 31, 2014 will declinebtiyd million in the
next 12 months as a result of the expected resaolati a current U.S. state audit.

The Company recognizes accrued interest and pesadtiated to unrecognized tax benefits in itsimedax provision. For the years ended Decembe?@®l4 and 2013, the
Company recognized accrued interest of approxim&@l1 million and $0.1 million, respectively, redd to its uncertain tax position. For the yearezhBecember 31, 2012,
the Company recognized a net reduction to its irectan provision of approximately $1.2 million, e to its uncertain tax position. No penaltieseverquired to be accrued
on its uncertain tax positions.

The Company and/or one or more of its subsididified income tax returns in the U.S. federal juiisidn and various U.S. states and foreign jurigdits. As of December
31, 2014, the Company is not subject to U.S. fddstate, and foreign income tax examinations fearg before 2006. In August 2011, the Californi8Edmmenced an audit
of the Company’s 2007, 2008, and 2009 tax retuhis;audit is currently ongoing. The Company ikjsat to income tax audit by tax authorities for y@ars 2011, 2012 and
2013 for federal and 2007 to 2013 for states.
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15. Stockholders' Equity
Common and Preferred Stock

In June 2014, the Company completed an initial ipudffering in which the Company sold 5,840,000rsisz0f its common stock, which included 1,200,008rss of the
Company’s common stock pursuant to the underwtiexmrcise of their over-allotment option, at acprto the public of $7.00 per share, resultingrizeg proceeds of $40.9
million. In connection with the offering, the Coamy paid $6.2 million in underwriting discountspumissions, and offering costs, resulting in necpeals of $34.7 million.

The Company'’s Certificate of Incorporation, as adeghand restated in June 2014 in connection wéltlbsing of its initial public offering, authorigéghe Company to issue
300,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.0001 paevar share, and 20,000,000 shares of prefewek, §0.0001 par value per share. As of Decembge?@l4 and 2013,
there were no shares of preferred stock issuedtstamding.

Equity Plans

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had two eqplitys, the Amended and Restated 2005 Equity IneeAtwvard Plan, or 2005 Plan, and the 2014 Empl&teek
Purchase Plan or ESPP. Prior to the adoption sktpéans, the Company granted options pursuahet@@02 Amended and Restated Stock Option/Stodktee Plan and,
from 1998 through 2001, the Company’s board ofadies granted options to purchase shares of itsammstock under the Key Employee Stock Incentian Pthe 2001
Employee Incentive Plan, the 2000 Employee Incerfilan and the 1999 Employee Incentive Plan. Ugnination of the predecessor plans, the shar&ifahle for grant at
the time of termination, and shares subsequertlymed to the plans upon forfeiture or option teration, were transferred to the successor plaffécteat the time of share
return.

The Company issues new shares of common stock exmngise of stock options.
Amended and Restated 2005 Equity Incentive Awad

The 2005 Plan provides for the grant of incentieels options, or ISOs, nonqualified stock optiomsNQSOs, restricted stock awards, restricted stmikawards, stock
appreciation rights, or SARs, dividend equivalamd stock payments to our employees, members dfcthel of directors and consultants. Stock optiorder the 2005 Plan
may be granted with a term of up to ten years ampdiees no less than the fair market value ofammmon stock on the date of grant. To date, stptions granted to existing
employees generally vest over three to five yeadsstock options granted to new employees vestfougryears. The 2005 Plan also contains an "egergprovision” that
allows for an annual increase in the number ofeshawailable for issuance on January 1 of eachdwearg the ten-year term of the 2005 Plan, begigdanuary 1, 2007. The
annual increase in the number of shares shallthere?% of our outstanding shares on the applic3teiary 1 or a lesser amount determined by oudhafalirectors.

As of December 31, 2014 the Company reserved areggte of 2.3 million shares of common stock fdufe issuance under the 2005 Plan. In January 201&dditional
892,936 shares were reserved under the 2005 Plan.

2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company adopted the ESPP in June 2014 in ctionedith its initial public offering. The CompargyESPP permits eligible employees to purchase constuzk at a
discount through payroll deductions during defioé@ring periods. Under the ESPP, the Company rpagify offerings with durations of not more than@dnths, and may
specify shorter purchase periods within each offerEach offering will have one or more purchageslan which shares of its common stock will bechased for employees
participating in the offering. An offering may berminated under certain circumstances. The prie¢hath the stock is purchased is equal to the lai@&5% of the fair mark
value of the common stock at the beginning of derofg period or on the date of purchase.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had not pealfdr any offerings under the ESPP and 2,000,8@€es of its common stock remained available fuwasce under the
ESPP.

Share Buyback Program

On November 6, 2014 the Company’s Board of Directarthorized a $10.0 million share buyback progmahich is expected to continue for an indefiniteipe of time. The
primary goal of the program is to offset dilutioreated by the Company’s equity compensation program

Purchases are being made through the open markgtrvate block transactions pursuant to Rule 10lglans, privately negotiated transactions or otheans as determined
by the Company’s management and in accordancetidthequirements of the Securities and Exchangenlssion. The timing and actual number of sharpanehased will
depend on a variety of factors including price pooate and regulatory requirements, and other tiondi These repurchased shares are accountadder the cost method
and are included as a component of treasury stottiel Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Pursuant to the Company’s share repurchase proghanG;ompany purchased 29,400 shares of its constock during the year ended December 31, 2014rigt&D.3
million.
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Share-Based Award Activity and Balances

The Company accounts for share-based compensationgmts in accordance with ASC Topic 718, whichunegmeasurement and recognition of compensatiperese at
fair value for all share-based payment awards nia@enployees, directors, and non-employees. Urdisetstandards, the fair value of share-based payaeards is
estimated at the grant date using an option-priniogel and the portion that is ultimately expedteuest is recognized as compensation cost overtiigsite service period.
The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricingehto estimate the fair value of share-based dsvand recognizes share-based compensation cogheweesting
period using the straight-line single option methdtbn-vested stock options held by non-employeesevalued using the Company’s estimate of fdue/at each balance
sheet date.

Options issued under the Company’s Amended ancafees2005 Equity Incentive Award Plan, or the 280, are generally granted at prices equal toeatgr than the fair
value of the underlying shares on the date of gradtvest based on continuous service. The optians a contractual term of five to ten years anmtbgaly vest over a three-
to five-year period. The fair value of each optismmortized into compensation expense on a stréilghbasis between the grant date for the opdiodh the vesting date. The
awards of restricted common stock such as Defe3tedk Units, or DSUs are valued at fair value andhte of grant. The Company uses the Black-Sclopigsn pricing
model to determine the fair value of share-basear@dsv The Black-Scholes option pricing model hasusa inputs such as the estimated common share, fthie risk-free
interest rate, volatility, expected life and diundeyield, all of which are estimates. The Compalsyp aecords share-based compensation expense epedted forfeitures.
The change of any of these inputs could signifigaimpact the determination of the fair value of tBompany’s options and thus could significantlpatt its results of
operations. There are no awards with performanoditions and no awards with market conditions.

Valuation models and significant assumptions farskbased compensation are as follows:

= Determining Fair Value. For all equity awards granted after the completibthe Company'’s initial public offering, the faialue for its underlying common
stock is determined using the closing price onddie of grant as reported on the NASDAQ Global SdMtarket. The Company uses the Black-Scholes feamu
to estimate the fair value of our share-based paysnesing a single option award approach. The egidin of this valuation model involves assumptithat are
judgmental and sensitive in the determination efipensation expense. Key assumptions and estimagtimodologies for inputs to the BleScholes calculatio
are developed in accordance with ASC Topic 718. Chmpany amortizes its share-based compensati@nsgver the requisite service period, which istmo
cases is the vesting period of the aw:

For all equity grants granted, the primary factothie valuation of equity awards was the fair valfithe underlying common stock at the time of gr&ince the
Company’s common stock was not traded in a puldicksmarket exchange prior to June 25, 2014, ther@®of Directors considered numerous factors inofyd
recent cash sales of the Company’s common stottkrtbparty investors, new business and economieldgments affecting the Company and independent
appraisals, when appropriate, to determine thevédire of the Company’s common stock. Independppteaasal reports were prepared using conventional
valuation techniques, such as discounted cashdtmlyses and the guideline company method usirentevand earnings multiples for comparable publicly
traded companies, and a calculation of total oppimteeds, from which a discount factor for lacknafrketability was applied. This determination toé fair

value of the common stock was performed on a combeameous basis. The Board of Directors determinedCompany’s common stock fair market value on a
quarterly basis and in some cases more freque§nwappropriate.

= Expected Volatility. The Company has limited data regarding companyipéistorical or implied volatility of its sharprice. Consequently, the Company
estimates its volatility based on the average ettistorical volatilities of peer group companiesni publicly available data for sequential periagproximately
equal to the expected terms of its option gran@najement considers factors such as stage o¥/life,competitors, size, market capitalization &indncial
leverage in the selection of similar entiti

= Expected Term.The expected term represents the period of tinvehich the options granted are expected to be cdstg. The Company estimates the expe
term of options granted based on the midpoint betwtbe vesting date and the end of the contratgual under the “short-cut” or simplified method pétted by
the SEC implementation guidance for “plain vanikegtions. Applying this method, the weighted-averagpected term of the Company’s options is
approximately five years. The use of the shortroathod is permitted by the SEC beyond Decembe2@®17, under certain circumstances, as describ#ein
SEC implementation guidance. The Company will corgito use the short-cut method, as permitted, wathave developed sufficient historical data for
employee exercise and p-vesting employment termination behavior after cammon stock has been publicly traded for a readergdyiod of time
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Forfeitures. The Company estimates forfeitures at the time ahand revises those estimates in subsequentlpefiactual experience differs from those
estimates. For the years ended December 31, 2018,éhd 2012, the Company estimated an averagalbfgefeiture rate of 8%, 8%, and 9%, respectively
based on historical forfeitures since 1998. Faufeitrates are separately calculated for its (Betlirs and officers, (2) management personnel 2natiier
employees. Share-based compensation is recorded egpected forfeitures. The Company will periadig assess the forfeiture rate and the amounxpéese
recognized based on estimated historical forfedtaeecompared to actual forfeitures. Changes imatgs are recorded in the period they are idewqti

Risk-Free Rate. The risk-free interest rate is selected based tip@immplied yields in effect at the time of theioptgrant on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues
with a term approximately equal to the expectesl dif the option being value

Dividends. The Company does not anticipate paying cash didslémthe foreseeable future. Consequently, thefgamm uses an expected dividend yield rate of
zero.

Tax benefits resulting from tax deductions in escefthe share-based compensation cost recogrézedds tax benefits) are recorded in the stateroéuotssh flows as
financing activities.

The weighted-averages for key assumptions usedtgrmining the fair value of options granted dutting years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and&@l1as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Average volatility 29.9% 28.6% 32.%
Risk-free interest rat 1.7% 1.2% 0.7%
Weighte«-average expected life in yee 5.C 4.t 4.8
Dividend yield rate 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%

Stock Options

A summary of option activity under all plans foethear ended December 31, 2014 is presented below:

Weighted-
Weightec- Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Options Price Term (Years) Value (1)
(in thousands)
Outstanding as of December 31, 2( 10,771,75 $ 15.3¢
Options grante! 1,661,86: 15.0¢
Options exercise (65,000 10.7¢
Options cancelle (135,399 15.7¢
Options expired (861,329 18.4¢
Outstanding as of December 31, 2014 11,371,89 g 15.12 46z g 1,81t
Exercisable as of December 31, 2014 6,281,300 ¢ 16.9¢ 354 ¢ 871

@ The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated aglifierence between the exercise price of the Ugihey awards and the estimated fair value of then@any’s common
stock for those awards that have an exercise pet@v the estimated fair value at December 31, 2
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A summary of option activity under all plans foetiiear ended December 31, 2013 is presented below:

Weightec-
Weighted- Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Options Price Term (Years) Value (1)
(in thousands)
Qutstanding as of December 31, 2( 8,278,761 $ 18.0C
Options grante: 3,598,72! 12.0¢
Options exercise (4,200 13.01%
Options cancelle (403,37() 12.8¢
Options expired (698,16¢) 30.8¢
Outstanding as December 31, 2013 10,771,75 ¢ 15.3¢ 48t g 20,34:
Exercisable as of December 31, 2013 5,154,20. ¢ 18.8¢ 337 g 5,75¢

@) The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated adifference between the exercise price of the tiyidg awards and the estimated fair value of tioenPany’s common
stock for those awards that have an exercise petmv the estimated fair value at December 31, 2

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, a2 #e Company recorded stock option expenseesrktatemployees under all plans of $6.7 million9%&illion, and
$6.5 million, respectively.

Information relating to option grants and exercisess follows:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands, except per share dat¢
Weighte«average grant date fair val $ 40z $ 27¢ % 3.01
Intrinsic value of options exercisi 144 — 1,54
Cash receive 571 55 332
Total fair value of the options vested during tlear 6,407 6,067 6,80¢

A summary of the status of the Company’s nonvesfgibns as of December 31, 2014, and changes dtiringear ended December 31, 2014, are preseni®a:be

Weighted-Average

Grant Date

Options Fair Value
Nonvested as of December 31, 2( 5,617,55 $ 3.12
Options grante: 1,661,86: 4.0z
Options veste! (2,053,42) 3.1z
Options forfeited (135,399 5.6C
Nonvested as of December 31, 2( 5,090,59: 3.34

A summary of the status of the Company’s nonvesfgibns as of December 31, 2013, and changes dtiringear ended December 31, 2013, are preseni@a:be

Weighted-Average

Grant Date

Options Fair Value
Nonvested as of December 31, 2( 3,849,861 $ 4.01
Options grante: 3,598,72! 2.7¢
Options veste! (1,427,66) 4.2¢
Options forfeited (403,37() 415
Nonvested as of December 31, 2( 5,617,55 3.12

102




Table of Contents

AMPHASTAR PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As of December 31, 2014, there was $11.9 millioto&dl unrecognized compensation cost, net of fnfes, related to nonvested stock option basedbenisation

arrangements granted under the Company’s 2005 \Elpgientive Award Plan, or the 2005 Plan. The t®sixpected to be recognized over a weighted-aeegpagod of 2.3
years and will be adjusted for future changes iimeged forfeitures.

Deferred Stock Unit

Beginning in 2007, the Company granted restrictedksawards in the form of deferred stock unitsD&Us, to certain employees and members of thedBafabirectors with
a vesting period of up to five years. The grantzeives one share of common stock at a speciftedefadate for each DSU awarded. The DSUs may neblakor otherwise
transferred until certificates of common stock hbeen issued, recorded, and delivered to the aatit The DSUs do not have any voting or dividegtts prior to the
issuance of certificates of the underlying commimels The share-based expense associated with ghasts was based on the Company’s common stockdhie at the time

of grant and is amortized over the requisite serpieriod, which generally is the vesting periothe Tompany recorded a total expense of $2.0 mjl$6r6 million, and $0.5
million for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2ah8 2012, respectively, for these DSU awards.

As of December 31, 2014, there was $5.8 milliototdl unrecognized compensation cost, net of farfes, related to nonvested DSU-based compensatiangements
granted under the 2005 Plan. The cost is expeotbd tecognized over a weighted-average perioddoy&ars and will be adjusted for future changessiimated forfeitures.

Additionally, prior to the Company'’s IPO, the Compassued DSUs that were treated as an accounttigpage for expiring stock options, whereby the ¥alue of the
expiring stock options equaled the fair value & BSUs at the date of the exchange. As such, thep@oy did not record any expense related to thesedamodifications.

Information relating to DSU grants and deliverigsis follows:

Total Fair Market

Value of DSUs Issue

Total DSUs Issuec as Compensatior)
(in thousands)

DSUs outstanding at December 31, 2012 111,73:
DSUs granted? 100,678 $ 1,00¢
DSUs forfeitec (20,049
DSUs surrendered for tax (13,787
Common stock delivered for DSUs (80,080
DSUs outstanding at December 31, 2013 98,49¢
DSUs grantet 456,40¢ $ 6,47¢
DSUs forfeitec (994)
DSUs surrendered for tax (20,670
Common stock delivered (40,227)
DSUs outstanding at December 31, 2014 503,01(

@ The total FMV is derived from the number of DSUarged times the current stock price on the datganit.
@ 76,000 total expiring options were exchanged fqB828 DSUs, in aggregate in 20:

Equity Awards to Consultan

The Company has entered into various consultingeagents with Company stockholders and outside ttamss. Consulting expenses are accrued as seteagendered.
Consulting services are paid in cash and/or in comstock or stock options. Share-based compensatipense is recorded over the service period baiséide estimated fair
market value of the equity award at the date sesvare performed or upon completion of all servigeder the agreement. During the year ended Deaedih@014, the
Company recorded an immaterial amount of shareebesmpensation related to the issuance of stoclsauk options for services rendered by consult&dsthe years
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Companyotlicecord any share-based compensation expenserigces rendered by consultants.
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The Company recorded share-based compensationsxpader all plans and is included in the Compacgisolidated statement of operations as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Cost of revenue $ 1,67¢ $ 1,50 $ 1,79¢
Operating expense

Selling, distribution and marketir 137 132 143

General and administratiy 6,80( 4,701 4,59:

Research and development 665 69¢ 89E
Total share-based compensation $ 9,28C % 7,03t $ 7,42

16. Employee Benefits
401(k) plan

The Company has a defined contribution 401(k) ptethe Plan, whereby eligible employees volurnyardntribute up to a defined percentage of themuah compensation.
The Company matches contributions at a rate of 68%e first 4% of employee contributions, or u2% of their annual compensation, and pays the @idtrative costs of
the Plan. Employer contributions vest over fourrge@otal employer contributions for the years ehBecember 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 were approgiyn®0.7 million,
$0.6 million, and $0.5 million, respectively.

Defined Benefit Pension Pl:

In connection with the Merck API Transaction, then@hbany assumed an obligation associated with aetfbenefit plan for eligible employees of AFP.isTplan provides
benefits to the employees from the date of retirgraed is based on the employee’s length of tintk the Company. The calculation is based on &#tal calculation
combining a number of factors that include the eygé’s age, length of service, and AFPs turnover. ra

The liability under the plan is based on a discaate of 1.75% as of December 31, 2014. The Itghd included in accrued liabilities in the accpamying consolidated
balance sheets. The plan is currently unfundedtlemtenefit obligation under the plan was $1.1iomlat December 31, 2014. Expense under thew&n$0.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2014. The Companydetan unrecognized gain of $0.2 million in itswoulated other comprehensive loss during the geded December
31, 2014 related to the change in actuarial vadnadf the Company’s defined benefit pension plan .

17. Commitments and Contingencies
Distribution Agreement with Actavis, Ir

In May 2005, the Company entered into an agreemoegrtant certain exclusive marketing rights fordteoxaparin product to Andrx Pharmaceuticals, lmcAndrx, which
generally extends to the U.S. retail pharmacy ntaflke obtain such rights, Andrx made a non-refutglalpfront payment of $4.5 million to the Comparpon execution of
the agreement which was classified as deferrechumse Under the agreement, the Company is paicd iost per unit sold to Andrx and also shargkergross profits (as
defined) from Andrxs sales of the product in the U.S. retail pharmmaayket. In November 2006, Watson Pharmaceuticads, br Watson, acquired Andrx and all of the rg
and obligations associated with the agreementamnidry 2013, Watson adopted Actavis, Inc. as isglebal name. The agreement has a term that expiréganuary 2019 a
can be extended by Actavis for an additional tlyegrs. The agreement may only be terminated pritite end of the term by either party in the cdseloreach of contract or
insolvency of the other party, by the Company ita\is fails to purchase a minimum number of unitd By Actavis if an infringement claim is made agaiActavis.

In January 2012, the Company launched enoxapaginbing the seven-year period in which Actavis thasexclusive marketing rights for the Companghoxaparin produ
in the U.S. retail pharmacy market and the stathefCompany’s recognition of the $4.5 million deéel revenue over this period on a straight-lingihaActavis has an option
to renew the agreement for an additional threesyeés of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the balahtteealeferred revenue was $2.6 million and $3.lanj respectively.

The Company manufactures its enoxaparin produdhforetail market according to demand specificetiof Actavis. Upon shipment of enoxaparin to Actathe Company
recognizes product sales at an agreed transfes gnid records the related cost of products solse@an the terms of the Company'’s distribution egrent with Actavis, the
Company is entitled to a share of the ultimateipgdfased on the eventual net revenue from enoxegales by Actavis to the end user less the agraedfer price originally
paid by Actavis to the Company. Actavis provides @ompany with a quarterly sales report that cateslthe Company’s share of Actavis’ enoxaparisgpyofit. The
Company records its share of Actavis’ gross padifa component of net revenue.

Supply Agreement with MannKind Corporation
On July 31, 2014, the Company entered in a supggigeanent with MannKind Corporation, or MannKindrguant to which the Company will manufacture fod anpply to
MannKind certain quantities of recombinant humasulim, or RHI, for use in MannKind's product Afrex2 . Under the terms of the supply agreement, the Gompvill be

responsible for manufacturing the RHI in accordamith MannKind'’s specifications and agreed-uponligyatandards. MannKind has agreed to purchaseaminimum
quantities of RHI under the supply agreement ohggregate amount of approximately €120.1 milliarggproximately $146.0 million, in calendar yea@4d 2 through 2019.
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MannKind paid a non-refundable reservation fecheo@ompany in the amount of €11.0 million, or apprately $14.0 million. Under the agreement, tba-nefundable
reservation fee is considered as partial paymenhfpurchase commitment quantity for 2015. Then@any classified the amount as deferred revenuseof Mecember 31,
2014, the balance of the deferred revenue was €iillion, or $13.4 million.

Unless earlier terminated, the term of the supghgement expires on December 31, 2019 and cambwveel for additional, successive two-year termswigmonths’
written notice given prior to the end of the inlitierm or any additional two-year term. MannKintldhe Company each have customary terminations;igicluding
termination for material breach that is not curethin a specific time frame or in the event of lidation, bankruptcy, or insolvency of the othertpain addition, MannKind
may terminate the supply agreement upon two yeais written notice to the Company without causeipon 30 days prior written notice to the Compéraycontrolling
regulatory authority withdraws approval for AfreZzaprovided, however, in the event of a terminapomsuant to either of these scenarios, the prawssad the supply
agreement require MannKind to pay the full amouralbunpaid purchase commitments due over théairtiérm within 60 calendar days of the effectiaedof such
termination.

In January 2015, the Company entered into a supgipn agreement with MannKind, pursuant to whicarvKind will have the option to purchase RHI, feeun
MannKind's product Afrezz&, in addition to the amounts specified in the R0{4 supply agreement. Under the agreement, Mamhifas the option to purchase additional
RHI in calendar years 2016 through 2019. In thenéWlannKind elects not to exercise its minimumuairpurchase option for any year, MannKind shajyl free Company a
capacity cancellation fee.

Operating Lease Agreements

The Company leases real and personal propertiigindrmal course of business, under various nooetable operating leases. The Company, at its pt@an renew a
substantial portion of its leases, at the markeet, far various renewal periods ranging from onsixoyears. Rental expense under these leasdsegetrs ended December
2014, 2013 and 2012 was approximately $3.1 mill&s1 million, and $3.9 million, respectively.

Future minimum rental payments under operatingeleéizat have initial or remaining neancelable lease terms in excess of 12 monthssfalfyears ending December 31
as follows:

Operating
Leases
(in thousands)
2015 $ 2,58¢
2016 1,552
2017 1,35¢
2018 843
2019 67E
$ 7,011
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Purchase Commitmen

As of December 31, 2014, the Company has entetecc@mmitments to purchase equipment and raw naddefdr an aggregate amount of approximately $6l8om The
Company anticipates that most of these commitmeiiitbe fulfilled by 2016.

The Company has entered into agreements with aeS@igovernmental entity to acquire land-use rigghteal property in Nanjing, China. Under the tehthese
agreements, the Company has committed to invegatapits wholly-owned subsidiary, ANP, and tovédop these properties as an API manufacturindiiaéor the
Company’s pipeline. In conjunction with these agneats, ANP modified its business license on Jul33,2 to increase its authorized capital. As ofdédeiser 31, 2014, the
Company had invested approximately $45.0 milliodMP of its registered capital commitment of $6million. The Company has committed to invest aniatthl $16.0
million in ANP, which is currently due by Decemi2817. This requirement to invest in ANP will resulicash being transferred from the U.S. parentpzomg to ANP.

Per these agreements, in January 2010, the Conguapyred certain land-use rights with a carryinpeaf $1.2 million. In addition, the Company puaskd additional land-
use rights in November 2012 for $1.3 million. Then@pany is committed to spend approximately $15l0aniin land development. The agreements requieeconstruction
of fixed assets on the property and specified attle for the construction of these fixed asdgis. current pace of development of the properhetsind the schedules
described in the purchase agreements and, peuthkgse agreement, potential monetary penaltied cesult if the development is delayed or not ctatgal in accordance
with the guidelines stated in the purchase agre&snBuring the year ended December 31, 2014, tmep@ay invested $7.2 million to fund the Compangsearch and
development pipeline for ANP .

18. Litigation
Enoxaparin Patent Litigatiol

In September 2011, Momenta Pharmaceuticals, IndJomnenta, a Boston-based pharmaceutical compamySandoz Inc, or Sandoz, the generic division @fatis,

initiated litigation against the Company for alldgeatent infringement of two patents related ttingsmethods for batch release of enoxaparin, witiehCompany refers to as
the 886 patent” and the “'466 patent.” The lawtswas filed in the United States District Court fhe District of Massachusetts, or the District @oln October 2011, the
District Court issued a preliminary injunction biag the Company from selling its generic enoxaparoduct and also requiring Momenta and Sandoo$b @ $100.1 million
bond. The preliminary injunction was stayed by ltheted States Court of Appeals for the Federal @iror Federal Circuit, in January 2012, and reedrby the Federal
Circuit in August 2012.
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In January 2013, the Company moved for summarymeddg of non-infringement of both patents. Momenmtd S&andoz withdrew their allegations as to the ‘d&g&nt, and in
July 2013, the District Court granted the Compamyttion for summary judgment of non-infringementiod ‘886 patent and denied Momenta and Sandozt®mfor leave
to amend infringement contentions. On January @44 2the District Court judge entered final judgmi@rthe Company’s favor on both patents. Momenmig &andoz also
filed a motion to collect attorney’s fees and castating to a discovery motion which the Dist@urt granted. The parties have briefed the amoliattorney’s fees that
should be imposed, which the Company believes shoell exceed an amount of approximately $40 thadisan January 30, 2014, Momenta and Sandoz fileatiae of
appeal to the Federal Circuit appealing the cofirta judgment including summary judgment denyMgmenta and Sandoz’s motion for leave to amend thiingement
contentions. The Company intends to attempt taecbthe $100.1 million bond posted by Momenta aadd®z following the appeal. Momenta filed its openappeal brief o
June 27, 2014, the Company filed its respondingflam September 25, 2014, and Momenta filed itl/repef on November 13, 2014. The Federal Cirtxais scheduled oral
argument for May 4, 2015.

False Claims Act Litigatiol

In January 2009, the Company filed a qui tam compla the U.S. District Court for the Central Dist of California alleging that Aventis Pharma S.Ar Aventis, through i
acquisition of a patent through false and mislegditatements to the U.S. Patent and TrademarkeQtie well as through false and misleading statesrierthe FDA,
overcharged the federal and state governmentssfboivenox® product. If the Company is successful in this étign, it could be entitled to a portion of any deya award th
the government ultimately may recover from AveritisOctober 2011, the District Court unsealed toen@any’s complaint. Since the complaint was unskdles case has
steadily progressed and remains pending.

On February 28, 2014, Aventis filed a motion fomsnary judgment on the issue of the adequacy o€tmapany’s notice letter to the government, andistrict Court
denied Aventis’ motion for summary judgment inafi order it issued on May 12, 2014. On June 94281 Aventis’ request, the District Court issuedoader certifying for
appeal its order denying Aventis’ motion for sumynadgment. On June 9, 2014, Aventis filed with theited States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Cireupetition for
permission to appeal the District Court’s deniaheEntis’ motion for summary judgment, and the Camypfiled an opposition to Aventis’ petition on &9, 2014. On
August 22, 2014, the Court of Appeals granted Aigepetition. The parties have completed and fileeir respective appeal briefs with the Ninth Citca date for oral
argument has not yet been set by the Ninth Circuit.

The District Court set an evidentiary hearing follyJ7, 2014 on the “original sourcéSsue, a key element under the False Claims Aa.eMidentiary hearing was conducte:
scheduled, from July 7, 2014 through July 10, 20 Company filed its post-hearing brief on Auglist 2014, Aventis filed its post-hearing brief ®@eptember 10, 2014,
and the Company filed its reply brief on Septenr2014. The District Court conducted a hearingcfosing argument on the original source issu®otober 10, 2014. The
original source issue currently is under submissiah the District Court.

California Employment Litigation

On January 6, 2015, the Company received a forerakahd from Plaintiff's counsel in an employmenatet! lawsuit captioned Eva Hernandez v. Internatibfedication
Systems Limited, in connection with a complaingerally filed on February 4, 2013 in the Superiau@ of California County of Los Angeles, by plafhEva Hernandez on
behalf of herself and others similarly situatediiiff's counsel has indicated an intent to filenation for class certification, which currentlyset to be filed by April 16,
2015. Plaintiff's current complaint includes alleéigéolations of the California Labor Code stemmfrmm the Company'’s alleged timekeeping practicesyell as other
similar and related claims brought under Califolaia. In her current complaint, Plaintiff seeks dayes and related remedies under California lawjedlsas various penalty
payments under the California Labor Code, on betfdierself and others similarly situated. The Campintends to vigorously defend against thesengato which the
Company believes it has substantial factual andl légfenses. In light of such factual and leg&dges, the Company believes the possibility ob¢éenial loss on the merits
of the action is remote.

Other Litigation
The Company is also subject to various other clantslawsuits arising in the ordinary course ofibess. In the opinion of management, the ultimasslution of these
matters is not expected to have a materially aéveffect on its financial position, results of cgtéans, or cash flows; however, the results afédition and claims are

inherently unpredictable. Regardless of the outcditigation can have an adverse impact on the Gombecause of defense and settlement costs, idivetmanagement
resources, and other factors.
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19. Subsequent Event

Equipment Loa— Due January 2019

In January 2015, the Company drew down $6.2 milfiom its $8.0 million revolving credit facility wh East West Bank which was entered into in July20Subsequently,
the facility was then converted in an equipmennlegth an outstanding principal balance of $6.2ioml Borrowings under the facility are secureddmyipment purchased
with the debt proceeds. The Company entered ifiteed interest rate swap contract on this facildyexchange floating rate for a fixed interestrpant over the life of the
facility without the exchange of the underlyingioogl debt amount. The facility bears interest fiked rate of 4.48% and matures in January 2019.

Supply Option Agreement with MannKind Corporation

In January 2015, the Company entered into a suggipn agreement with MannKind, pursuant to whicarvKind will have the option to purchase RHI, feeun
MannKind's product Afrezz&, in addition to the amounts specified in the R0¢ 4 supply agreement. Under the agreement, Marhifas the option to purchase additional

RHI in calendar years 2016 through 2019. In theneéWlannKind elects not to exercise its minimumuaairpurchase option for any year, MannKind shayl free Company a
capacity cancellation fee.
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20. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Net revenue
Finished pharmaceutical produ
API

Total net revenues

Gross profit
Finished pharmaceutical produ
API

Total gross profit

Net loss

AMPHASTAR PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
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2014 Quarters

Weighted-average shares used to compute net inpememmon

share
Basic
Diluted
Net loss per common she
Basic
Diluted

Net revenue¢
Finished pharmaceutical produ
API

Total net revenues

Gross profit
Finished pharmaceutical produ
API

Total gross profit

Net income (loss

Weighte«-average shares used to compute net loss per corsimaoe

Basic
Diluted
Net income (loss) per common sh
Basic
Diluted

First Second Third Fourth

$ 4587C $ 48,90: 53,72¢ 49,98(
— 102 5,982 5,891

$ 4587C $ 49,000 $ 59,71 $ 55,87
$ 12,50¢ 14,96: 12,12: 13,13:
— 35 (331) (1,172)

$ 12,50¢ $ 14,99¢ $ 11,790 $ 11,96(
$ (1,619 $ (3,180 $ (5,379 $ (2,52))
38,76¢ 39,767 44,64« 44,64¢

38,76¢ 39,767 44,64« 44,64¢
$ 0.0 % 0.0 % 0.12) % (0.0¢)
$ (0.0 $ (0.05 % (0.12) % (0.0€)

2013 Quarters
First Second Third Fourth

$ 52,96: $ 62,52« $ 59,31¢ $ 54,87¢
$ 52,96 $ 62,52¢ $ 59,31¢ $ 54,87¢
$ 19,55¢ $ 27,48¢ % 20,28 $ 19,62¢
$ 19,55¢ $ 27,48¢ $ 20,280 $ 19,62¢
$ 238: % 781C $ (160) $ 1,82¢
38,70 38,70¢ 38,70¢ 38,72¢

38,84t 38,841 38,70¢ 39,14:

$ 0.06 $ 02C $ 0.0C $ 0.0t
$ 0.06 $ 02C $ 0.0C $ 0.0t

Net income (loss) per common share amounts fofishal quarters have been calculated independantlymay not in the aggregate equal the amounhéfull year.
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Item 9.Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A.Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedu

Our management, including our Chief Executive @ffiand our Chief Financial Officer, conducted amleation of the effectiveness of the design andratmm of ou
disclosure controls and procedures, as definedulesRl3a-15(e) and 15kb(e) under the Exchange Act of 1934, as amendedf, the end of the period covered by this An
Report on Form 1. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executivéig@f and our Chief Financial Officer have conclddeat our disclosure controls and procedures éag
effective to ensure that information that we amguieed to disclose in reports that we file or sutsnuinder the Exchange Act is recorded, processgdimsirized and report
within the time periods specified in SEC rules émuins and (b) include, without limitation, contr@ad procedures designed to ensure that informatiguired to be disclos
by us in reports filed or submitted under the ExgeAct is accumulated and communicated to our gemant, including our Chief Executive Officer andi€ Financia
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisiorgarding required disclosure.

Managemer's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Regag

This report does not include a report of managemassessment regarding internal control over firdmeporting or an attestation report of our ipeledent registered public
accounting firm due to a transition period estddgls by the rules of the SEC for newly public conigan

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogtin

Our management, including our Chief Executive @ffiand our Chief Financial Officer, evaluated thar@es in our internal control over financial refgy during the year
ended December 31, 2014. We determined that there mo significant changes in our internal contradr financial reporting during the year ended Delger 31, 2014, that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likelynaterially affect, our internal control overdincial reporting.

Item 9B.Other Information.

None.
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PART IlI
Item 10.Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace.

Information required by this item will be includedour Proxy Statement for our 2015 Annual Meetifigptockholders to be filed within 120 days after @iscal year end of
December 31, 2015, or 2015 Proxy Statement, amtdgporated by reference into this Annual Report.

Item 11 Executive Compensation

Information required by this item will be includedour 2015 Proxy Statement and is incorporatedeligrence into this Annual Report.
Item 12.Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andVlanagement and Related Stockholder Matters

Information required by this item will be includedour 2015 Proxy Statement and is incorporatedelfigrence into this Annual Report.

It em Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence.
13.

Information required by this item will be includedour 2015 Proxy Statement and is incorporatedelisrence into this Annual Report.

It em Principal Accountant Fees and Services
14.

Information required by this item will be includedour 2015 Proxy Statement and is incorporatedefgrence into this Annual Report.
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PART IV
Item Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
15.
(@) (1) Financial Statements filed as part of teort are listed in Part Il, Item 8 of this repor
(2) No other financial schedules have been incluzlmhuse they are not applicable, not requireccatlse required information is included in thesotidated
financial statements or notes there
(b) The following exhibits are filed as part of, or @rporated by reference into, this Annual Ref
Exhibit
No. Description
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatinoofporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the @any’s Current Report on Formigfiled with the SEC
onJuly 1, 2014
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reéeréo Exhibit 3.4 to the Company’s Registratioat&nent on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on May 20,
2014)
4.1 Specimen common stock certificate (incorporatedeigrence to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 1 to@mnpany’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed
with the SEC on June 5, 201
10.1+ Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors adfficers (incorporated by reference to Exhibitllé Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form-1 filed with the SEC on June 5, 201
10.2+ 2002 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan (incorporbtiedtference to Exhibit 10.2 to Amendment No. this Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
filed with the SEC on June 5, 201
10.3+ Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant under the Amieth 2002 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan (incaitpdrby reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Amendment
No. 1 to the Compar's Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the SEC on June 5, 201
10.4+ Amended and Restated 2005 Equity Incentive Awaath Bhcorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 toehiment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form-1 filed with the SEC on June 5, 20!
10.5+ Form of Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Op#greement under the Amended and Restated 2005yHqgeintive Award Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Amendment No. 1 to@wenpan’s Registration Statement on Fort-1 filed with the SEC on June 5, 201
10.6+ Form of Deferred Stock Unit Notice of Grant and &eéd Stock Unit Agreement under the Amended arsdai®ed 2005 Equity Incentive Award Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Ammedt No. 1 to the Compa’s Registration Statement on Forl-1 filed with the SEC on June 5, 201
10.7t Distribution Agreement, dated May 2, 2005, betwAerphastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Andrx Pharntmegs, Inc., as amended (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Amendment No. 1 to@wenpan’s Registration Statement on Fort-1 filed with the SEC on June 5, 201
10.8 Business Loan Agreement, dated December 31, 2@h@¢elkn International Medication Systems, Limited &ast West Bank, as amended (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Amendment No. 1 to@wenpan’s Registration Statement on Forr-1 filed with the SEC on June 5, 20!
10.9 Revolving Loan and Security Agreement, dated Apil 2012, between Amphastar Pharmaceuticals, imtCathay Bank (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.9 to Amendment No. 1 to the Comp’s Registration Statement on For-1 filed with the SEC on June 5, 201
10.10 Business Loan Agreement, dated July 5, 2013, betweernational Medication Systems, Limited, Ampha$harmaceuticals, Inc. and East West Bank
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to Ach@ent No. 1 to the Compa’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the SEC on June 5, 201
10.11 Registration Rights Agreement, dated February 852Between Amphastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc. anasl@hina Fund, L.P. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.11 to Amendment No. 1 to the Comf’'s Registration Statement on Fork-1 filed with the SEC on June 5, 201
10.12 Standard offer, Agreement and Escrow Instruction$’urchase of Real Estate, dated October 2, 200@8ng Amphastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Jack Y.
Zhang and Mary Z. Luo (incorporated by referencExbibit 10.12 to Amendment No. 1 to the ComparBé&gjistration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the
SEC on June 5, 201
10.13 Transfer Contract for the Right to the Use of Stateed Land, dated December 29, 2009, between Artgrhidanjing Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. and Nar

Xingang Hi-Tech Company Limited (incorporated bference to Exhibit 10.13 to Amendment No. 1 to@wnpany’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
filed with the SEC on June 5, 201
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Investment Agreement, dated July 5, 2010, betwamphastar Nanjing Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. andtaragement Committee of the Nanjing Economic
and Technological Development Zone (incorporatedefigrence to Exhibit 10.14 to Amendment No. 1h® €ompany’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
filed with the SEC on June 5, 201

Transfer Contract for the Right to the Use of Stataed Land, dated December 31, 2010, between Artanhidanjing Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. and Nar
Xingang Hi-Tech Company Limited. (incorporated kyerence to Exhibit 10.15 to Amendment No. 1 toGenpany’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
filed with the SEC on June 5, 201

Long-Term Supply Agreement, dated November 30, 288i®een Qingdao Jiulong Biopharmaceutical Co., atdl International Medication Systems,
Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10t@6Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registratitate3nent on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on June 5,
2014)

2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporateefeyence to Exhibit 10.17 to Amendment No. 1 ® @ompany’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
filed with the SEC on June 5, 201

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated April 30, 2014 ngnosynth France, Amphastar France Pharmacesii®&6 and Schering-Plough (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Comp’s Registration Statement on For-1 filed with the SEC on May 20, 201

Loan Agreement, dated April 22, 2014, between AnspiraPharmaceuticals, Inc. and Cathay Bank (incatpd by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the
Compan’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the SEC on May 20, 201

Promissory Note, dated April 22, 2014, by AmphaBtaarmaceuticals, Inc. payable to Cathay Bankerotiginal principal sum of $21,900,000 (incorped
by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Comg’s Registration Statement on Forr-1 filed with the SEC on May 20, 201

Employment Agreement, dated May 19, 2014, betwemplfastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Jack Zhangrfincated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the
Compan’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the SEC on May 20, 201

Employment Agreement, dated May 19, 2014, betwemplfastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Mary Luo (ineaied by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the
Compan’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the SEC on May 20, 201

Employment Agreement, dated May 19, 2014, betwemplfastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Jason Shamdstorated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the
Compan’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the SEC on May 20, 201

Employment Agreement, dated May 19, 2014, betwemplfastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Marilyn Purciaserporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to
the Compan'’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the SEC on May 20, 201

Employment Agreement, dated March 11, 2014, betweaphastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and William Peierorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to
the Compan'’s Registration Statement on ForK-1 filed with the SEC on May 20, 201

Supply Agreement, dated July 31, 2014, between MadrCorporation and Amphastar France Pharmacdsiti8aA.S. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Compar's Registration Statement on Form-Q filed with the SEC on November 13, 20:

First Amendment to Supply Agreement, dated Oct83e12014, by and between MannKind Corporation, Aagtér France Pharmaceuticals, S.A.S., and
Amphastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated Bgreace to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registrabtatement on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on
November 13, 201<

Subsidiaries of the Compa

Certification of Chief Executive Officer PursuantRules 13-14(a) Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1

Certification of Chief Financial Officer PursuantRules 13-14(a) Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer PursuantRules 13a-14(b) and 15d-14(b) of the SecuritieshBnge Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sark-Oxley Act of 200z

Certification of Chief Financial Officer PursuantRules 13a-14(b) and 15d-14(b) of the SecuritieshBnge Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sark-Oxley Act of 200z

XBRL Instance Documen

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume
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101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docun

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Documt

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definitions Linkbase Docurhe

# The information in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 smait be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18hef Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendhed‘Exchange

Act”), or otherwise subject to the liabilities dfat section, nor shall they be deemed incorporage@ference in any filing under the Securities 81933, as
amended, or the Exchange Act (including this Rgpartless the Registrant specifically incorporakesforegoing information into those documentsdfgrence

+ Indicates a management contract or compensatonygolarrangemen
o English translation of original Chinese docum:
T Confidential treatment requested as to portionth@fexhibit. Confidential materials omitted anle 8eparately with the SE!
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SIGNA TURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly causiedéiport to be signed on its behalf by the undesesi, thereunto duly
authorized.

AMPHASTAR PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(Registrant)

By: /s/ JACK Y. ZHANG
Jack Y. Zhan(
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: March 26, 2015

AMPHASTAR PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(Registrant)

By: /s/ WILLIAM J. PETERS
William J. Peter:
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

Date: March 26, 2015
POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below coestiénd appoints Jack Y. Zhang and William J. Peseid each of them, as his or her true and lavifatrzey-in-fact and
agent, with full power of substitution and resutoston, for him or her and in his or her name, plaod stead, in any and all capacities, to sigraadyall amendments to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the samithwall exhibits thereto, and other documents inr@tion therewith, with the Securities and Exclea@gmmission,
granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agentd,eath of them, full power and authority to do @ediorm each and every act and thing requisiteremngssary to be done in
connection therewith, as fully to all intents andgoses as he or she might or could do in perssnebly ratifying and confirming all that said atteys-in-fact and agents, or
any of them, or their or his substitutes, may ldlyfdo or cause to be done by virtue thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpthe following persons on behalf of the registrand in the capacities
and on the date indicated:

Signature Title Date

Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal
Is/ JACK Y. ZHANG Executive Officer, March 26, 2015

Jack Yongfeng Zhang

/s/ MARY Z. LUO Chairman, Chief Operating Officer and Director March 26, 2015
Mary Z. Luo
/s/ WILLIAM J. PETERS Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer) March 26, 2015

William J. Peters

/s/ JASON B. SHANDELL President and Director March 26, 2015
Jason B. Shandell
/sl RICHARD KOO Director March 26, 2015
Richard Koo
/sl HOWARD LEE Director March 26, 2015
Howard Lee
/s| FLOYD PETERSEMN Director March 26, 2015

Floyd Petersen

/s/ RICHARD PRINS Director March 26, 2015
Richard Prins

/s| STEPHEN SHOHE’ Director March 26, 2015
Stephen Shohet

/sl MICHAEL A. ZASLOFF Director March 26, 2015
Michael A. Zasloff
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Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

State of Country of
Incorporation/ Incorporation/
Company Name Organization Organization
International Medication Systems, Limit California United States of Americ
Armstrong Pharmaceuticals, Ir Massachusett United States of Americ
Amphastar Nanjing Pharmaceuticals, Co., | China
France

Amphastar France Pharmaceuticals, S..



EXHIBIT 31.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) Under the Securities Exchange Aot 1934
I, Jack Y. Zhang, Ph.D., Chief Executive Officegrtify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16flimphastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or eangttate a material fact necessary to make thenséats made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statementswade, not misleading with respect to the perioceoed by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respectsfihancial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrantfaaral for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined imé&nhge Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresused such disclosure controls and procedaites designed under our supervision, to ensatentlaterial information
relating to the registrant, including its consotethsubsidiaries, is made known to us by othersimthose entities, particularly during the perindvhich this report is being
prepared;

b) Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release 1868238/34-47986 and 33-8392/34-49313.

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratigslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the effectiver#she disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covgrehis report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s most recesuafi quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual rggbat has materially affected, or is reasondibly to materially affect, the registrant’s inted control over financial
reporting.

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorternal control over financial reporting, teetregistrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board oécliors (or persons performing the equivalent fiomgt

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadges in the design or operation of internal coravelr financial reporting which are reasonablylijikk® adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summaaid report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal control ofieancial reporting.

Date: March 26, 2015

By: /S/ JACK Y. ZHANG
Jack Y. Zhan(
Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) Under the Securities Exchange Aot 1934
I, William J. Peters, Chief Financial Officer, agrtthat:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16flemphastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or eangttate a material fact necessary to make thenséats made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statementswade, not misleading with respect to the perioceoed by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respectsfihancial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrantfaaral for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined imé&nhge Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresused such disclosure controls and procedaes designed under our supervision, to ensatentiaterial information
relating to the registrant, including its consotethsubsidiaries, is made known to us by othersimthose entities, particularly during the perindvhich this report is being
prepared;

b) Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release 1868238/34-47986 and 33-8392/34-49313.

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrati§slosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the effectiver#she disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period cougyehis report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s most recesuafi quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual rggbat has materially affected, or is reasondilly to materially affect, the registrant’s inted control over financial
reporting.

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorternal control over financial reporting, teetregistrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board oécliors (or persons performing the equivalent fiomgt

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadges in the design or operation of internal coravelr financial reporting which are reasonablylijikk® adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summaard report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal control ofieancial reporting.

Date: March 26, 2015

By: ISIWILLIAM J. PETERS
William J. Peter:
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office




EXHIBIT 32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(b) and 15d-14(b) of the Securitiex&ange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 Aafopted by
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The undersigned officer of Amphastar Pharmacewtidat. (the “Company”), hereby certifies, to swdficer's knowledge, that:

(i) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Compaaythe year ended December 31, 2014 (the “Rephuift) complies with the requirements of Sectiond)3¢r
Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securitieshiarge Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii) the information contained in the Report faigyesents, in all material respects, the finarmaldition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: March 26, 2015
By: /S/ JACK Y. ZHANG
Jack Y. Zhan

Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pl® accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C35D, and is not being filed for purposes of Secti8 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is not todmeporated by reference into any filing of thengmny, whether made before or after the date heregérdless of any
general incorporation language in such filing.



Exhibit 32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(b) and 15d-14(b) of the Securitiexéhange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 Aatopted by
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The undersigned officer of Amphastar Pharmacewtidat. (the “Company”), hereby certifies, to sudficer's knowledge, that:

(i) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Compaaythe year ended December 31, 2014 (the “Rephuift) complies with the requirements of Sectiond)3¢r
Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securitieshiarge Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii) the information contained in the Report faigyesents, in all material respects, the finarmaldition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: March 26, 2015
By: /SIWILLIAM J. PETERS
William J. Peter:

Chief Financial Officel
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pl® accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C35D, and is not being filed for purposes of Secti8 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is not todmeporated by reference into any filing of thengmny, whether made before or after the date heregérdless of any
general incorporation language in such fili



